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PART I  

 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS  

Franklin Electric Co., Inc. is an Indiana corporation founded in 1944 and incorporated in 1946, and together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter 
referred to as the "Company" unless the context requires otherwise), conducts business in a single business segment: the design, manufacture 
and distribution of electric motors, electronic controls and related equipment.  

Products and Markets Served  

The Company manufactures and distributes electric motors, electronic controls and related equipment. These motors are sold principally by a 
single company sales force in the United States, Canada, Europe, Australia, South Africa, Mexico and other world markets.  

The market for electric motors is highly competitive and includes both large and small suppliers. The Company's motor sales are to original 
equipment manufacturers of pumps, petroleum pumping equipment, compressors, fans, heating and air conditioning equipment, swimming 
pool equipment, medical furniture and business machines. Motors are also sold in the replacement market through independent distributors and 
repair shops.  

Goulds Pumps, Inc. accounted for 12.9 percent, 14.1 percent and 17.5 percent of consolidated sales in 1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively.  

The Company offers normal and customary trade terms to its customers, no significant part of which is of an extended nature. Special 
inventory requirements are not necessary, and customer merchandise return rights do not extend beyond normal warranty provisions.  
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The principal raw materials used in the manufacture of the Company's products are copper wire, steel in coils and bars, and aluminum ingot. 
Major components are capacitors, motor protectors, forgings, grey iron castings and bearings. Most materials are available from many sources 
in the United States and in many world markets. In the opinion of the Company, no single source of supply is critical to the Company's 
business. Availability of fuel and energy is adequate to satisfy current and projected overall operations unless interrupted by government 
direction or allocation.  

The Company employed 2,633 persons at the end of 1995.  

Financial Information by Geographic Area  

Financial information by geographic area is included within this 10-K at pages xx-xx.  

Research and Development  

The Company spent approximately $4.7 million in 1995, $4.2 million in 1994 and $4.0 million in 1993 on activities related to the development 
of new products, on improvements of existing products and manufacturing methods, and on other applied research and development.  

In 1995, two lines of submersible wet winding motors, a new permanent split capacitor submersible motor design and several products with 
variable speed drives and motors were developed. Research continued on new materials and processes which is expected to result in more cost 
effective construction of the Company's high volume products.  

The Company owns a number of patents. In aggregate, these patents are of material importance in the operation of the business; however, the 
Company believes that its operations are not dependent on any single patent or group of patents.  

Backlog  

The dollar amount of backlog at the end of 1995 and 1994 was as follows:  

 

The backlog is composed of written orders at prices adjustable on a price-at-the-time-of-shipment basis for products, some of which are 
specifically designed for the customer, but most of which are standard catalog items. Both add-ons and cancellations of catalog items are made 
without charge to the customer, but charges are generally made on any cancellation of a specifically designed product. All backlog orders are 
expected to be filled in fiscal 1996.  

The Company's sales and earnings are not substantially seasonal in nature. There is no seasonal pattern to the backlog and the backlog has not 
proven to be a significant indicator of future sales.  

Environmental Matters  

Compliance with federal, state and local provisions regulating the discharge of material into the environment, or otherwise relating to the 
protection of the environment, is not expected to have any material adverse effect upon the capital expenditures, earnings or competitive 
position of the Company.  

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

The Company maintains its principal executive offices in Bluffton, Indiana; manufacturing plants are located in the United States and abroad. 
Location and approximate square footage for the Company's principal facilities are described below. All principal properties are owned or held 
under operating lease.  

The Company's principal properties are as follows:  

                                       (In thousand s) 
                                           End of 
                                   ---------------- ---- 
                                   1995             1994 
                                   ----             ---- 
 
Backlog.......................   $22,331          $ 27,619  

                                           Acres        Approximate  
     Location                             of Land       Square Feet  
     --------                             -------       -----------  
Bluffton, Indiana                          35.8           405,660 
Siloam Springs, Arkansas                   32.6           240,400 
Wilburton, Oklahoma                        40.0           321,350 



 

In the Company's opinion, all plants are modern, nearly all built for their present use and in good condition.  

(1) Leased facility, which expires on April 30, 1998.  

(2) Eleven of the facilities are leased with approximately 114,000 square feet.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

The Company is defending various claims and legal actions, including environmental matters, which have arisen in the ordinary course of 
business. The Company has attempted, where possible, to assess the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome to the Company as a result of these 
actions. Legal counsel has been retained to assist the Company in making these determinations, and costs are accrued when an unfavorable 
outcome is determined to be probable and a reasonable estimate can be made.  

In the opinion of management of the Company, adequate provision has been made for any awards or assessments to be incurred in connection 
with such matters, and ultimate resolution will not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations 
or cash flows.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 1995.  

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  

The names, ages and all positions and offices held by the executive officers of the Company are:  

 

William J. Foreman(3) 59 Vice President 1995 Kirk M. Nevins(4) 52 Vice President, Sales 1995  

The term of office of each officer is one year and until his successor shall have been elected and qualified at the meeting of the Board of 
Directors following the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.  

(1) In 1995, Mr. Lindsay was elected President of the Company. Mr. Lindsay served as Vice President from 1986 until 1993 and as Executive 
Vice President from 1993 until 1995.  

(2) Prior to joining the Company in October 1995, Mr. Ford was employed by Tokheim Corporation (a manufacturer of petroleum dispensing 
marketing systems) from 1992 until 1995 as Vice President- Finance, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer and prior to 1992 as Vice 
President-Corporate Finance and Corporate Controller.  

(3) For the five-year period preceding July 1995, Mr. Foreman was Plant Manager for certain divisions of the Company.  

(4) For the five-year period preceding July 1995, Mr. Nevins was North American Sales Manager of the Company.  

PART II  
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY A ND RELATED  
 

Tulsa, Oklahoma                            10.3           154,193 
Jonesboro, Indiana (1)                      -              34,570 
Wittlich, Rhineland, Germany                6.8            76,365 
Thirteen facilities with less 
  than 30,000 square feet each (2)          5.3           157,338 
                                          -----         --------- 
 
Total                                     130.8         1,389,876 
                                          =====         ========= 

                                                             In this 
     Name            Age        Positions and Offic es    office since  
     ----            ---        ------------------- --    ------------  
 
William H. Lawson     59     Chairman of the Board and        1985 
                             Chief Executive Office r 
John B. Lindsay (1)   53     President                        1995 
Jess B. Ford (2)      44     Vice President and 
                             Chief Financial Office r          1995 



STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

The number of stockholders of record as of February 23, 1996 was 1,261. The Company's stock is traded on NASDAQ National Market:  
Symbol FELE.  

Dividends paid and the price range per common share as quoted in THE WALL STREET JOURNAL for 1995 and 1994 were as follows:  

 

3rd Quarter... $.10 $.08 $29 1/2 - $32 1/2 $26 1/2 - $33 3/4 4th Quarter... $.10 $.08 $28 1/4 - $33 1/4 $30 1/2 - $35  

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  
 

              DIVIDENDS PER SHARE          PRICE PE R SHARE 
                  1995  1994          1995                1994 
                  ----  ----          ----                ---- 
                                 Low       High      Low       High 
                                 ---       ----      ---       ---- 
1st Quarter...   $.08  $.05      $31     - $34 1/2  $31 1/2 - $36 1/2  
2nd Quarter...   $.10  $.08      $30     - $34 1/2  $24 1/2 - $33 1/2  

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
- --------------------- 
FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES 
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 
                                              1995      1994 
1993      1992      1991 
                                                        <F3> 
 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
- --------------------- 
Operations: 
 
  Net Sales.............................  $276,440  $241,440 
$206,406  $198,618  $184,062 
  Gross Profit..........................    65,371    63,134 
53,131    50,260    44,889 
  Income before extraordinary credit 
 
    and change in accounting principle..    15,502    18,709 
16,103    13,655    12,965 
  Interest Expense......................     2,128     2,172 
2,949     2,595     1,628 
  Income Taxes <F1>.....................     8,777    11,504 
5,796     8,882     7,273 
  Net Income............................    15,502    18,709 
17,096    13,811    13,100 
  Net Income Available to Common Shares.    15,502    18,556 
16,485    12,218    10,188 
  Depreciation and Amortization.........     8,890     6,961 
6,185     4,525     4,201 
  Capital Expenditures..................     6,111     7,612 
6,359     5,833     4,319 
Balance Sheet: 
 
  Working Capital.......................    67,150    49,187 
43,844    26,319    28,716 
  Property, Plant and Equipment, Net....    41,670    41,896 
25,591    24,003    23,350 
  Total Assets..........................   153,357   151,581 
122,703    99,868   101,703 
  Long-term Debt........................    20,171    20,000 
30,016    22,819    15,540 
  Shareowners' Equity...................   $80,557   $64,865 
$50,127   $39,667   $28,679 
Other Data: 
 
  % Net Income to Sales.................      5.6%      7.8% 
8.3%      7.0%      7.1% 
  % Net Income to Total Assets..........     10.1%     12.3% 
13.9%     13.8%     12.9% 
  Current Ratio.........................      2.6       1.9       2.2 
      1.9       2.0 
Per Share: 
 
  Market Price Range 
 
  High..................................    $34.50    $36.50 
$37.25    $25.00    $18.50 



 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION  
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Net sales for 1995 were $276.4 million, a 14 percent increase over 1994. This increase was principally due to the inclusion of Oil Dynamics, 
Inc. ("ODI") on a fully consolidated basis for 1995 and, to a lesser degree, increases in selling prices and unit volume. Net sales were $241.4 
million in 1994, up 17 percent from 1993 net sales of $206.4 million. The increase in 1994 was predominantly due to increased unit volume in 
the North American motor markets.  

Net income for 1995 was $15.5 million, or $2.35 per share, compared to 1994 net income of $18.7 million, or $2.84 per share. This decrease 
was principally due to an increase in cost of sales as a percent of net sales primarily attributable to ODI and the Company's German subsidiary, 
a decrease in North American residential submersible motor unit shipment volume, and foreign currency transaction losses. Net income for 
1993 was $17.1 million, or $2.52 per share. Included in 1993 earnings was an approximate $1.0 million increase resulting from the adoption of 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes."  

Cost of sales as a percent of net sales for 1995, 1994 and 1993 was 76.4%, 73.9% and 74.3%, respectively. The 1995 increase was due to 
increases in fixed manufacturing expenses as a percent of net sales resulting from the full year inclusion of ODI on a consolidated basis which 
was impacted by a decline in unit volume contributing to lower overhead absorption, as well as increases in expenses supporting the 
Company's international operations. The 1994 decrease was due to a 0.9 percent decrease in fixed manufacturing expenses as a percent of net 
sales resulting from an increase in sales over the prior year which was partially offset by a 0.5 percent increase in variable expenses, principally 
the cost of key raw materials.  

Selling and administrative expenses in 1995 were $40.7 million compared to $33.3 million in 1994. The increase was primarily due to the full 
year inclusion of ODI on a consolidated basis and due to investments in systems and personnel in support of the Company's international 
operations. Selling and administrative expenses were $31.0 million in 1993. The 1994 increase was primarily due to higher marketing and 
selling expenses in support of increased sales volume.  

Included in other income, net for 1995, 1994 and 1993 was interest income of $1.9 million, $1.7 million and $0.8 million, respectively, 
primarily derived from the investment of cash balances in short-term U.S. treasury bills and notes. The 1994 increase was due to higher average 
invested balances and higher interest rates. Also included in other income, net, for 1993 was $0.7 million of expense resulting from the 
donation of the Company's Jacksonville, Arkansas, facility to the city. Interest expense for 1995, 1994 and 1993 was $2.1 million, $2.2 million 
and $2.9 million, respectively. The 1994 decrease was due to lower average debt levels and interest rates during the period.  

  Low...................................     28.25     24.50 
22.00     17.50      9.25 
  Income before extraordinary credit 
 
    and change in accounting principle..      2.35      2.84 
2.37      1.85      1.57 
  Net Income per Weighted 
 
  Average Common Shares <F2>............      2.35      2.84 
2.52      1.88      1.59 
  Book Value............................     12.21      9.92 
7.65      5.20      3.57 
  Cash Dividends on Common Stock........     $0.38     $0.29 
$0.15       -         - 
 
<F1>  Includes credit for cumulative effect of chan ge in accounting 
principle-SFAS No. 109 
"Accounting for Income Taxes" of $993 in 1993; extr aordinary credit 
for tax benefit of 
loss carryforward of $156 in 1992 and $135 in 1991.  
 
<F2>  Fully diluted earnings per share for each yea r presented was as 
follows:  1995; $2.34, 1994; $2.83, 1993; $2.50, 19 92; $1.88, 1991; 
$1.58. 
 
<F3>  Includes only one month of results of operati ons of Oil 
Dynamics, Inc., but total 
assets and liabilities of Oil Dynamics, Inc. at Dec ember 31, 1994. 
If the effect of 
including Oil Dynamics, Inc. on a fully consolidate d basis beginning 
November 29, 1994 was 
excluded, net income as a percent of total assets w ould have been 
14.7 percent and the 
current ratio would have been 2.3.  Previously, the  Company 
maintained an investment in 
affiliate account approximately equal to 50 percent  of the net assets 
of Oil Dynamics, 
Inc. 



Foreign currency based transactions produced a $0.7 million loss in 1995, a $0.4 million gain in 1994 and a $0.7 million loss in 1993. The 
foreign currency transaction loss in 1995 was primarily due to the movement of the Italian lira relative to the German mark and the movement 
of the U.S. dollar relative to the Australian dollar and Mexican peso. The currency transaction gain in 1994 was primarily due to the movement 
of the U.S. dollar relative to the German mark and the Australian dollar. The currency transaction loss in 1993 was primarily due to the 
movement of the U.S. dollar relative to the German mark and the South African rand.  

The provision for income taxes in 1995, 1994 and 1993 was $8.8 million, $11.5 million and $6.8 million, respectively. The effective tax rate 
for each year differs from the United States statutory rate of 35 percent principally due to the effects of state and foreign income taxes. The 
effective tax rate for 1993 was also impacted by the tax benefit resulting from the donation of the Jacksonville, Arkansas, facility to the city.  

Equity in the earnings of affiliate was $0.2 million in 1994 and $4.4 million in 1993. Previously a 50 percent owned joint venture, ODI became 
a 97 percent owned, fully consolidated subsidiary effective November 29, 1994, with the payment by ODI of a cash dividend to the Company's 
investment partner and a stock dividend to the Company. ODI changed its year end in 1994 to conform to the Company's year end. The change 
did not materially affect the Company's results of operations. The decrease in affiliate earnings in 1994 was due to a substantial decline in sales 
within Russia by ODI. In 1993, ODI had exceptionally strong shipments to Russia.  

Inflation has not had a significant effect on the Company's operations or financial condition.  

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY  

Cash flows from operations provide the principal source of current liquidity. Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $15.5 
million, $28.3 million and $25.0 million in 1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively. The 1995 decrease was due primarily to the decrease in net 
income, the increase in inventories and the decrease in accrued expenses. The increase in cash flows provided by operating activities in 1994 
was primarily due to the increase in net income, the decrease in inventories and increases in both accounts payable and accrued expenses.  

Net cash flows used in investing activities of $6.6 million, $6.3 million and $6.1 million in 1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively, primarily 
consisted of additions to plant and equipment.  

Net cash flows used in financing activities were $15.5 million and $21.3 million in 1995 and 1994, respectively. Net cash flows provided from 
financing activities were $3.4 million in 1993. The Company borrowed $3.5 million on a short-term basis to finance current working capital 
requirements in 1995, of which $3.1 million was repaid by year end. The Company also repaid $15.2 million of short-term borrowings 
originating in 1994. During 1994, the Company paid off a $10.0 million note to the estate of Edward J. Schaefer, redeemed all outstanding 
shares of Class C preferred stock for $5.8 million and purchased 109,979 shares of common stock for $3.8 million. Of the 109,979 shares 
repurchased, 17,310 shares were issued to Company-sponsored benefit plans to satisfy the Company's obligation to these plans and the 
remaining shares were retired. In 1993, using the proceeds of a $20.0 million, 6.31 percent loan, the Company paid off $15.5 million of long-
term debt, bearing interest at 9.2 percent and the balance of the proceeds was used for working capital requirements.  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 1995 were $32.1 million compared to $38.9 million at the end of 1994. Working capital increased 
$18.0 million in 1995 and the current ratio of the Company was 2.6 and 1.9 at the end of 1995 and 1994, respectively.  

Principal payments on the Company's $20 million of unsecured long- term debt begin in 1998 and continue until 2008 when a balloon payment 
of $10.0 million will fully retire the debt. In January 1996, the Company entered into an unsecured, five-year $40 million revolving credit 
agreement (the "Agreement"). The Agreement provides for various borrowing rate options and includes a facility fee on the committed amount. 
Both of the Company's loan agreements contain certain financial covenants relative to working capital, borrowings, fixed charge coverage and 
investments, among other things. The Company was in compliance with all debt covenants in 1995 and 1994.  

At December 30, 1995, the Company had $2.2 million of commitments for the purchase of machinery and equipment. During 1996, the 
Company intends to seek an acquisition candidate that is both compatible with and can leverage growth off of existing businesses.  

Management believes that internally generated funds and existing credit arrangements provide sufficient liquidity to meet current and future 
commitments.  

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DAT A 
- ------------------------------------------------- --- 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
 
FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                            1995      1994      1993 
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
Net sales.............................  $276,440  $ 241,440  $206,406 
Cost of sales (including research 
  and development expenses of 
  $4,742, $4,244 and $3,976, 
  respectively).......................   211,069   178,306   153,275 



 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES  

ASSETS  

                                         -------   -------   -------- 
Gross profit..........................    65,371    63,134    53,131 
Selling and administrative expenses...    40,688    33,313    31,029 
                                         -------   -------   ------- 
Operating income......................    24,683    29,821    22,102 
Interest expense......................    (2,128)   (2,172)   (2,949) 
Other income, net.....................     2,441     1,955        70 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)..........      (717)      392      (682) 
Equity in earnings of affiliate.......       -         217     4,351 
                                         -------   -------   ------- 
Income before income taxes and 
  change in accounting principle......    24,279    30,213    22,892 
Income taxes (Note 5).................     8,777    11,504     6,789 
                                         -------   -------   ------- 
Income before change 
  in accounting principle.............    15,502    18,709    16,103 
Cumulative effect of change in 
  accounting principle (Note 5).......       -         -         993 
                                         -------   -------   ------- 
Net income............................    15,502    18,709    17,096 
Dividends on preferred stock..........       -         153       611 
                                         -------   -------   ------- 
Net income available to common shares.  $ 15,502  $  18,556  $ 16,485 
                                        ========  = =======  ======== 
 
Per share data: 
 
Weighted average common shares........     6,598     6,537     6,552 
                                         =======   =======   ======= 
Income before change in 
  accounting principle................  $   2.35  $    2.84  $   2.37 
Change in accounting principle........       -         -         .15 
                                         -------   -------   ------- 
Net income available to common shares.  $   2.35  $    2.84  $   2.52 
                                        ========  = =======  ======== 
 
Dividends per common share............  $    .38  $     .29  $    .15 
Dividends per preferred share 
  Class C.............................  $    -    $    2.63  $  10.50 

                                                   1995        1994 
(In thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
 
Current assets: 
  Cash and equivalents........................ $ 32 ,077    $ 38,890 
  Receivables (less allowances of $1,351 
    and $1,271, respectively).................   22 ,526      21,864 
  Inventories: 
    Raw materials.............................   17 ,080      17,584 
    Work-in-process...........................    5 ,899       5,201 
    Finished goods............................   34 ,614      25,982 
    LIFO reserve..............................  (11 ,754)    (11,012) 
                                                --- ----     ------- 
                                                 45 ,839      37,755 
  Other current assets (including deferred 
    income taxes of $7,823 and 
    $6,287, respectively).....................    8 ,879       7,669 
                                                --- ----     ------- 
      Total current assets....................  109 ,321     106,178 
 
Property, plant and equipment, at cost: 
  Land and buildings..........................   29 ,173      28,210 
  Machinery and equipment.....................   92 ,523      88,169 
                                                --- ----     ------- 
                                                121 ,696     116,379 
    Less allowance for depreciation...........   80 ,026      74,483 
                                                --- ----     ------- 
                                                 41 ,670      41,896 
 
Deferred and other assets.....................    2 ,366       3,507 
                                                --- ----     ------- 



 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

LIABILITIES AND SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES  

 
Total Assets                                   $153 ,357    $151,581 
                                               ==== ====    ======== 

                                                  1 995         1994 
(In thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
 
Current liabilities: 
  Short-term borrowings (Note 6).............. $    461    $ 15,200 
  Accounts payable............................   15 ,882      12,296 
  Accrued expenses (Note 4)...................   24 ,102      26,605 
  Income taxes (Note 5).......................    1 ,726       2,890 
                                                --- ----     ------- 
    Total current liabilities.................   42 ,171      56,991 
 
Long-term debt (Note 6).......................   20 ,171      20,000 
 
Employee benefit plan obligations (Note 3)....    6 ,069       4,903 
 
Other long-term liabilities...................    4 ,082       3,960 
 
Deferred income taxes (Note 5)................      307         862 
 
Shareowners' equity (Note 7): 
  Common shares outstanding 
    6,254 and 6,199, respectively.............      626         620 
  Additional capital..........................    5 ,683       4,667 
  Retained earnings...........................   77 ,363      64,231 
  Stock subscriptions.........................   (1 ,315)     (2,112) 
  Cumulative translation adjustment...........      600          59 
  Loan to ESOP Trust (Note 3).................   (2 ,400)     (2,600) 
                                                --- ----     ------- 
    Total shareowners' equity.................   80 ,557      64,865 
                                                --- ----     ------- 
 
Total Liabilities and Shareowners' Equity      $153 ,357    $151,581 
                                               ==== ====    ======== 

                                              1995     1994     1993 
(In thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income............................... $ 15,502 $ 18,709 $ 17,096 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to 
net cash flows from operating activities: 
  Depreciation and amortization..........    8,890    6,961    6,185 
  Equity in earnings of affiliate, 
    less dividends.......................      -       (217)     144 
  Deferred income taxes..................   (2,091)     (311)  (2,128) 
  Gain on disposals of 
    plant and equipment..................      (43)     (132)     (22) 
  Changes in assets and liabilities: 
    Receivables..........................       29   (1,516)  (3,927) 
    Inventories..........................   (7,628)   (2,355)   2,442 
    Other current assets.................      417     (572)   2,501 
    Accounts payable and other 
      accrued expenses...................     (710)    7,098    2,768 
    Employee benefit plan obligations....    1,166    2,122    1,120 
    Other long-term liabilities..........      (38)   (1,534)  (1,202) 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
Net cash flows from operating 
  activities.............................   15,494   28,253   24,977 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
 



 

Cash paid during 1995, 1994, and 1993 for interest was $2.4 million, $2.1 million and $2.8 million, respectively. Also, cash paid during 1995, 
1994 and 1993 for income taxes was $12.0 million, $10.0 million and $7.9 million, respectively.  

Non-cash transactions:  
During the first quarter of 1995, the Company issued 20,000 common shares valued at $0.6 million under the 1988 Executive Stock Purchase 
Plan.  

During the first quarter of 1994, the Company issued 17,310 common shares valued at $0.6 million to Company-sponsored benefit plans.  

During the second quarter of 1994, the Company issued 48,000 common shares valued at $1.3 million under the 1988 Incentive Stock Award 
Plan.  

During the fourth quarter of 1994, previously 50 percent owned joint venture, Oil Dynamics, Inc., became a 97 percent owned consolidated 
subsidiary (see Note 2).  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Additions to plant and equipment.......   (6,111)   (7,612)  (6,359) 
  Proceeds from sale of 
    plant and equipment..................       70      278      305 
  Acquired cash of subsidiary (Note 2)...      -      1,020      - 
  Additions to deferred assets...........     (630)      -        - 
  Other, net.............................       78      -        - 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
Net cash flows from 
  investing activities...................   (6,593)   (6,314)  (6,054) 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Borrowing on long-term debt............      -        -     20,000 
  Repayment of long-term debt (Note 6)...      -    (10,016) (15,515) 
  Borrowing on line of credit............    3,549      -      3,000 
  Repayment of line of credit............  (18,300)      (68)  (3,000) 
  Redemption of preferred stock (Note 7).      -     (5,818)     - 
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock.      530      130      251 
  Purchase of treasury stock (Note 7)....      -     (3,757)     - 
  Proceeds from stock subscriptions......      866      -        - 
  Reduction of loan to ESOP Trust........      200      200      200 
  Dividends paid.........................   (2,370)   (1,942)  (1,545) 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
Net cash flows from 
  financing activities...................  (15,525)  (21,271)   3,391 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash..     (189)     (865)     560 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
 
Net increase (decrease) in cash 
  and equivalents.......................    (6,813)     (197)  22,874 
Cash and equivalents at 
  beginning of year.....................    38,890   39,087   16,213 
                                           -------  -------  ------- 
Cash and equivalents at end of year.....  $ 32,077 $ 38,890 $ 39,087 
                                          ======== ======== ======== 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY 
 
FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
- ------------------------------------------------- --------- 
(In thousands, except share amounts) 
 
 
                                     Common   Cumul ative 
                                      Cumulative   Loan to 
                                     Shares    Pref erred Common 
Additional  Retained    Stock   Treasury  Translati on     ESOP 
                                  Outstanding    St ock    Stock 
Capital   Earnings  Subscrip.   Stock    Adjustment     Trust 
                                  -----------    -- ---    -----   --- 
- ----   --------  --------    -----    ----------    ----- 
 
 
Balance year end 1992              6,187,713    $5, 818     $619 



$2,805    $35,070   $(1,541)   $  -       $(104)    $(3,000) 
                                   ---------    --- ---     ----    -- 
- ----    -------   -------    -----      -----     ------- 
 
 
Net income 
         17,096 
Dividends on preferred stock 
           (611) 
Dividends on common stock 
           (934) 
Common stock issued                   42,955                  4 
 247 
Reduction of stock subscriptions 
                      639 
Currency translation adjustment 
                                         (363) 
Loan payment from ESOP 
                                                      200 
Reclass to current liabilities 
 
  (Note 7)                                      (5, 818) 
 
                                   ---------    --- ---     ----    -- 
- ----    -------     -----    -----      -----     -------- 
 
 
Balance year end 1993              6,230,668    $  -       $623 
$3,052    $50,621     $(902)   $  -       $(467)    $(2,800) 
                                   ---------    --- ---     ----    -- 
- ----    -------     -----    -----      -----     ------- 
 
 
Net income 
         18,709 
Dividends on preferred stock 
           (153) 
Dividends on common stock 
         (1,789) 
Common stock issued                   61,450                  6 
1,575 
Increase in stock subscriptions 
                   (1,210) 
Currency translation adjustment 
                                          526 
Loan payment from ESOP 
                                                      200 
Treasury stock purchases            (109,979) 
                            (3,757) 
Treasury stock issued                 17,310 
  40                           591 
Treasury stock retired                                       (9) 
         (3,157)             3,166 
                                   ---------    --- ---     ----    -- 
- ----    -------   -------   ------      -----     ------- 
 
 
Balance year end 1994              6,199,449    $  -       $620 
$4,667    $64,231   $(2,112)  $  -          $59     $(2,600) 
                                   ---------    --- ---     ----    -- 
- ----    -------   -------   ------      -----     ------- 
 
 
Net income 
         15,502 
Dividends on common stock 
         (2,370) 
Common stock issued                   54,553                  6 
1,084                 (530) 
Proceeds from stock subscriptions 
                      866 
Stock subscription amortization 
 
  and adjustment 
 (68)                 461 
Currency translation adjustment 
                                          541 
Loan payment from ESOP 
                                                      200 
                                   ---------    --- ---     ----    -- 
- ----    -------   -------   ------      -----     ------- 
 



 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Fiscal Year--The Company's fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest December 31. The financial statements and accompanying notes are as of 
and for the years ended December 30, 1995 (52 weeks), December 31, 1994 (52 weeks) and January 1, 1994 (52 weeks) and are referred to as 
1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively.  

Principles of Consolidation--The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all majority-owned subsidiaries. 
The accounts of certain foreign subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements on their fiscal years ended November 30. 
Beginning November 29, 1994, the results of operations of Oil Dynamics, Inc. were included on a fully consolidated basis (see Note 2).  

Cash Equivalents--Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments which are readily convertible to cash, present insignificant risk of 
changes in value due to interest rate fluctuations and generally have original maturities of three months or less.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments--The carrying amounts for cash and equivalents, long-term debt and short-term debt approximate fair 
value. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on current borrowing rates for similar issues. The Company's off- balance sheet 
instruments are not significant.  

Inventories--Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The majority of the cost of domestic inventories is determined using the last-
in, first-out (LIFO) method; all remaining inventory costs are determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories stated on the 
LIFO method approximated 64 percent and 69 percent of total inventories in 1995 and 1994, respectively.  

Property, Plant and Equipment--Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of plant and equipment is provided principally 
on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 50 years for land improvements and buildings, 2 to 10 years for machinery, 
equipment, furniture, and fixtures and 3 to 5 years for automobiles and trucks. Accelerated methods are used for income tax purposes.  

Earnings Per Common Share--Primary and fully diluted earnings per common share are computed based upon earnings applicable to common 
shares, divided by the sum of the average number of common shares outstanding during the period plus dilutive common stock equivalents. 
Separate presentation of primary and fully diluted earnings per common share has not been made because the difference is immaterial.  

Translation of Foreign Currencies--All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar are 
translated at year-end exchange rates. All revenue and expense accounts are translated at average rates in effect during the period.  

Use of Estimates--Management's best estimates of certain amounts are required in preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  

Reclassifications--Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  

2. INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATE  

 
Balance year end 1995              6,254,002    $  -       $626 
$5,683    $77,363   $(1,315)  $  -         $600     $(2,400) 
                                   =========    === ===     ==== 
======    =======   =======   ======      =====     ======= 

Summarized below is selected 1994 and 1993 financia l information for  
the Company's investment in its previously unconsol idated affiliate,  
Oil Dynamics, Inc.("ODI").  Beginning November 29, 1994, ODI was 
included in the Company's financial statements on a  fully 
consolidated basis. 
 
                                            (In tho usands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- -----------------  
                                            Balance  Sheet 
                                            ------- ------ 
                                                 19 94 
                                                 -- -- 



 

On November 29, 1994, control of the previously 50 percent owned ODI was effectively transferred to Franklin Electric Co., Inc. The change 
in control resulted from receipt of a stock dividend (in lieu of a cash dividend received by the investment partner) which increased the 
Company's ownership interest to approximately 97 percent. The change in control has been accounted for under the purchase method.  

Equity in the earnings of ODI is included in the results of operations using the equity method of accounting for the thirteen months ended 
November 28, 1994. Beginning November 29, 1994, the results of operations and financial position of ODI have been included on a fully 
consolidated basis. In 1994, the fiscal year end of ODI was changed to conform with the Company's fiscal year end. This change did not 
materially affect the Company's financial statements.  

Summarized below are the unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations of the Company and ODI as though control of Oil Dynamics, 
Inc. had been transferred to the Company as of the beginning of 1993. These results include certain pro forma adjustments, primarily increased 
interest expense, and are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been obtained had the Company controlled ODI during the 
respective periods.  

 

3. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  

The Company's domestic operations maintain four separate pension plans covering substantially all of its U.S. employees. A non- contributory 
defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all U.S. employees provides benefits based upon years of credited service. A contributory 
defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all U.S. salaried employees provides benefits based upon the highest average thirty-six (36) 
consecutive monthly earnings before retirement. A non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain management employees 
provides benefits in excess of those provided under other plans. A non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all 
other employees of the Company not covered under other plans provides benefits based upon a percentage of monthly earnings for each year of 
credited service. The Company's funding policy is to make the minimum annual contribution required by applicable regulations.  

Net domestic pension cost for 1995, 1994 and 1993 was as follows:  

 
     Current assets...................        $21,9 02 
     Non-current assets...............         12,5 90 
     Current liabilities..............          8,7 13 
     Non-current liabilities..........          1,7 65 
 
                                           Income S tatement 
                                           -------- -------- 
                                           1994        1993 
                                           ----        ---- 
 
     Net sales................          $44,043     $71,672 
     Gross profit.............           10,735      25,408 
     Net income...............              773       8,770 

                                               (In thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
                                              1994       1993 
                                              ----       ---- 
Net sales...............................   $285,483    $278,078 
Income before change 
  in accounting principle...............     18,967      18,734 
Net income..............................     18,967      19,727 
Per share data: 
  Income before change 
    in accounting principle.............   $   2.88    $   2.77 
  Net income............................   $   2.88    $   2.92 

                                            (In tho usands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- ------------------- 
                                       1995      19 94      1993 
                                       ----      -- --      ---- 
Service cost....................    $ 1,846   $ 1,7 26   $ 1,478 
Interest on projected 
  benefit obligation............      4,952     4,3 10     4,131 
Actual return on plan assets....    (13,082)    1,3 56    (5,641) 
Net amortization and deferral...      7,559    (6,3 67)      829 
                                     ------    ---- --    ------ 
Net domestic pension cost.......    $ 1,275   $ 1,0 25   $   797 
                                    =======   ===== ==   ======= 
 
 
The following table sets forth the funded status of  the Company's 
domestic plans and accrued pension costs reflected in the Company's 
balance sheet at year end.  The Company's internati onal subsidiaries' 
pension liabilities have been excluded from the fol lowing 



presentation because the amounts are immaterial. 
 
                                            (In tho usands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                 ABO Exceeds Assets  Assets Exceed ABO 
                                 ------------------  ----------------- 
                                    1995     1994     1995     1994 
                                    ----     ----     ----     ---- 
Actuarial Present Value of 
  Benefit Obligations: 
 
  Vested employees.............  $41,886  $38,201  $19,662  $14,737 
  Nonvested employees..........    2,071    1,893      802      549 
                                  ------   ------   ------   ------ 
 
  Accumulated benefit 
    obligation ("ABO").........   43,957   40,094   20,464   15,286 
 
Additional amount related to 
  projected benefit 
  or pay increases.............      386    1,159    4,853    3,207 
                                  ------   ------   ------   ------ 
 
Projected benefit obligation...   44,343   41,253   25,317   18,493 
 
Fair value of plan assets, 
  primarily common stocks and 
  bonds, including $16,500 
  and $16,950 of the Company's 
  common stock in 1995 and 
  1994, respectively...........   41,013   38,565   29,871   22,816 
                                  ------   ------   ------   ------ 
 
Funded status..................   (3,330)  (2,688)   4,554    4,323 
 
Unrecognized net gain..........   (4,037)  (3,663)  (4,000)  (3,599) 
Unrecognized net obligation 
  (asset) at date of initial 
  application of SFAS No. 87...      273      349     (558)    (669) 
Unrecognized prior service 
  cost.........................    2,556    2,091     (221)    (246) 
Adjustment required to 
  recognize minimum liability..     (134)     (34)     -        - 
                                  ------   ------   ------   ------ 
 
Accrued pension liability......  $(4,672) $(3,945) $  (225) $  (191) 
                                 =======  =======  =======  ======= 
 
 
Actuarial Assumptions: 
                                      1995        1 994       1993 
                                      ----        - ---       ---- 
Discount rate..................       7.50%   8.0-8 .25%      7.25% 
Rate of increase in future 
  compensation.................      0-5.0%      0- 5.0%     0-5.5% 
Expected long-term rate of 
  return on plan assets........   8.25-9.0%   8.25- 9.0%       9.0% 
 
Prior to January 1, 1995, the Company maintained a 401(k) Directed 
Investment Salary Plan ("DISP") covering substantia lly all employees 
and a Savings Plan ("Savings Plan") covering substa ntially all hourly 
employees at its Bluffton facility.  Effective Janu ary 1, 1995, the 
Company merged the Savings Plan into the DISP. 
 
The Company adopted an Employee Stock Ownership Pla n ("ESOP") in 1987 
for the Company's domestic salaried employees.  In January 1992, the 
ESOP and the Company's 401(k) plans were integrated  and expanded in 
1993 to include substantially all of the Company's domestic employees 
excluding hourly employees at its Bluffton and Jone sboro, Indiana, 
locations. 
 
In July 1992, the ESOP Trustee acquired additional shares of Company 
common stock on the open market using the proceeds of a $3.0 million 
loan from the Company.  Under the terms of the fift een-year, variable 
rate loan (6.31 percent at December 30, 1995), prin cipal plus 
interest is payable in equal annual installments.  The shares of 
stock purchased with the loan proceeds are collater al for the loan 
and are considered outstanding for purposes of calc ulating earnings 
per share. 
 
At December 30, 1995, 76,568 shares were allocated to the accounts of 
participants, 10,420 shares were committed to be re leased and 



 

Effective January 3, 1993, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106 ("SFAS No. 106"), "Employers' 
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions". SFAS No. 106 requires recognition, during employees' service with the 
Company, of the cost of their retiree health and life insurance benefits. The Company's postretirement plan covers substantially all domestic 
employees with the exception of employees hired after 1991. The Company effectively capped its cost for those benefits through plan 
amendments made in 1992. These amendments froze Company contributions for health and life insurance benefits at 1991 levels for current 
and future beneficiaries with actuarially reduced benefits for employees who retire before age 65.  
In accordance with SFAS No. 106, the Company has elected to recognize this change in accounting over a twenty-year period. The 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was $9.8 million at January 3, 1993.  

Net postretirement benefit cost for 1995, 1994 and 1993 was as follows:  

 

The following table sets forth the funded status of the Company's postretirement benefit plans and accrued postretirement benefit cost reflected 
in the Company's balance sheet at year end:  

(In thousands)  

1995 1994  

Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation  

 

allocated to the accounts of participants for servi ce rendered during 
1995, and 89,471 shares were held by the ESOP Trust  in suspense. 
 
The Company contributes a portion of its 401(k) mat ching contribution 
as well as an additional annual contribution, both subject to the 
Company's annual financial results, to the ESOP Tru st.  The ESOP 
Trustee uses a portion of the Company's contributio ns to make 
principal and interest payments on the loan.  As lo an payments are 
made, shares of common stock are released as collat eral and are 
allocated to participants' accounts.  The balance o f the Company's 
contributions in cash or common stock is made to th e 401(k) and ESOP 
Trusts, and allocated to participants' accounts to satisfy the 
balance of the Company's 401(k) matching contributi on.  Prior to the 
merger of the Company's 401(k) plans, the matching contribution to 
the Savings Plan was approximately $0.2 million in 1994 and 1993. 
 
The following table sets forth the interest expense  and Company 
contributions to the ESOP (dividends on the Company 's common stock 
held by the ESOP are not used for debt service): 
 
                                                   (In thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- ------------------ 
                                               1995     1994    1993 
                                               ----     ----    ---- 
 
Interest expense incurred by the Plan 
  on ESOP debt.............................  $  155   $  167  $  131 
Company contributions to integrated ESOP...   1,292      992     792 

                                                   (In thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- ------------------  
                                               1995     1994    1993 
                                               ----     ----    ---- 
 
Service cost...............................  $  219   $  246  $  119 
Interest cost..............................     837      806     831 
Amortization of transition obligation......     489      489     489 
Net amortization and deferral..............       7       83     - 
                                              -----    -----   ----- 
 
Net postretirement benefit cost............  $1,552   $1,624  $1,439 
                                             ======   ======  ====== 

Retirees................................  $ (7,939)   $ (7,824)  
Active employees........................    (3,318)     (2,889)  
                                           -------    ------- 
                                           (11,257)    (10,713)  
Unrecognized net obligation at date 
  of adoption of SFAS No. 106...........     8,312      8,801 
Unrecognized net loss...................     1,773      1,145 
                                            ------    ------- 
Accrued postretirement benefit cost.....  $ (1,172)   $   (767)  
                                          ========   ======== 



The discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 7.50, 8.25 and 7.25 percent in 1995, 1994 and 
1993, respectively.  

4. ACCRUED EXPENSES  

Accrued expenses consisted of:  

 

5. INCOME TAXES  

Income before income taxes consisted of:  

 
(In thousands)  

 

 

The income tax provision consisted of:  

(In thousands)  

 

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities follow:  

(In thousands)  

                                                (In  thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
                                             1995            1994 
                                             ----            ---- 
 
Salaries, wages and commissions.......    $ 6,188         $ 7,465 
Product warranty costs................      4,745           4,671 
Insurance.............................      4,755           5,010 
Other.................................      8,414           9,459 
                                           ------          ------ 
                                          $24,102         $26,605 
                                          =======         ======= 

- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                    1995         19 94         1993 
                                    ----         -- --         ---- 
 
Domestic....................    $ 23,647     $ 28,2 02     $ 20,751 
Foreign.....................         632        2,0 11        2,141 
                                 -------      ----- --      ------- 
                                $ 24,279     $ 30,2 13     $ 22,892 
                                ========     ====== ==     ======== 

- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                    1995         19 94         1993 
                                    ----         -- --         ---- 
 
Currently payable: 
  Federal...................    $  8,714     $  7,9 66      $ 6,524 
  Foreign...................         113        1,2 77          829 
  State.....................       2,041        2,5 72        1,564 
Deferred: 
  Federal...................      (2,293)         1 69       (1,736) 
  Foreign...................         343         (4 08)          72 
  State.....................        (141)         ( 72)        (464) 
                                 -------      ----- --      ------- 
                                $  8,777     $ 11,5 04     $  6,789 
                                ========     ====== ==     ======== 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  

- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                                 19 95         1994 
                                                 -- --         ---- 
Deferred tax assets: 
  Accrued expenses and reserves.............. $ 5,2 23      $ 3,425 
  Compensation and employee benefits.........   4,5 16        3,835 



 

The differences between the statutory and effective tax rates were as follows:  

 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," effective January 3, 1993, resulting in a cumulative adjustment of $1.0 
million, which did not have a material effect on the Company's 1993 income tax provision.  

Accumulated undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries expected to be permanently invested approximated $4.9 million at December 30, 
1995. The Company does not anticipate incurring any tax should these earnings be repatriated in the future.  

6. DEBT  

Short-term debt consisted of:  

(In thousands)  
 

  Foreign tax credits........................     3 85        1,600 
  Other items................................     7 44        1,177 
                                               ---- --       ------ 
    Gross deferred tax assets................  10,8 68       10,037 
 
  Valuation allowance........................     -          (1,200) 
                                               ---- --       ------ 
  Net deferred tax assets....................  10,8 68        8,837 
 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Accelerated depreciation on fixed assets...   3,3 30        3,400 
  Other items................................      22           12 
                                               ---- --       ------ 
    Gross deferred tax liabilities...........   3,3 52        3,412 
                                               ---- --       ------ 
 
Net deferred tax assets......................   7,5 16        5,425 
Net current deferred tax assets..............   7,8 23        6,287 
                                               ---- --       ------ 
Net non-current deferred tax liabilities..... $   3 07      $   862 
                                              ===== ==      ======= 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  

- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
                                     1995        19 94        1993 
                                     ----        -- --        ---- 
 
U.S. Federal statutory rate......    35.0%       35 .0%       35.0% 
State income taxes, net of 
  federal benefit................     5.1         5 .4         4.1 
Effect of higher foreign 
  tax rates......................     1.0          .5          .8 
Benefit of contributed property..     -           -           (2.8) 
Utilization of foreign 
  tax credits....................    (5.2)       (3 .9)        - 
Other items......................      .3         1 .4         (.5) 
                                     ----        -- --        ---- 
                                     36.2%       38 .4%       36.6% 
                                     =====       == ===       ===== 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  

- ------------------------------------------------- -----------------  
                                              1995        1994 
                                              ----        ---- 
 
Bank--6.72%(variable based 
  on LIBOR), due in 1995................   $   -       $ 9,800 
Bank--7.47%(variable based 
  on LIBOR), due in 1995................       -         5,400 
Bank--other.............................       452         - 
                                            ------     ------- 
                                           $   452     $15,200 
                                           =======     ======= 
 
 
Long-term debt consisted of: 
                                               (In thousands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- -----------------  
                                              1995        1994 
                                              ----        ---- 



 

Both the Company's short-term borrowings and long-term debt are unsecured. The Company's long-term debt agreement provides for certain 
financial covenants relative to working capital, additional borrowings, loans or advances and investments. The Company was in compliance 
with all financial covenants in 1995 and 1994.  

On January 5, 1996, the Company entered into an unsecured, five-year $40 million revolving credit agreement (the "Agreement"). The 
Agreement provides for various borrowing rate options including interest rates based on the London Interbank Offered Rates ("LIBOR") plus 
interest spreads keyed to the Company's ratio of debt to consolidated tangible net worth. The Agreement contains certain financial covenants 
with respect to borrowings, fixed charge coverage, working capital, loans or advances, and investments.  

7. SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY  

The Company had 6,254,002 shares of common stock (10,000,000 shares authorized, $.10 par value) outstanding at the end of 1995. On 
January 26, 1994, the Company purchased 109,979 common shares for $3.8 million under the terms of a stock redemption agreement entered 
into in 1988 with Edward J. Schaefer, co-founder of the Company. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company had the right, but not the 
obligation, to purchase any and all shares that the estate elected to sell. Of the 109,979 shares repurchased, 17,310 were re- issued to Company-
sponsored employee benefit plans and the remaining shares were retired.  

During the first quarter of 1994, the Company redeemed all outstanding shares of Class C Cumulative Preferred Stock for its stated value of 
$5.8 million.  

The Company has three stock option plans which provide for issuance of qualified or non-qualified shares of common stock. The stock option 
activity for all plans during 1995, 1994 and 1993 was as follows:  

 

 
Insurance Company--6.31%, principal 
  payments of $1.0 million due in 
  annual installments, starting in 
  1998 with a balloon payment of 
  $10,000 in 2008.......................   $20,000     $20,000 
Bank--other.............................       180         - 
                                            ------      ------ 
                                            20,180      20,000 
Less current maturities.................         9         - 
                                            ------      ------ 
                                           $20,171     $20,000 
                                           =======     ======= 

                                          Shares 
                                           Under 
                                          Option       Price Range 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  
Outstanding, January 2, 1993.......      510,279   $ 3.38 to $23.75 
 
Options granted....................       56,000   $24.50 to $29.25 
Options exercised..................      (53,184)  $ 4.39 to $10.13 
                                        -------- 
 
Outstanding, January 1, 1994.......      513,095   $ 3.38 to $29.25 
 
Options granted....................      254,000   $26.50 to $32.50 
Options exercised..................      (13,450)  $ 4.39 to $ 8.63 
                                        -------- 
 
Outstanding, December 31, 1994.....      753,645   $ 3.38 to $32.50 
 
Options granted....................      192,000   $31.00 to $33.25 
Options exercised..................      (34,553)  $ 8.63 to $26.50 
Options expired....................      (50,000)  $29.25 
                                        -------- 
 
Outstanding, December 30, 1995.....      861,092   $ 3.38 to $33.25 
                                        ======== 
 
Options exercisable: 
  January 1, 1994..................      403,695 
  December 31, 1994................      479,645 
  December 30, 1995................      521,892 
 
Shares reserved for future options: 
  January 1, 1994..................      351,060 
  December 31, 1994................       97,060 
  December 30, 1995................       15,060 
- ------------------------------------------------- --------------------  



The Company has two additional stock plans: the 1988 Executive Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchase Plan") and the 1988 Incentive Stock 
Award Plan (the "Award Plan"). During 1995, 20,000 shares were issued under the Purchase Plan and 512,800 shares are reserved for future 
grants. During 1994, 48,000 shares were issued under the Award Plan and 671,936 shares are reserved for future grants.  

Stock subscriptions are principally deferred costs recognized in connection with the issuance of common stock under the Award Plan and loans 
to officers under the Purchase Plan.  

In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 ("SFAS No. 123"), 
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1995. SFAS No. 123 requires expanded 
disclosures of stock-based compensation arrangements with employees and encourages, but does not require, recognition of expense in 
accordance with the "fair value" provisions of the Statement. Management of the Company intends to continue accounting for stock- based 
compensation arrangements under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees", and, accordingly, SFAS No. 123 will not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements. The Company will adopt 
the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 as required in 1996.  

8. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION  

 

The Company has no single geographic area within its foreign operations whose revenues or assets exceed 10 percent of such amounts on a 
consolidated basis. The Company had $32.7 million, $23.2 million and $16.7 million of export sales (from domestic sources) in 1995, 1994 and 
1993, respectively, to various geographic areas, of which no single geographic area was significant.  

One customer accounted for 12.9%, 14.1% and 17.5% of the consolidated sales in 1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively.  

9. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)  

Unaudited quarterly financial information for the years 1995 and 1994 is as follows:  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
 

The Company's single business segment is the design , manufacture and 
sale of electric motors, electronic controls and re lated equipment. 
These products are sold to original equipment manuf acturers in the 
United States, Canada, Europe, Australia, South Afr ica, Mexico and 
other world markets. 
 
Manufacturing plants are located in the United Stat es, Germany, Czech 
Republic, Italy and South Africa. 
 
GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS                        (In thous ands) 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
                                  1995           19 94           1993 
                                  ----           -- --           ---- 
 
NET SALES 
North America..............   $225,958       $200,2 16       $170,325 
Foreign....................     50,482         41,2 24         36,081 
                               -------        ----- --        ------- 
                              $276,440       $241,4 40       $206,406 
                              ========       ====== ==       ======== 
OPERATING MARGIN 
North America..............   $ 38,885       $ 43,0 30       $ 33,763 
Foreign....................      2,148          3,3 42          2,988 
Equity in earnings of 
  affiliate................        -              2 17          4,351 
Interest expense...........     (2,128)        (2,1 72)        (2,949) 
Interest income............      1,866          1,6 78            823 
Corporate expenses.........    (16,492)       (15,8 82)       (16,084) 
                               -------        ----- --        ------- 
Income before taxes........   $ 24,279       $ 30,2 13       $ 22,892 
                              ========       ====== ==       ======== 
 
IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS 
North America..............   $ 84,013       $ 82,2 47       $ 43,420 
Foreign....................     29,697         24,1 88         18,159 
Investment in affiliate....        -              -            11,642 
Corporate .................     39,647         45,1 46         49,482 
                               -------         ---- --        ------- 
                              $153,357       $151,5 81       $122,703 
                              ========       ====== ==       ======== 

- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  



 

(a) Represents net income available to common shares.  

10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS  

The Company is defending various claims and legal actions, including environmental matters, which have arisen in the ordinary course of 
business. The Company has attempted, where possible, to assess the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome to the Company as a result of these 
actions. Legal counsel has been retained to assist the Company in making these determinations, and costs are accrued when an unfavorable 
outcome is determined to be probable and a reasonable estimate can be made.  

In the opinion of management of the Company, adequate provision has been made for any awards or assessments to be incurred in connection 
with such matters and ultimate resolution will not have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial position and results of 
operations or cash flows.  

Total rent expense charged to operations for operating leases including contingent rentals was $2.0 million, $1.3 million and $1.2 million for 
1995, 1994 and 1993, respectively. The future minimum rental payments for noncancellable operating leases as of December 30, 1995, are as 
follows: 1996, $.8 million; 1997, $.5 million and 1998, $.2 million. Rental commitments subsequent to 1998 are not material.  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT  

To the Shareowners and Directors,  
Franklin Electric Co., Inc.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. and consolidated subsidiaries as of December 30, 
1995 and December 31, 1994 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareowners' equity and cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 30, 1995. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 14. These financial 
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. 
and consolidated subsidiaries as of December 30, 1995 and December 31, 1994, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 30, 1995 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, 
such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in 
all material respects the information set forth therein.  

As discussed in Notes 3 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for Postretirement 
Benefits Other Than Pensions and its method of accounting for Income Taxes effective January 3, 1993 to conform with Statements of 
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 106 and SFAS No. 109, respectively.  

                                                        Net Income 
                                                       Per Weighted 
                       Net        Gross          Ne t      Average 
                     Sales       Profit      Income (a) Common Share 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
 
1995 
1st Quarter       $ 59,788     $ 13,297     $  1,64 4     $  .25 
2nd Quarter         76,442       17,573        4,54 2        .69 
3rd Quarter         66,188       14,954        3,30 1        .50 
4th Quarter         74,022       19,547        6,01 5        .91 
                   -------      -------      ------ -      ----- 
                  $276,440     $ 65,371     $ 15,50 2     $ 2.35 
                  ========     ========     ======= =     ====== 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  
 
1994 
1st Quarter       $ 50,350     $ 12,503     $  3,10 8     $  .48 
2nd Quarter         64,772       17,287        5,65 0        .87 
3rd Quarter         60,013       15,068        4,54 9        .69 
4th Quarter         66,305       18,276        5,24 9        .80 
                   -------      -------      ------ -      ----- 
                  $241,440     $ 63,134     $ 18,55 6     $ 2.84 
                  ========     ========     ======= =     ====== 
- ------------------------------------------------- -------------------  



DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  

Deloitte & Touche LLP  
Chicago, Illinois  
January 31, 1996  

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH INDEPENDE NT AUDITORS ON  
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  

PART III  
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT  

The information concerning directors required by this Item 10 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 
Shareowners (to be held April 12, 1996), under the headings of "ELECTION OF DIRECTORS" and "INFORMATION CONCERNING 
NOMINEES AND DIRECTORS," and is incorporated herein by reference.  

The information concerning executive officers required by this Item 10 is contained in Part I of this Form 10-K under the heading of 
"EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT."  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

The information required by Item 11 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareowners (to be held April 
12, 1996), under the headings of "INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES," "SUMMARY COMPENSATION 
TABLE," "OPTION GRANTS IN 1995 FISCAL YEAR" AND "1995 FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES," "COMPENSATION 
PURSUANT TO PLANS" and "AGREEMENTS," and is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND  
MANAGEMENT  

The information required by Item 12 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareowners (to be held April 
12, 1996), under the heading of "SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT," and is 
incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS  

The information required by Item 13 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareowners (to be held April 
12, 1996), under the heading of "AGREEMENTS," and is incorporated herein by reference.  

PART IV  
 
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM  
8-K  

Form 10-K Annual Report  
 

(page)  
 
(a) 1. Financial Statements - Franklin Electric  

Independent Auditors' Report  
Consolidated Statements of Income for the three years ended December 30, 1995 Consolidated Balance Sheets, as of December 30, 1995 and 
December 31, 1994 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three years ended December 30, 1995 Consolidated Statements of 
Shareowners' Equity for the three years ended December 30, 1995 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

 
(including quarterly financial data)  

2. Financial Statement Schedules - Franklin Electric  

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  



Schedules other than those listed above are omitted for the reason that they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information is 
disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements and related notes.  

3. Exhibits  

See the Exhibit Index located on pages xx-xx. Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement is denoted by an asterisk (*).  

(b) Reports on Form 8-K filed during the fourth quarter ended December 30, 1995: None  

(c) See the Exhibit Index located on pages xx-xx.  

(d) Individual financial statements and all other schedules of the Registrant are omitted as they are not required.  

SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

Franklin Electric Co., Inc.  

WILLIAM H. LAWSON  
 
William H. Lawson Chairman of the Board (Date) February 9, 1996 and Chief Executive Officer  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  

WILLIAM H. LAWSON  

- ------------------------------------- Chairman of the Board, Chief William H. Lawson February 9, 1996 Executive Officer, and Director  

JESS B. FORD  

- ------------------------------------- Vice President and Chief  

 
WILLIAM W. KEEFER  

William W. Keefer February 9, 1996 Director  

ROBERT H. LITTLE  
 
Robert H. Little February 9, 1996 Director  

 
PATRICIA SCHAEFER  

 
Patricia Schaefer February 9, 1996 Director  

 
DONALD J. SCHNEIDER  

 
Donald J. Schneider February 9, 1996 Director  
 

Jess B. Ford         February 9, 1996   Financial O fficer (Principal  
                                        Financial a nd Accounting 
                                        Officer) 

       GERARD E. VENEMAN 
- ------------------------------------- 
Gerard E. Veneman    February 9, 1996   Director  
 
 
       JURIS VIKMANIS 
- ------------------------------------- 
Juris Vikmanis       February 9, 1996   Director  
 



 

 

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  

EXHIBIT INDEX FOR THE FISCAL YEAR  
ENDED DECEMBER 30, 1995  

Sequentially  
Numbered  

Item Description Pages  

3(i) Restated Articles of Incorporation of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3 of the Company's Form 10-
K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 1989)  

Articles of Amendment of the Restated Articles of Incorporation of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. effective February 26, 1991 (incorporated herein 
by reference to the Company's current report on Form 8-K dated February 26, 1991)  

3(ii) By-Laws of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. as amended, effective July 15, 1994 (incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form 10-K 
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1994)  

4 Rights Agreement dated as of February 11, 1991 between Franklin Electric Co., Inc. and Lincoln National Bank & Trust Co. of Fort Wayne 
(incorporated herein by reference to the Company's registration statement on Form 8-A dated February 26, 1991)  

 
       HOWARD B. WITT 
- ------------------------------------- 
Howard B. Witt       February 9, 1996   Director  

                      SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND Q UALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
                            For the years 1995, 199 4 and 1993 
                                      (In thousands ) 
                                      ------------- - 
 
                                                Add itions 
 
                               Balance at      char ged to 
             Balance 
                                beginning       cos ts and 
              at end 
     Description                of period        ex penses 
Deductions       of period 
     -----------                ---------        -- ------      ------  
- ----       --------- 
 
<FN1> 
 
 
Allowance for doubtful accounts: 
 
 
 
     1995                          $1,271          $  190         $ 
110           $1,351 
                                   ======          ====== 
======           ====== 
 
 
     1994                          $1,269          $  201         $ 
199           $1,271 
                                   ======          ====== 
======           ====== 
 
 
     1993                          $1,175          $  122         $ 
 28           $1,269 
                                   ======          ====== 
======           ====== 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
<FN1>  Uncollectible accounts written off, net of r ecoveries. 



10.1 Stock Redemption Agreement dated October 28, 1988, as amended on December 12, 1988, between the Company and Edward J. Schaefer 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1988)  

10.2 1988 Executive Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1988 Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting 
held on April 15, 1988, and included as Exhibit E to the Proxy Statement)*  

10.3 1988 Stock Incentive Award Plan (incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1988 Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting held 
on April 15, 1988, and included as Exhibit D to the Proxy Statement)*  

10.4 Amended 1981 Incentive Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1988 Proxy Statement for the Annual 
Meeting held on April 15, 1988, and included as Exhibit B to the Proxy Statement)*  

10.5 Amended 1986 Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1988 Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting held 
on April 15, 1988, and included as Exhibit C to the Proxy Statement)*  

10.6 Franklin Electric Nonemployee Director Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to the Company's 1991 Proxy Statement for 
the Annual Meeting on April 19, 1991)*  

10.7 Employment Agreement dated October 23, 1995 between the Company and Jess B. Ford*  

10.8 Employment Agreement dated December 5, 1986 between the Company and William H. Lawson (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.7 of the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 1991)*  

10.9 Credit Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 between the Company and various commercial banks  

11 Primary Earnings per Share and Fully Diluted Earnings per Share  
21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant  
23 Consent of Independent Auditors  
27 Financial Data Schedule  

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement  

EXHIBIT 11  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  

PRIMARY EARNINGS PER SHARE AND FULLY DILUTED EARNIN GS PER SHARE  
 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 
                                              Year Ended 
                               -------------------- -----------------  
                               December 30, Decembe r 31,  January 1,  
                                  1995         1994          1994 
                                ---------    ------ ---    -------- 
 
Net income available 
  to common shares and 
  common share equivalents       $15,502      $18,5 56     $16,485 
                                 =======      ===== ==     ======= 
 
Shares outstanding, 
  beginning of period              6,199        6,2 31       6,188 
 
Weighted average of options 
  issued during the period           -             19           3 
 
Dilutive effect of options 
  outstanding during the 
   period                            364          3 37         333 
 
Weighted average of common 
  shares issued during 
   the period                         35           53          28 
 
Weighted average common 
  shares repurchased during 
  the period                         -           (1 03)        - 
                                 -------      ----- --     ------- 
 



 
EXHIBIT 21  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT  
 

 

Franklin Electric Foreign Sales  
Corporation U.S. Virgin Islands 100  

Motores Franklin S.A. de C.V. Mexico 100  

EXHIBIT 23  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. on Form S-8 (file numbers 33-35958, 
33-35960, 33-35962 and 33-38200) of our report dated January 31, 1996 appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Franklin Electric 
Co., Inc. for the year ended December 30, 1995.  

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP  

Weighted average primary 
  shares outstanding during 
  the period                       6,598        6,5 37       6,552 
 
Additional dilutive effect 
  of options outstanding 
  during the period                   16           27          33 
                                 -------      ----- --     ------- 
 
Weighted average fully 
  diluted shares outstanding 
  during the period                6,614        6,5 64       6,585 
                                   =====        === ==       ===== 
 
Earnings per share 
  Primary                          $2.35        $2. 84       $2.52 
                                   =====        === ==       ===== 
 
  Fully diluted                    $2.34        $2. 83       $2.50 
                                   =====        === ==       ===== 

                                                           Percent of  
                                       State or cou ntry      voting 
                                       of incorpora tion   stock owned  
                                       ------------ ----   -----------  
Subsidiaries consolidated: 
 
  FE Petro, Inc.                            Indiana              100 
 
  Oil Dynamics, Inc.                        Oklahom a             97 
 
  Franklin Electric Subsidiaries, Inc. 
    [inactive]                              Indiana              100 
 
  Franklin Electric International, Inc.     Delawar e            100 
 
  Franklin Electric AG                      Switzer land         100 
 
  Franklin Electric B.V.                    Netherl ands         100 
 
  Franklin Electric Europa, GmbH            Germany              100 
 
  Franklin Electric spol s.r.o.             Czech R epublic      100 
 
  Franklin Electric S.r.l.                  Italy               100 
 
  Franklin Electric (Australia) Pty. Ltd.   Austral ia           100 
 
  Franklin Electric (South Africa) 
    Pty. Limited                            South A frica        100 
 
  Franklin Electric of Canada, Limited 
    [inactive]                              Canada              100 



Deloitte & Touche LLP  
Chicago, Illinois  
March 6, 1996  



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT is entered into this 26th day of September, 1995 between FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC., 
("Franklin") an Indiana corporation, and Jess Ford (the "Executive").  
WHEREAS, Executive is employed as Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of Franklin; Franklin desires to assure the benefit of Executive's 
future services; and Executive is willing to commit to render such services, upon the terms and conditions set forth below; NOW 
THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto hereby agree as 
follows:  
1. EMPLOYMENT. Franklin agrees to employ Executive in an executive capacity, and Executive agrees to serve Franklin in such capacity, 
upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth until his employment is terminated in accordance with Paragraph 2 hereof.  
2. TERMINATION. Either Executive or Franklin may terminate Executive's employment with Franklin at any time upon at least 90-days' 
advance written notice, except that a termination for Good Cause may become effective immediately upon notice.  
3. COMPENSATION. Franklin shall pay or provide Executive with the following, and Executive shall accept the same, as compensation for 
the performance of his undertakings and the services to be rendered by him under this Agreement:  
(a) A fixed salary of $160,000 per annum, or such higher amount as the Board of Directors of Franklin may from time to time authorize (which 
amount shall not be reduced without Executive's written consent), payable in equal monthly installments;  
(b) Such bonus as may be allocated to Executive by the Compensation Committee of Franklin's Board of Directors pursuant to the Franklin 
Officer Bonus Plan, but not less than $10,000 for the 1995 and $50,000 for the 1996 fiscal years ending December 30, 1995 and December 31, 
1996, respectively.  
(c) Participation in Franklin's Stock Option Plans, as long as such plans remain in effect, and in any future compensation plans covering 
executives of comparable rank.  
(d) Participation in Franklin's employee benefit plans, policies, practices and arrangements in which Executive is presently eligible to 
participate as long as such plans, policies, practices and arrangements remain in effect, and in any future employee benefit plans and 
arrangements covering executives of comparable rank, including without limitation any defined benefit retirement plan, excess plan, profit 
sharing plan, health or dental plan, disability plan, survivor income plan, or life insurance plan (collectively, the "Benefit Plans").  
(e) Paid vacations and sick leave in accordance with Franklin's policies respecting same as in effect from time to time.  
(f) All fringe benefits and perquisites offered by Franklin from time to time to executives of comparable rank.  
4. EXPENSES. Franklin shall promptly pay or reimburse Executive for all reasonable expenses incurred by Executive in the performance of 
duties hereunder.  
5. CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT. During the term of this agreement, Franklin will continue to employ Executive, and Executive will 
continue to serve Franklin, as its Chief Financial Officer and Secretary, with duties and responsibilities substantially equivalent to those in 
effect. Executive shall be furnished office space, assistance and accommodations suitable to the character of his position with Franklin and 
adequate for performance of his duties. Executive's services shall be performed at Franklin's principal executive office in Bluffton, Indiana, 
except when the nature of Executive's duties hereunder require reasonable domestic and foreign travel from time to time.  
6. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. In the event Executive's employment with Franklin is terminated pursuant to Paragraph 2, he shall 
be entitled to receive compensation for the year of termination and for subsequent periods, if any, as hereinafter set forth:  
(a) If Executive's employment is terminated by Executive without Good Reason or by Franklin With Good Cause  
(i) the effective date of the termination shall be the date specified in the notice referred to in Paragraph 2, or such earlier date after the date of 
such notice as Franklin may elect, or, if applicable, the date of the Executive's death,  
(ii) Executive's compensation under (a) and (b) of Paragraph 3 shall be limited to a pro-rata portion of his basic compensation for the year of 
termination, and (iii) Executive shall continue to be provided with the benefits under (c), (d), (e) and (f) of Paragraph 3 until the effective date 
of the termination;  
(b) If Franklin shall terminate Executive's employment with Franklin without Good Cause, or Executive shall voluntarily terminate such 
employment during the Employment Period with Good Reason, (i) the effective date of termination shall be the date specified in Paragraph 2 or 
such earlier date after the date of such notice as Executive may elect, (ii) Executive's compensation under (a) and (b) of Paragraph 3 for the 
portion of the year of termination prior to the effective date of termination shall be a pro- rata portion of his basic compensation for such year, 
together with a bonus equal to not less than a pro-rata portion of his bonus paid or payable for the year prior to the year of termination, (iii) 
Executive shall receive as compensation for the severance period described below an additional amount computed by annualizing the 
compensation which he is to receive pursuant to clause (ii) above, which shall be payable in the same manner as if his employment had not 
terminated except that any bonus payable in the year following the year of termination for a portion of the prior year shall be paid not later than 
30 days after the end of the year to which the bonus relates, (iv) Executive shall continue to be provided with the benefits under (c), (d),  
(e) and (f) of Paragraph 3 for the severance period described below, and (v) any stock options granted to Executive by Franklin shall be 
accelerated and become immediately exercisable in full on the effective date of termination, subject to any limitations on the order of exercise 
which are specifically applicable, and shall, subject to Subsection (c) hereof, remain exercisable for such period after the effective date of 
termination as is provided under the terms of the options and the plans pursuant to which they were issued. The severance period shall be the 
period beginning on the date of termination and ending on the earlier of (A) the date which is twelve months after the date of termination, or 
(B) the date on which Executive would attain his normal retirement age (as defined in the Franklin Electric Co., Inc. Basic Retirement Plan).  
(c) If within one (1) year after a Change in Control (as defined below), (i) Franklin shall terminate Executive's employment with Franklin 
without Good Cause (as defined below), or (ii) Executive shall voluntarily terminate such employment with Good Reason (as defined below), 
Franklin shall, within 30 days of the termination of Executive's employment with Franklin, (A) make a lump sum cash payment to him equal to 
an amount of Executive's Salary as would be payable to Executive for the lesser of two years and the period of time from the date of 
termination to the date the Executive attains his normal retirement age (as defined in the Franklin Electric Co., Inc. Basic Retirement Plan), and 
(B) in settlement of the options described in Subsection (b), make a lump sum cash payment to him equal to the difference between the 
aggregate fair market value of the stock subject to such options as of the date of such termination and the aggregate exercise price thereof. For 
purposes of this Section 1, "Salary" shall mean the greater of (a) Executive's salary rate in effect on the date of the Change in Control or (b) 
Executive's salary rate in effect on the date his employment with Franklin terminates. Also in such event, Executive shall, following his 
termination of employment, for the period of time used to calculate the amount of Salary payable pursuant to clause (ii) (A) of this Subsection 



(c), continue to be provided with the benefits under (c), (d), (e) and (f) of Paragraph 3. Franklin agrees that (y) Executive shall not be required 
to mitigate his damages by seeking other employment or otherwise, and (z) Franklin's obligations hereunder shall not be reduced in any way by 
reason of any compensation received by Executive from sources other than Franklin after the termination of Executive's employment with 
Franklin.  
(d) In the event that Executive is subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 with respect to any cash, 
benefits or other property received in the event of a Change of Control, Franklin shall reimburse Executive for (i) the Federal excise taxes 
imposed under Section 4999, (ii) any interest, penalties and additions to Federal income tax which are imposed on Executive with respect to 
any period ending before the date on which Franklin remits to Executive or the Internal Revenue Service the amount necessary to satisfy 
Executive's federal tax liability under Section 4999 and which are owed by Executive as a result of the imposition of such excise tax, and (iii) 
any Federal income and excise taxes payable by Executive as a result of the reimbursement described in  
(i) and (ii) above.  
(e) For purposes of this section 6:  
(1) "Good Cause" shall mean (A) Executive's death or disability, (B) Executive's fraud, (C) Executive's misappropriation of, or intentional 
material damage to, the property or business of Franklin, or (D) Executive's commission of a felony.  
(2) "Good Reason" shall exist if (A) there is a significant change in the nature or the scope of Executive's authority, (B) there is a reduction in 
Executive's basic compensation, (C) Franklin changes the principal location in which Executive is required to perform services, or (D) there is 
a reasonable determination by Executive that, as a result of a change in circumstances significantly affecting his position, he is unable to 
exercise the authority, powers, function or duties attached to his position.  
(3) "Change in control" shall be deemed to have taken place if (A) a third person, including a "group" as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and excluding any person who, as of the date of this Agreement, is the beneficial owner of shares of Franklin 
stock representing 20% or more of the total number of votes that may be cast for the election of Directors, becomes the beneficial owner of 
shares of Franklin stock representing 20% or more of the total number of votes that may be cast for the election of Directors, or (B) as the 
result of, or in connection with, any cash tender or exchange offer, merger or other business combination, sale of assets or contested election, or 
any combination of the foregoing transactions, the persons who immediately prior thereto were directors of Franklin cease to constitute a 
majority of the Board of Directors of Franklin. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, a Change of Control shall not be deemed to occur by 
virtue of any transaction in which Executive is a participant in a group effecting an acquisition of Franklin if Executive holds an equity interest 
in the entity acquiring Franklin at the time of such acquisition.  
7. DISCLOSURE OF CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. Without the consent of Franklin, Executive shall not at any time divulge, furnish or 
make accessible to anyone (other than in the regular course of business of Franklin) any knowledge or information with respect to confidential 
or secret processes, inventions, formulae, machinery, plan, devices or materials of Franklin or with respect to any confidential or secret 
engineering development or research work of Franklin or with respect to any other confidential or secret aspect of the business of Franklin. 
Executive recognizes that irreparable injury will result to Franklin and its business and properties, in the event of any breach by Executive of 
any of the provisions of this section. In the event of any breach of any of the commitments of Executive pursuant to this section, Franklin shall 
be entitled, in addition to any other remedies and damages available, to injunctive relief to restrain the violation of such commitments by 
Executive or by any person or persons acting for or with Executive in any capacity whatsoever.  
8. LITIGATION EXPENSES. Franklin shall pay to Executive all out-of-pocket expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by Executive in 
connection with any claim or legal action or proceeding involving this Agreement, whether brought by Executive or by or on behalf of Franklin 
or by another party; provided, however, Franklin shall not be obligated to pay to Executive out-of-pocket expenses, including attorneys' fees, 
incurred by Executive in any claim or legal action or proceeding in which Franklin is a party adverse to Executive if Franklin prevails in such 
litigation. Franklin shall pay prejudgment interest on any money judgment obtained by Executive, calculated at the published prime interest 
rate charged by Franklin's principal banking connection, as in effect from time to time, from the date that payment(s) to him should have been 
made under this Agreement.  
9. POST TERMINATION PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS ABSOLUTE. Franklin's obligation to pay Executive the compensation and to make 
the other arrangements provided herein to be paid and made after termination of Executive's employment with Franklin shall be absolute and 
unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstances, including, without limitation, any set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or 
other right that Franklin may have against him or anyone else. All amounts so payable by Franklin shall be paid without notice or demand. 
Each and every such payment made by Franklin shall be final and Franklin will not seek to recover all or any part of such payment from 
Executive or from whomsoever may be entitled thereto, for any reason whatsoever.  
10. NOTICES. Notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when received and if mailed shall be 
mailed by United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressee only, postage prepaid. Notice to Franklin shall be 
addressed to Franklin Electric Co., Inc. at 400 East Spring Street, Bluffton, Indiana 46714. Notices to Executive shall be addressed to the 
Executive at his last permanent address as shown on Franklin's records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if either party shall have previously 
designated a different address by notice to the other party given in the foregoing manner, then notices to such party shall be addressed as 
designated until the designation is revoked by notice given in such manner.  
11. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof 
and cannot be amended, modified or supplemented in any respect, except by a subsequent written agreement entered into by both parties 
hereto.  
12. SUCCESSORS. This Agreement may not be assigned by Franklin except in connection with a merger involving Franklin or a sale of 
substantially all of its assets, and the obligations of Franklin provided for in this Agreement shall be the binding legal obligations of any 
successor to Franklin by purchase (if such successor assumes this Agreement), merger, consolidation, or otherwise. This Agreement may not be 
assigned by Executive during his life, and upon his death will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of his heirs, legatees and the legal 
representatives of his estate.  
13. WAIVER, MODIFICATION AND INTERPRETATION. No provisions of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless 
such waiver, modification or discharge is agreed to in a writing signed by Executive and an appropriate officer of Franklin empowered to sign 
the same by the Board. No waiver by either party at any time of any breach by the other party of, or compliance with, any condition or 
provision of this Agreement to be performed by the other party shall be deemed a waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the 
same time or at any prior or subsequent time. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by 
the laws of the State of Indiana. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or 



enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement.  
14. WITHHOLDING. Franklin may withhold from any payment that it is required to make under this Agreement amounts sufficient to satisfy 
applicable withholding requirements under any federal, state, or local law.  
15. HEADLINES. The headings contained herein are for reference purposes only and shall not in any way affect the meaning or interpretation 
of any provision of this Agreement. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year first 
written above.  
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                                          CREDIT AG REEMENT 
 
          AGREEMENT dated as of January 5, 1996 amo ng FRANKLIN 
ELECTRIC CO., INC., the BANKS listed on the signatu re pages hereof and WACHOVIA BANK OF 
GEORGIA, N.A., as Agent. 
 
          The parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
                                             ARTICL E I 
 
                                            DEFINIT IONS 
 
     SECTION 1.01.  Definitions. The terms as defin ed in this Section 1.01 shall, for all 
purposes of this Agreement and any amendment hereto  (except as herein otherwise expressly 
provided or unless the context otherwise requires),  have the meanings set forth herein: 
 
          "Additional Borrower" means any Wholly Ow ned Subsidiary that becomes an Additional 
Borrower for purposes of this Agreement pursuant to  Section 2.13. 
 
          "Adjusted IBOR Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(d). 
 
          "Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 
2.05(c). 
 
          "Affiliate" of any Person means (i) any o ther Person which directly, or indirectly 
through one or more intermediaries, controls such P erson, or (ii) any other Person which 
directly, or indirectly through one or more interme diaries, is controlled by or is under 
common control with such Person.  As used herein, t he term "control" 
means possession, directly or indirectly, of the po wer to direct or cause the direction of the  
management or policies of a Person, whether through  the ownership of voting securities, by 



contract or otherwise. 
 
          "Agent" means Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N .A., a national banking 
association organized under the laws of the United States of America, in its capacity 
as agent for the Banks hereunder, and its successor s and permitted assigns in such 
capacity. 
 
          "Agent's Letter Agreement" means that cer tain letter agreement, dated 
as of November 2, 1995, between Franklin Electric a nd the Agent relating to the 
structure of the Loans, and certain fees from time to time payable by Franklin 
Electric to the Agent, together with all amendments  and modifications thereto. 
 
          "Agreement" means this Credit Agreement, together with all 
amendments and supplements hereto. 
 
          "Applicable Facility Fee Rate" has the me aning set forth in Section 
2.06(a). 
 
          "Applicable Margin" has the meaning set f orth in Section 2.05(a). 
 
          "Assignee" has the meaning set forth in S ection 9.07(c). 
 
          "Assignment and Acceptance" means an Assi gnment and Acceptance 
executed in accordance with Section 9.07(c) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
K. 
 
          "Authority" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.02. 
 
          "Bank" means each bank listed on the sign ature pages hereof as 
having a Commitment, and its successors and permitt ed assigns. 
 
          "Base Rate" means for any Base Rate Loan for any day, the rate per 
annum equal to the higher as of such day of (i) the  Prime Rate, and (ii) one-half of 
one percent above the Federal Funds Rate for such d ay.  For purposes of 
determining the Base Rate for any day, changes in t he Prime Rate and the Federal 
Funds Rate shall be effective on the date of each s uch change. 
 
          "Base Rate Loan" means a Loan which bears  or is to bear interest at a 
rate based upon the Base Rate. 
 
          "Borrower" means any of Franklin Electric  and the Additional 
Borrowers (if any); provided that the status of any  such Person (except Franklin 
Electric) as a Borrower hereunder shall terminate w hen the Agent (i) receives an 
Election to Terminate with respect to such Person, duly executed on behalf of 
Franklin Electric, and (ii) confirms to its satisfa ction that the representations and 
warranties of Franklin Electric set forth in such E lection to Terminate are true. 
 
          "Borrowing" means a borrowing hereunder c onsisting of Loans made 
to the same Borrower at the same time by the Banks,   pursuant to Article II.   A 
Borrowing is a "Dollar Borrowing" if such Loans are  Dollar Loans or a "Foreign 
Currency Borrowing" if such Loans are Foreign Curre ncy Loans.  A Dollar Borrowing 
is a "Base Rate Borrowing" if such Loans are Base R ate Loans or a "Euro-Dollar 
Borrowing" if such Loans are Euro-Dollar Loans. 
 
          "Capital Expenditures" means, for any per iod, the sum of all capital 
expenditures incurred during such period by Frankli n Electric and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries, as determined in accordance with GAAP . 
 
          "Capitalized Lease Obligations" means any  rental obligation which, 
under GAAP, is or will be required to be capitalize d on the books of Franklin Electric 
or any Subsidiary, taken at the amount thereof acco unted for as indebtedness (net of 
interest expenses) in accordance with GAAP. 
 
          "Capital Stock" means any nonredeemable c apital stock of Franklin 
Electric or any Consolidated Subsidiary (to the ext ent issued to a Person other than 
Franklin Electric), whether common or preferred. 
 
          "CERCLA" means the Comprehensive Environm ental Response 
Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C.  9601 et seq. and its implementing 
regulations and amendments. 
          "CERCLIS" means the Comprehensive Environ mental Response 
Compensation and Liability Inventory System establi shed pursuant to CERCLA. 

          "Change of Law" shall have the meaning se t forth in Section 8.02. 
 
          "Closing Certificate" has the meaning set  forth in Section 3.01(e). 
 
 
          "Closing Date" means January 5, 1996. 
 
          "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of  1986, as amended, or 
any successor Federal tax code.  Any reference to a ny provision of the Code shall 



also be deemed to be a reference to any successor p rovision or provisions thereof. 
 
          "Commitment" means, with respect to each Bank, (i) the amount set 
forth opposite the name of such Bank on the signatu re pages hereof, or (ii) as to any 
Bank which enters into an Assignment and Acceptance  (whether as transferor Bank 
or as Assignee thereunder), the amount of such Bank 's Commitment after giving 
effect to such Assignment and Acceptance, in each c ase as such amount may be 
reduced from time to time pursuant to Sections 2.07  and 2.08. 
 
          "Compliance Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(c). 
 
           "Consolidated Current Assets" and "Conso lidated Current Liabilities" 
means at any date of determination the consolidated  current assets and 
consolidated current liabilities of Franklin Electr ic and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, 
each determined in accordance with GAAP. 
 
          "Consolidated Fixed Charges" means, for a ny period, the sum of (i) 
Consolidated Interest Expense for such period, and (ii) Depreciation for such period. 
 
          "Consolidated Interest Expense" means, fo r any period, interest 
expense in respect of Indebtedness of Franklin Elec tric or any of its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries outstanding during such period, determ ined on a consolidated basis as 
of such date in accordance with GAAP. 
 
          "Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period, the net income, 
after taxes, of  Franklin Electric and its Consolid ated Subsidiaries, determined on a 
consolidated basis for such period in accordance wi th GAAP, but excluding 
extraordinary and other non-recurring items. 
 
          "Consolidated Net Worth" means the sum of  (i) the par value (or value 
stated on the books of Franklin Electric) of the ca pital stock of all classes of Franklin 
Electric, plus (or minus in the case of a surplus d eficit) (ii) the amount of the 
consolidated surplus, whether capital or earned, of  Franklin Electric and its 
Subsidiaries after subtracting therefrom the aggreg ate of treasury stock and any 
other contra-equity accounts including, without lim itation, minority interests, all 
determined in accordance with GAAP. 
 
          "Consolidated Operating Profits" means, f or any period, the operating 
income of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Su bsidiaries for such period, 
determined on a consolidated basis in accordance wi th GAAP. 
          "Consolidated Subsidiary" means at any da te any Subsidiary or other 
entity the accounts of which, in accordance with GA AP, are consolidated with those 
of Franklin Electric in its consolidated financial statements as of such date. 
 
          "Consolidated Tangible Capitalization" me ans the sum of Consolidated 
Tangible Net Worth and Debt. 
 
          "Consolidated Tangible Net Worth" means ( i) Consolidated Net Worth 
less (ii) intangible and similar assets in excess o f $5,630,000 plus (iii) an amount 
equal to 75% of Franklin Electric's LIFO reserve. 
 
          "Consolidated Tangible Test Capitalizatio n" means the sum of 
Consolidated Tangible Net Worth and Funded Debt. 
 
          "Consolidated Total Assets" means, at any  time, the total assets of 
Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries , determined on a consolidated 
basis, as set forth or reflected on the most recent  consolidated balance sheet of 
Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries , prepared in accordance with 
GAAP. 
 
          "Controlled Group" means all members of a  controlled group of 
corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under 
common control which, together with Franklin Electr ic, are treated as a single 
employer under Section 414 of the Code. 
 
          "Current Debt" means, with respect to any  Person, all Indebtedness of 
such Person for borrowed money which by its terms o r by the terms of any 
instrument or agreement relating thereto matures on  demand or within 1 year from 
the date of the creation thereof. 
 
          "Current Maturities" means all payments i n respect of Long-Term Debt 
that are required to be made by Franklin Electric o r any Consolidated Subsidiary 
within 1 year from the date of determination, wheth er or not the obligation to make 
such payments would constitute a current liability of Franklin Electric or such 
Consolidated Subsidiary under GAAP. 
 
          "Current Obligations" means, for any peri od, the sum of (i) 
Consolidated Interest Expense for such period and ( ii) Current Maturities for such 
period. 
 
          "Debt" means Current Debt of Franklin Ele ctric and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in  accordance with GAAP, and 



Funded Debt of Franklin Electric and its Consolidat ed Subsidiaries, determined on a 
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP. 
 
          "Default" means any condition or event wh ich constitutes an Event of 
Default or which with the giving of notice or lapse  of time or both would, unless cured 
or waived in writing, become an Event of Default. 
 
          "Default Rate" means, with respect to any  Loan, on any day, the sum 
of 2% plus the then highest interest rate (includin g the Applicable Margin) which may 
be applicable to any Loans hereunder (irrespective of whether any such type of 
Loans are actually outstanding hereunder). 
          "Depreciation" means, for any period, the  sum of all depreciation and 
amortization expenses of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such 
period, as determined on a consolidated basis in ac cordance with GAAP. 
 
          "Dollar Equivalent" means the Dollar equi valent of the amount of a 
Foreign Currency Loan or Foreign Currency Borrowing , as the case may be, 
determined by the Agent on the basis of its spot ra te for the purchase of the 
appropriate Foreign Currency with Dollars. 
 
          "Dollar Loans" means Loans made in Dollar s by all of the Banks at the 
same time pursuant to Section 2.01, which may be ei ther a Base Rate Loan or a 
Euro-Dollar Loan. 
 
          "Dollar Notes" means promissory notes of each of the Borrowers, 
substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, evid encing the obligation of the 
Borrowers to repay the Dollar Loans, together with all amendments, consolidations, 
modifications, renewals and supplements thereto. 
 
          "Dollars" or "$" means dollars in lawful currency of the United States of 
America. 
 
          "Domestic Business Day" means any day exc ept a Saturday, Sunday 
or other day on which commercial banks in Georgia o r Illinois are authorized or 
required by law to close. 
 
          "Election to Participate" means an Electi on to Participate substantially 
in the form of Exhibit F hereto. 
 
          "Election to Terminate" means an Election  to Terminate substantially 
in the form of Exhibit G hereto. 
 
          "Environmental Authority" means any forei gn, federal, state, local or 
regional government that exercises any form of juri sdiction or authority under any 
Environmental Requirement. 
 
          "Environmental Authorizations" means all licenses, permits, orders, 
approvals, notices, registrations or other legal pr erequisites for conducting the 
business of Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary req uired by any Environmental 
Requirement. 
 
          "Environmental Judgments and Orders" mean s all judgments, decrees 
or orders arising from or in any way associated wit h any Environmental 
Requirements, whether or not entered upon consent o r written agreements with an 
Environmental Authority or other entity arising fro m or in any way associated with 
any Environmental Requirement. 
 
          "Environmental Liabilities" means any lia bilities, whether accrued, 
contingent or otherwise, arising from and in any wa y associated with any 
Environmental Requirements. 
 
          "Environmental Notices" means notice from  any Environmental 
Authority or by any other person or entity, of poss ible or alleged noncompliance with 
or liability under any Environmental Requirement, i ncluding without limitation any 
complaints, citations, demands or requests from any  Environmental Authority or from 
any other person or entity for correction of any vi olation of any Environmental 
Requirement or any investigations concerning any vi olation of any Environmental 
Requirement. 
 
          "Environmental Proceedings" means any jud icial or administrative 
proceedings arising from or in any way associated w ith any Environmental 
Requirement. 
 
          "Environmental Releases" means releases a s defined in CERCLA or 
under any applicable state or local environmental l aw or regulation. 
 
          "Environmental Requirements" means any le gal requirement relating 
to health, safety or the environment and applicable  to Franklin Electric, any 
Subsidiary or the Properties, including but not lim ited to any such requirement under 
CERCLA or similar state legislation and all federal , state and local laws, ordinances, 
regulations, orders, writs, decrees and common law.  
 



          "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Inc ome Security Act of 
1974, as amended from time to time, or any successo r law.  Any reference to any 
provision of ERISA shall also be deemed to be a ref erence to any successor 
provision or provisions thereof. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Business Day" means any Dome stic Business Day on 
which dealings in Dollar deposits are carried out i n the London interbank market. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Loan" means a Loan which bea rs or is to bear interest at 
a rate based upon the London Interbank Offered Rate . 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" has the meaning set forth in 
Section 2.05(c). 
 
          "Event of Default" has the meaning set fo rth in Section 6.01. 
 
          "Facility Fee Determination Date" has the  meaning set forth in Section 
2.06(a). 
          "Facility Fee Payment Date" means each Ma rch 31, June 30, 
September 30 and December 31. 
 
          "Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum 
(rounded upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1 /100th of 1%) equal to the 
weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members 
of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal f unds brokers on such day, as 
published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York o n the Domestic Business Day 
next succeeding such day, provided that (i) if the day for which such rate is to be 
determined is not a Domestic Business Day, the Fede ral Funds Rate for such day 
shall be such rate on such transactions on the next  preceding Domestic Business 
Day as so published on the next succeeding Domestic  Business Day, and (ii) if such 
rate is not so published for any day, the Federal F unds Rate for such day shall be 
the average rate charged to Wachovia on such day on  such transactions as 
determined by the Agent. 

          "Fiscal Quarter" means any fiscal quarter  of Franklin Electric. 
 
          "Fiscal Year" means any fiscal year of Fr anklin Electric. 
 
          "Fixed Rate Borrowing" means a Euro-Dolla r Borrowing or a Foreign 
Currency Borrowing. 
 
          "Fixed Rate Loans" means Euro-Dollar Loan s or Foreign Currency 
Loans, or any or all of them, as the context shall require. 
 
          "Foreign Currencies" means, individually and collectively, as the 
context shall require: (i) Federal Republic of Germ any deutsche marks; or (ii) 
Australian dollars, (iii) Italian lira, or (iv) any  other currency which is freely 
transferrable and convertible into Dollars; provide d, however, that no such other 
currency under this clause (iv) shall be included a s a Foreign Currency hereunder, or 
included in a Notice of Borrowing, unless (x) Frank lin Electric has first submitted a 
request to the Agent that it be so included; and (y ) the Agent, in its sole discretion, 
has agreed to such request. 
 
          "Foreign Currency Business Day" shall mea n any Domestic Business 
Day, excluding one on which trading is not carried on by and between banks in 
deposits of the applicable Foreign Currency in the applicable interbank market for 
such Foreign Currency. 
 
          "Foreign Currency Loans" means Loans made  in a Foreign Currency 
by all of the Banks at the same time pursuant to Se ction 2.01(a). 
 
          "Foreign Currency Notes" means promissory  notes of each of the 
Borrowers, substantially in the form of Exhibit B h ereto, evidencing the obligation of 
the Borrowers to repay the Foreign Currency Loans, together with all amendments, 
consolidations, modifications, renewals and supplem ents thereto. 
 
          "Franklin Electric" means Franklin Electr ic Co., Inc., an Indiana 
corporation, and its successors and permitted assig ns. 
 
          "Funded Debt" means, with respect to any Person, as of any time of 
determination thereof and without duplication, the sum of (i) any obligation payable 
more than 1 year from the date of creation thereof,  including all payments thereof 
required to be made within 1 year (including Capita lized Lease Obligations but 
excluding reserves for deferred compensation, defer red income taxes and other 
reserves to the extent such reserves do not constit ute an obligation), (ii) 
Indebtedness secured by a Lien on property and (iii ) Guarantees of financial 
obligations referred to in clause (i) of this defin ition. 
 
          "GAAP" means generally accepted accountin g principles applied on a 
basis consistent with those which, in accordance wi th Section 1.02, are to be used in 
making the calculations for purposes of determining  compliance with the terms of 
this Agreement. 



 
          "Guarantee" by any Person means any oblig ation, contingent or 
otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly gu aranteeing any Indebtedness or 
other obligation of any other Person and, without l imiting the generality of the 
foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, cont ingent or otherwise, of such Person 
(i) to secure, purchase or pay (or advance or suppl y funds for the purchase or 
payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation ( whether arising by virtue of 
partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well , to purchase assets, goods, 
securities or services, to provide collateral secur ity, to take-or-pay, or to maintain 
financial statement conditions or otherwise) or (ii ) entered into for the purpose of 
assuring in any other manner the obligee of such In debtedness or other obligation of 
the payment thereof or to protect such obligee agai nst loss in respect thereof (in 
whole or in part), provided that the term Guarantee  shall not include endorsements 
for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of  business.  The term "Guarantee" 
used as a verb has a corresponding meaning. 
 
          "Guaranty Agreement" means that certain G uaranty Agreement of 
even date herewith executed by ODI for the benefit of the Agent and the Banks, 
guaranteeing the obligations of the Borrowers (othe r than ODI) under this Agreement 
and the other Loan Documents to which the Borrowers  (other than ODI) are parties. 
 
          "Hazardous Materials" includes, without l imitation, (a) solid or 
hazardous waste, as defined in the Resource Conserv ation and Recovery Act of 
1980, 42 U.S.C.  6901 et seq. and its implementing regulations and amendments, or 
in any applicable state or local law or regulation,  (b) any "hazardous substance", 
"pollutant" or "contaminant", as defined in CERCLA,  or in any applicable state or 
local law or regulation, (c) gasoline, or any other  petroleum product or by-product, 
including crude oil or any fraction thereof, (d) to xic substances, as defined in the 
Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, or in any app licable state or local law or 
regulation and (e) insecticides, fungicides, or rod enticides, as defined in the Federal 
Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act of 1975 , or in any applicable state or 
local law or regulation, as each such Act, statute or regulation may be amended from 
time to time. 
 
          "IBOR" has the meaning set forth in Secti on 2.05(d). 
 
          "Income Available for Fixed Charges" for any period means (a) the 
sum of (i) Consolidated Net Income, (ii) tax expens e and (iii) Consolidated Fixed 
Charges, minus 
(b) Capital Expenditures, all determined with respe ct to Franklin Electric and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis f or such period and in accordance 
with GAAP. 
 
          "Indebtedness" of any Person means at any  date, without duplication, 
(i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed mon ey, (ii) all obligations of such 
Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or oth er similar instruments, (iii) all 
obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purc hase price of property or 
services, except trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of business, 
(iv) all Capitalized Lease Obligations,  (v) all ob ligations of such Person to reimburse 
any bank or other Person in respect of amounts paya ble under a banker's 
acceptance, (vi) all Redeemable Preferred Stock of such Person (in the event such 
Person is a corporation), (vii) all obligations (ab solute or contingent) of such Person 
to reimburse any bank or other Person in respect of  amounts paid under a letter of 
credit or similar instrument, (viii) all Indebtedne ss of others secured by a Lien on any 
asset of such Person, whether or not such Indebtedn ess is assumed by such 
Person, and (ix) all Indebtedness of others Guarant eed by such Person. 
 
          "Interest Period" means:  (1) with respec t to each Euro-Dollar 
Borrowing and Foreign Currency Borrowing, the perio d commencing on the date of 
such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corres ponding day in the first, 
second, third or sixth month thereafter, as the rel evant Borrower may elect in the 
applicable Notice of Borrowing; provided that: 
 
          (a)  any Interest Period (subject to clau se (c) below) which would 
     otherwise end on a day which is not a Euro-Dol lar Business Day or a Foreign 
     Currency Business Day, as the case may be, sha ll be extended to the next 
     succeeding Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign  Currency Business Day, as 
     the case may be, unless such Euro-Dollar Busin ess Day or  Foreign Currency 
     Business Day, as the case may be, falls in ano ther calendar month, in which 
     case such Interest Period shall end on the nex t preceding Euro-Dollar 
     Business Day or  Foreign Currency Business Day , as the case may be; 
 
          (b)  any Interest Period which begins on the last Euro-Dollar Business 
     Day or  Foreign Currency Business Day, as the case may be, of a calendar 
     month (or on a day for which there is no numer ically corresponding day in the 
     appropriate subsequent calendar month) shall, subject to clause (c) below, 
     end on the last Euro-Dollar Business Day or Fo reign Currency Business Day, 
     as the case may be, of the appropriate subsequ ent calendar month; and 
 
          (c) no Interest Period may be selected wh ich would end after the 
     Termination Date; and 
 



(2)  with respect to each Base Rate Borrowing, the period commencing on the date 
of such Borrowing and ending 30 days thereafter; pr ovided that: 
 
          (a)  any Interest Period (subject to clau se (b) below) which would 
     otherwise end on a day which is not a Domestic  Business Day shall be 
     extended to the next succeeding Domestic Busin ess Day; and 
 
          (b) no Interest Period may be selected wh ich would end after the 
     Termination Date. 
 
          "Investment" means any investment in any Person, whether by means 
of purchase or acquisition of obligations or securi ties of such Person, capital 
contribution to such Person, loan or advance to suc h Person, making of a time 
deposit with such Person or assumption of any oblig ation of such Person or 
otherwise. 
 
          "Lending Office" means, as to each Bank, its office located at its 
address set forth on the signature pages hereof (or  identified on the signature pages 
hereof as its Lending Office) or such other office as such Bank may hereafter 
designate as its Lending Office by notice to Frankl in Electric and the Agent.  Each 
Bank may designate a Lending Office for Dollar Loan s and a different Lending Office 
for Foreign Currency Loans and the term "Lending Of fice" shall in such case mean 
either such Lending Office, as the context shall re quire. 
 
          "Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, deed to secure 
debt, deed of trust, lien, pledge, charge, security  interest, preferential arrangement 
which has the practical effect of constituting a se curity interest or encumbrance, or 
encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset to  secure or assure payment of 
any Indebtedness or a Guarantee, whether by consens ual agreement or by 
operation of statute or other law, or by any agreem ent, contingent or otherwise, to 
provide any of the foregoing.  For the purposes of this Agreement, Franklin Electric 
or any Subsidiary shall be deemed to own subject to  a Lien any asset which it has 
acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vend or or lessor under any conditional 
sale agreement, capital lease or other title retent ion agreement relating to such 
asset. 
 
          "Loan" means a Base Rate Loan, a Euro-Dol lar Loan or a Foreign 
Currency Loan and "Loans" means Base Rate Loans, Eu ro-Dollar Loans or Foreign 
Currency Loans, or any or all of them, as the conte xt shall require. 
 
          "Loan Documents" means this Agreement, th e Notes, the Guaranty 
Agreement, any other document evidencing, relating to or securing the Loans, and 
any other document or instrument delivered from tim e to time in connection with this 
Agreement, the Notes or the Loans, as such document s and instruments may be 
amended or supplemented from time to time. 
 
          "London Interbank Offered Rate" has the m eaning set forth in Section 
2.05(c). 
 
          "Long-Term Debt" means at any date any In debtedness of Franklin 
Electric or any Consolidated Subsidiary determined on a consolidated basis as of 
such date in accordance with GAAP which matures (or  the maturity of which may at 
the option of Franklin Electric or any Consolidated  Subsidiary be extended such that 
it matures) more than 1 year after such date. 
 
          "Margin Stock" means "margin stock" as de fined in Regulation U of the 
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, a s in effect from time to time, 
together with all official rulings and interpretati ons issued thereunder. 
 
          "Material Adverse Effect" means, with res pect to any event, act, 
condition or occurrence of whatever nature (includi ng any adverse determination in 
any litigation, arbitration, or governmental invest igation or proceeding), whether 
singly or in conjunction with any other event or ev ents, act or acts, condition or 
conditions, occurrence or occurrences, whether or n ot related, a material adverse 
change in, or a material adverse effect upon, any o f (a) the financial condition, 
operations, business or properties of Franklin Elec tric and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the rights and r emedies of the Agent or the Banks 
under the Loan Documents, or the ability of a Borro wer to perform its obligations 
under the Loan Documents to which it is a party, as  applicable, or (c) the legality, 
validity or enforceability of any Loan Document. 

          "Material Subsidiary" means at any time a ny Subsidiary having total 
assets (determined in accordance with GAAP) in exce ss of $5,000,000. 
 
          "Multiemployer Plan" shall have the meani ng set forth in Section 
4001(a)(3) of ERISA. 
 
          "Note" means a Dollar Note or a Foreign C urrency Note and "Notes" 
means Dollar Notes or Foreign Currency Notes, or an y or all of them, as the context 
shall require. 
          "Notice of Borrowing" has the meaning set  forth in Section 2.02. 
 



          "ODI" means Oil Dynamics, Inc., an Oklaho ma corporation. 
 
          "Officer's Certificate" has the meaning s et forth in Section 3.01(f). 
 
          "Participant" has the meaning set forth i n Section 9.07(b). 
 
          "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty  Corporation or any 
entity succeeding to any or all of its functions un der ERISA. 
 
          "Person" means an individual, a corporati on, a partnership (including 
without limitation, a joint venture), an unincorpor ated association, a trust or any other 
entity or organization, including, but not limited to, a government or political 
subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof . 
 
          "Plan" means at any time an employee pens ion benefit plan which is 
covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the mini mum funding standards under 
Section 412 of the Code and is either (i) maintaine d by a member of the Controlled 
Group for employees of any member of the Controlled  Group or (ii) maintained 
pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or an y other arrangement under which 
more than one employer makes contributions and to w hich a member of the 
Controlled Group is then making or accruing an obli gation to make contributions or 
has within the preceding 5 plan years made contribu tions. 
 
          "Prime Rate" refers to that interest rate  so denominated and set by 
Wachovia from time to time as an interest rate basi s for borrowings.  The Prime 
Rate is but one of several interest rate bases used  by Wachovia.  Wachovia lends at 
interest rates above and below the Prime Rate. 
 
          "Properties" means all real property owne d or operated by Franklin 
Electric or any Subsidiary, wherever located. 
 
          "Rate Determination Date" has the meaning  set forth in Section 
2.05(a). 
 
          "Redeemable Preferred Stock" of any Perso n means any preferred 
stock issued by such Person which is at any time pr ior to the Termination Date either 
(i) mandatorily redeemable (by sinking fund or simi lar payments or otherwise) or (ii) 
redeemable at the option of the holder thereof. 
 
          "Required Banks" means at any time Banks having at least (i) 76% of 
the aggregate amount of the Commitments or, if the Commitments are no longer in 
effect, 76% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes (in the event 
that at such time there are 3 or more Banks party t o this Agreement) or (ii) 100% of 
the aggregate amount of the Commitments or, if the Commitments are no longer in 
effect, 100% of the aggregate outstanding principal  amount of the Notes (in the 
event that at such time there are fewer than 3 Bank s party to this Agreement). 
 
          "Responsible Officer" means any of the ch ief executive officer, chief 
operating officer, chief financial officer, chief a ccounting officer or treasurer of 
Franklin Electric or any other officer of Franklin Electric involved principally in its 
financial administration or its controllership func tion. 
 
          "Subsidiary" means any corporation or oth er entity of which securities 
or other ownership interests having ordinary voting  power to elect a majority of the 
board of directors or other persons performing simi lar functions are at the time 
directly or indirectly owned by Franklin Electric. 
 
          "Subsidiary Borrower" means any Borrower other than Franklin 
Electric. 
 
          "Subsidiary Guarantor" means any Subsidia ry which has (i) executed 
and delivered to the Agent a Subsidiary Guaranty, a nd (ii) caused to be executed 
and delivered to the Agent (A) an opinion of counse l (acceptable to the Agent and 
the Required Banks) to such Subsidiary in such form  and covering such matters 
relating to such Subsidiary and the Subsidiary Guar anty being executed and 
delivered by such Subsidiary as the Agent or any Ba nk may request, and (B) all 
documents which the Agent or any Bank may request r elating to the existence of 
such Subsidiary, the corporate authority for and th e validity of such Subsidiary 
Guaranty, and any other matters relevant thereto, a ll in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Agent and the Required Banks. 
 
          "Subsidiary Guaranty" means a guaranty ag reement executed by a 
Subsidiary Guarantor for the benefit of the Agent a nd the Banks in form and 
substance (i) substantially the same as the Guarant y Agreement (if such Subsidiary 
Guarantor is organized under one of the states of t he United States of America) or 
(ii) satisfactory to the Agent and the Required Ban ks (if such Subsidiary Guarantor is 
not organized under one of the states of the United  States of America), guaranteeing 
the obligations of the Borrowers (other than such S ubsidiary Guarantor) under this 
Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which the  Borrowers (other than such 
Subsidiary Guarantor) are parties. 
 
          "Taxes" has the meaning set forth in Sect ion 2.11(d). 



 
          "Termination Date" means January 5, 2001,  or such later date as may 
be determined from time to time pursuant to Section  2.04(b). 
 
          "Third Parties" means all lessees, subles sees, licensees and other 
users of the Properties, excluding those users of t he Properties in the ordinary 
course of Franklin Electric's or any Subsidiary's b usiness and on a temporary basis. 
 
          "Transferee" has the meaning set forth in  Section 9.07(d). 
 
          "Unused Commitment" means at any date, wi th respect to any Bank, 
an amount equal to its Commitment less the aggregat e outstanding principal amount 
of its Loans. 
 
          "U.S. Subsidiary"  means a Subsidiary whi ch has the majority of its 
assets located in the United States of America. 
 
          "Wachovia" means Wachovia Bank of Georgia , N.A., a national 
banking association and its successors. 
 
          "Wholly Owned Subsidiary" means (i) any S ubsidiary all of the shares 
of capital stock or other ownership interests of wh ich (except directors' qualifying 
shares) are at the time directly or indirectly owne d by Franklin Electric and (ii) ODI, 
so long as Franklin Electric owns not less than 97%  of all shares of the capital stock 
of ODI. 
 
          SECTION 1.02.  Accounting Terms and Deter minations.  Unless otherwise specified 
herein, all terms of an accounting character used h erein shall be interpreted, all accounting 
determinations hereunder shall be made, and all fin ancial statements required to be 
delivered hereunder shall be prepared in accordance  with GAAP, applied on a basis 
consistent (except for changes concurred in by Fran klin Electric's independent public 
accountants or otherwise required by a change in GA AP) with the most recent 
audited consolidated financial statements of Frankl in Electric and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries delivered to the Banks, unless with re spect to any such change 
concurred in by Franklin Electric's independent pub lic accountants or required by 
GAAP, in determining compliance with any of the pro visions of this Agreement or 
any of the other Loan Documents:  (i) Franklin Elec tric shall have objected to 
determining such compliance on such basis at the ti me of delivery of such financial 
statements, or  (ii) the Required Banks shall so ob ject in writing within 30 days after 
the delivery of such financial statements, in eithe r of which events (x) such 
calculations shall be made on a basis consistent wi th those used in the preparation 
of the latest financial statements as to which such  objection shall not have been 
made (which, if objection is made in respect of the  first financial statements 
delivered under Section 5.01, shall mean the financ ial statements referred to in 
Section 4.04), and (y) the Banks and Franklin Elect ric will negotiate in good faith to 
revise the financial covenants contained in this Ag reement solely for the purpose of 
reflecting such changes so that the criteria for ev aluating Franklin Electric's 
consolidated financial condition and performance wi ll be substantially the same after 
such changes as they were before such changes. 
 
          SECTION 1.03.  Use of Defined Terms. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have 
the same meanings when used in any of the other Loa n Documents, unless otherwise defined 
therein or unless the context shall otherwise requi re. 
 
          SECTION 1.04.  Terminology. All personal pronouns used in this Agreement, whether 
used in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, s hall include all other genders;  the 
singular shall include the plural and the plural sh all include the singular.  Titles of 
Articles and Sections in this Agreement are for con venience only, and neither limit nor 
amplify the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 1.05.  References.  Unless otherw ise indicated, references in this Agreement  
to "Articles", "Exhibits", "Schedules", and "Sectio ns" are references to articles, exhibits, 
schedules and sections hereof. 
 
                                            ARTICLE  II 
 
                                            THE CRE DITS 
 
 
     "SECTION 2.01.  Commitments to Make Syndicated  Loans" .  Each Bank severally 
agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth herei n, to make Loans to the 
Borrowers from time to time before the Termination Date; provided that, immediately 
after each such Loan is made (i) the sum of the agg regate outstanding principal 
amount of Dollar Loans and the Dollar Equivalent of  the aggregate outstanding 
principal amount of Foreign Currency Loans by such Bank to all Borrowers shall not 
exceed the amount of its Commitment, and (ii) the s um of the aggregate outstanding 
principal amount of all Dollar Loans and the Dollar  Equivalent of the aggregate 
outstanding principal amount of all Foreign Currenc y Loans shall not exceed the 
aggregate amount of the Commitments of all of the B anks at such time.  The Dollar 
Equivalent of each Foreign Currency Loan on the dat e each Foreign Currency Loan 
is disbursed shall be deemed to be the amount of th e Foreign Currency Loan 
outstanding for the purpose of calculating the unut ilized portion of the Commitments 



on the date of disbursement.  Each Borrowing under this Section shall be in an 
aggregate principal amount of $500,000 (or the Doll ar Equivalent thereof, rounded to 
the nearest Dollar, in any Foreign Currency) or any  larger multiple of $500,000 
(except that any Borrowing may be in the aggregate amount of the Unused 
Commitments) and shall be made from the several Ban ks ratably in proportion to 
their respective Commitments.  Within the foregoing  limits, the Borrowers may 
borrow under this Section, repay or, to the extent permitted by Section 2.09, prepay 
Loans and reborrow under this Section at any time b efore the Termination Date. 
 
          SECTION 2.02.  Method of Borrowing Loans.  (a) Franklin Electric shall give the Agent  
notice in the form attached hereto as Exhibit L (a "Notice of Borrowing") prior to 11:00 A.M. 
(Atlanta, Georgia time) on the Domestic Business Da y of each Base Rate Borrowing, 
at least 2 Euro-Dollar Business Days before each Eu ro-Dollar Borrowing and at least 
2 Foreign Currency Business Days before each Foreig n Currency Borrowing, 
specifying: 
 
           (i) the name of the Borrower, 
 
          (ii)  the date of such Borrowing, which s hall be a Domestic Business 
     Day in the case of a Base Rate Borrowing, a Eu ro-Dollar Business Day in the 
     case of a Euro-Dollar Borrowing and a Foreign Currency Business Day in the 
     case of a Foreign Currency Borrowing, 
 
         (iii)  the aggregate amount of such Borrow ing, 
 
          (iv)  whether the Loans comprising such B orrowing are to be Dollar 
     Loans or Foreign Currency Loans, and (A) if su ch Loans are to be Dollar 
     Loans, whether they are to be Base Rate Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans and (B) 
     if such Loans are to be Foreign Currency Loans , specifying the Foreign 
     Currency, and 

           (v)  in the case of a Fixed Rate Borrowi ng, the duration of the Interest 
     Period applicable thereto, subject to the prov isions of the definition of Interest 
     Period. 
 
          (b)  Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowin g, the Agent shall promptly 
notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of suc h Bank's ratable share of such 
Borrowing and such Notice of Borrowing shall not th ereafter be revocable by the 
relevant Borrower. 
 
          (c)  Not later than 1:00 P.M. (Atlanta, G eorgia time) on the date of 
each Borrowing, each Bank shall (except as provided  in subsection (d) of this 
Section) make available its ratable share of such B orrowing, in Federal or other 
funds immediately available in Atlanta, Georgia, to  the Agent at its address referred 
to in or specified pursuant to Section 9.01, which funds shall be in Dollars and, if 
such Borrowing is a Foreign Currency Borrowing, in an amount equal to the Dollar 
Equivalent of such Bank's ratable share of such For eign Currency Borrowing. 
Unless the Agent determines that any applicable con dition specified in Article III has 
not been satisfied, the Agent will make the funds s o received from the Banks 
available to the relevant Borrower by wire transfer  at the bank account specified by, 
and in the name of, such Borrower.  Unless the Agen t receives notice from a Bank, 
at the Agent's address referred to in Section 9.01,  before the date of a Fixed Rate 
Borrowing or not later than 12:30 P.M. (local time at such address) on the date of a 
Base Rate Borrowing, in either case stating that su ch Bank will not make a Loan in 
connection with such Borrowing, the Agent shall be entitled to assume that such 
Bank will make a Loan in connection with such Borro wing and, in reliance on such 
assumption, the Agent may (but shall not be obligat ed to) make available such 
Bank's ratable share of such Borrowing to the relev ant Borrower for the account of 
such Bank.  If the Agent makes such Bank's ratable share available to the relevant 
Borrower and such Bank does not in fact make its ra table share of such Borrowing 
available on such date, the Agent shall be entitled  to recover such Bank's ratable 
share from such Bank or the relevant Borrower (and for such purpose shall be 
entitled to charge such amount to any account of th e relevant Borrower maintained 
with the Agent), together with interest thereon for  each day during the period from 
the date of such Borrowing until such sum shall be paid in full at a rate per annum 
equal to the rate at which the Agent determines tha t it obtained (or could have 
obtained) overnight Federal funds to cover such amo unt for each such day during 
such period, provided that any such payment by the relevant Borrower of such 
Bank's ratable share and interest thereon shall be without prejudice to any rights that 
the relevant Borrower may have against such Bank.  If such Bank shall repay to the 
Agent such corresponding amount, such amount so rep aid shall constitute such 
Bank's Loan included in such Borrowing for purposes  of this Agreement. 
 
          (d)  If any Bank makes a new Loan hereund er to a Borrower on a day 
on which such Borrower is to repay all or any part of an outstanding Loan from such 
Bank, such Bank shall apply the proceeds of its new  Loan to make such repayment 
and only an amount equal to the difference (if any)  between the amount being 
borrowed and the amount being repaid shall be made available by such Bank to the 
Agent as provided in subsection (c) of this Section , or remitted by such Borrower to 
the Agent as provided in Section 2.11, as the case may be; provided, however, that if 
the Loan which is to be repaid is a Foreign Currenc y Loan, the foregoing provisions 
shall apply only if the new Loan is to be made in t he same Foreign Currency. 



 
          (e)     Notwithstanding anything to the c ontrary contained in this 
Agreement, no Fixed Rate Borrowing may be made if t here shall have occurred a 
Default or an Event of Default, which Default or Ev ent of Default shall not have been 
cured or waived in writing. 
 
          (f)     In the event that a Notice of Bor rowing fails to specify whether 
the Loans comprising such Borrowing are to be Base Rate Loans, Euro-Dollar Loans 
or Foreign Currency Loans, such Loans shall be made  as Base Rate Loans.  If a 
Borrower is otherwise entitled under this Agreement  to repay any Loans maturing at 
the end of an Interest Period applicable thereto wi th the proceeds of a new 
Borrowing, and the Borrower fails to repay such Loa ns using its own moneys and 
Franklin Electric fails to give a Notice of Borrowi ng in connection with such new 
Borrowing, a new Borrowing shall be deemed to be ma de on the date such Loans 
mature in an amount equal to the principal amount o f the Loans so maturing, and the 
Loans comprising such new Borrowing shall be Base R ate Loans, which shall be 
made in the Dollar Equivalent of such maturing Loan s, if such maturing Loans were 
Foreign Currency Loans. 
 
          (g)     Notwithstanding anything to the c ontrary contained herein, 
there shall not be more than 10 different Interest Periods applicable to Fixed Rate 
Loans. 
 
          SECTION 2.03.  Notes. (a)  The Dollar Loa ns of each Bank shall be evidenced by a 
single Dollar Note and the Foreign Currency Loans o f each Bank shall be evidenced by a single 
Foreign Currency Note, each payable to the order of  such Bank for the account of its Lending 
Office in an amount equal to the original principal  amount of such Bank's Commitment. 
 
          (b)  Upon receipt of each Bank's Notes pu rsuant to Section 3.01, the 
Agent shall deliver such Notes to such Bank.  Each Bank shall record, and prior to 
any transfer of its Notes shall endorse on the sche dule forming a part thereof 
appropriate notations to evidence, the date, amount  and maturity of, and effective 
interest rate for, each Loan made by it, the date a nd amount of each payment of 
principal made by the Borrower with respect thereto  and whether, in the case of such 
Bank's Dollar Note, such Dollar Loan is a Base Rate  Loan or Euro-Dollar Loan, and, 
in the case of such Bank's Foreign Currency Note, s pecification of the Foreign 
Currency, and such schedule shall constitute rebutt able presumptive evidence of the 
principal amount owing and unpaid on such Bank's No tes; provided that the failure of 
any Bank to make, or any error in making, any such recordation or endorsement 
shall not affect the obligation of any Borrower her eunder or under the Notes or the 
ability of any Bank to assign its Notes.  Each Bank  is hereby irrevocably authorized 
by each Borrower so to endorse its Notes and to att ach to and make a part of any 
Note a continuation of any such schedule as and whe n required. 
 
          SECTION 2.04.  Maturity of Loans; Extensi on of Termination Date . (a) Each Loan 
included in any Borrowing shall mature, and the pri ncipal amount thereof shall be 
due and payable, on the last day of the Interest Pe riod applicable to such Borrowing. 
 
          (b) Upon written request of Franklin Elec tric, which may be made from 
time to time and which shall be made in writing and  delivered to the Agent on a 
Domestic Business Day no fewer than 60 days prior t o each anniversary of the 
Closing Date, the Banks and the Agent in their sole  and absolute discretion may (but 
shall not be obligated to) extend the then effectiv e Termination Date for a period of 1 
year; provided that in no event shall the Terminati on Date be extended later than 
January 5, 2006.  In the event that a Bank chooses to extend the Termination Date 
for such a 1 year period, notice shall be given by such Bank to Franklin Electric and 
the Agent not more than 45, nor fewer than 30, days  prior to the next succeeding 
anniversary of the Closing Date; provided that the Termination Date shall not be 
extended with respect to any of the Banks unless th e Required Banks are willing to 
extend the Termination Date and either (i) the rema ining Banks shall purchase 
ratable assignments (without any obligations so to do) from such terminating Bank 
(in the form of an Assignment and Acceptance) in ac cordance with their respective 
percentage of the remaining aggregate amount of the  Commitments; provided that 
such Banks shall be provided such opportunity (whic h opportunity shall allow such 
Banks at least 15 Domestic Business Days in which t o make a decision) prior to the 
Borrower finding another bank pursuant to the immed iately succeeding clause (ii); 
and provided, further, that should any of the remai ning Banks elect not to purchase 
such an assignment, then such other remaining Banks  shall be entitled to purchase 
an assignment from any terminating Bank which inclu des the ratable interest that 
was otherwise available to such non-purchasing rema ining Bank or Banks, as the 
case may be, (ii) Franklin Electric shall find anot her bank, reasonably acceptable to 
the Agent, willing to accept an assignment from suc h terminating Bank (in the form 
of an Assignment and Acceptance) or (iii) Franklin Electric shall reduce the 
aggregate amount of the Commitments in an amount eq ual to the unassigned 
portion of the Commitment of any such terminating B ank. 
 
          SECTION 2.05.  Interest Rates.(a)  "Appli cable Margin" shall be determined quarterly  
based upon the ratio of Debt to Consolidated Tangib le Capitalization (calculated as of the 
last day of each Fiscal Quarter), as follows: 
 
Ratio of Debt to                                            Foreign 
Consolidated Tangible Capitalization   Base Rate Lo ans   Currency Loans    Euro-Dollar Loans 



- ------------------------------------   ---------- -----   --------------     ----------------  
Greater than 35%                             0%               .325%          .325% 
 
Greater than 30% 
but equal to or less than 35%                0%                .30%          .30% 
 
Greater than or equal to 20% 
but less than or equal to 30%                0%                .25%          .25% 
 
Less than 20%                                0%                .20%          .20% 
 
 
The Applicable Margin shall be determined effective  as of the date (herein, the "Rate 
Determination Date") which is 60 days after the las t day of the Fiscal Quarter as of 
the end of which the foregoing ratio is being deter mined, based on the quarterly 
financial statements for such Fiscal Quarter, and t he Applicable Margin so 
determined shall remain effective from such Rate De termination Date until the date 
which is 60 days after the last day of the Fiscal Q uarter in which such Rate 
Determination Date falls (which latter date shall b e a new Rate Determination Date); 
provided that (i) for the period from and including  the Closing Date to but excluding 
the Rate Determination Date next following the Clos ing Date, the Applicable Margin 
shall be (A) 0% for Base Rate Loans, (B) .25% for F oreign Currency Loans, and (C) 
 .25% for Euro-Dollar Loans, (ii) in the case of an y Applicable Margin determined for 
the fourth and final Fiscal Quarter of a Fiscal Yea r, the Rate Determination Date 
shall be the date which is 90 days after the last d ay of such final Fiscal Quarter and 
such Applicable Margin shall be determined based up on the annual audited financial 
statements for the Fiscal Year ended on the last da y of such final Fiscal Quarter, 
and (iii) if on any Rate Determination Date Frankli n Electric shall have failed to 
deliver to the Banks the financial statements requi red to be delivered pursuant to 
Section 5.01(b) with respect to the Fiscal Quarter most recently ended prior to such 
Rate Determination Date, then for the period beginn ing on such Rate Determination 
Date and ending on the earlier of (A) the date on w hich Franklin Electric shall deliver 
to the Banks the financial statements to be deliver ed pursuant to Section 5.01(b) with 
respect to such Fiscal Quarter or any subsequent Fi scal Quarter, or (B) the date on 
which Franklin Electric shall deliver to the Banks annual financial statements 
required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a ) with respect to the Fiscal Year 
which includes such Fiscal Quarter or any subsequen t Fiscal Year, the Applicable 
Margin shall be determined as if the ratio of Debt to Consolidated Tangible 
Capitalization was more than 35% at all times durin g such period.  Any change in the 
Applicable Margin on any Rate 
 
 
Determination Date shall result in a corresponding change, effective on and as of 
such Rate Determination Date, in the interest rate applicable to each Loan 
outstanding on such Rate Determination Date. 
 
          (b) Each Base Rate Loan shall bear intere st on the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, for each day from the dat e such Loan is made until it 
becomes due, at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate for such day plus the 
Applicable Margin.  Such interest shall be payable for each Interest Period on the 
last day thereof.  Any overdue principal of and, to  the extent permitted by applicable 
law, overdue interest on any Base Rate Loan shall b ear interest, payable on 
demand, for each day until paid at a rate per annum  equal to the Default Rate. 
 
          (c)  Each Euro-Dollar Loan shall bear int erest on the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, for the Interest Period a pplicable thereto, at a rate per 
annum equal to the sum of the Applicable Margin plu s the applicable Adjusted 
London Interbank Offered Rate for such Interest Per iod; provided that if any Euro- 
Dollar Loan shall, as a result of clause (1)(c) of the definition of Interest Period, have 
an Interest Period of less than one month, such Eur o-Dollar Loan shall bear interest 
during such Interest Period at the rate applicable to Base Rate Loans during such 
period.  Such interest shall be payable for each In terest Period on the last day 
thereof and, if such Interest Period is longer than  3 months, at intervals of 3 months 
after the first day thereof.  Any overdue principal  of and, to the extent permitted by 
applicable law, overdue interest on any Euro-Dollar  Loan shall bear interest, payable 
on demand, for each day until paid at a rate per an num equal to the Default Rate. 
 
          The "Adjusted London Interbank Offered Ra te" applicable to any 
Interest Period means a rate per annum equal to the  quotient obtained (rounded 
upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of  1%) by dividing (i) the applicable 
London Interbank Offered Rate for such Interest Per iod by (ii) 1.00 minus the Euro- 
Dollar Reserve Percentage. 

          The "London Interbank Offered Rate" appli cable to any Euro-Dollar 
Loan means for the Interest Period of such Euro-Dol lar Loan the rate per annum 
determined on the basis of the offered rate for dep osits in Dollars of amounts equal 
or comparable to the principal amount of such Euro- Dollar Loan offered for a term 
comparable to such Interest Period, which rates app ear on Telerate Page 3750 as of 
11:00 a.m., London time, 2 Euro-Dollar Business Day s prior to the first day of such 
Interest Period, provided that (i) if more than one  such offered rate appears on 
Telerate Page 3750, the "London Interbank Offered R ate" will be the arithmetic 
average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%) of such 



offered rates; and (ii) if no such offered rates ap pear on such page, the "London 
Interbank Offered Rate" for such Interest Period wi ll be the arithmetic average 
(rounded, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%) of rates quoted by not less 
than 2 major banks in New York City, selected by th e Agent, at approximately 10:00 
a.m., New York City time, 2 Euro-Dollar Business Da ys prior to the first day of such 
Interest Period, for deposits in Dollars offered by  leading European banks for a 
period comparable to such Interest Period in an amo unt comparable to the principal 
amount of such Euro-Dollar Loan. 
 
          "Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" means fo r any day that percentage 
(expressed as a decimal) which is in effect on such  day, as prescribed by the Board 
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) for determining the 
maximum reserve requirement for a member bank of th e Federal Reserve System in 
respect of "Eurocurrency liabilities" (or in respec t of any other category of liabilities 
which includes deposits by reference to which the i nterest rate on Euro-Dollar Loans 
is determined or any category of extensions of cred it or other assets which includes 
loans by a non-United States office of any Bank to United States residents).  The 
Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate shall be adj usted automatically on and as 
of the effective date of any change in the Euro-Dol lar Reserve Percentage. 
 
          (d) Each Foreign Currency Loan shall bear  interest on the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, for the Interest Period a pplicable thereto, at a rate per 
annum equal to the sum of the Applicable Margin plu s the applicable Adjusted IBOR 
Rate for such Interest Period.  Such interest shall  be payable for each Interest 
Period on the last day thereof and, if such Interes t Period is longer than 3 months, at 
intervals of 3 months after the first day thereof.  Any overdue principal of and, to the 
extent permitted by law, overdue interest on any Fo reign Currency Loan shall bear 
interest, payable on demand, for each day until pai d at a rate per annum equal to the 
Default Rate. 
 
          "Adjusted IBOR Rate" means, with respect to each Interest Period for 
a Foreign Currency Loan, the sum of (i) the rate ob tained by dividing (A) IBOR for 
such Interest Period by (B) a percentage equal to 1  minus the then stated maximum 
rate (stated as a decimal) of all reserve requireme nts in respect of any category of 
liabilities by reference to which the interest rate  on such Foreign Currency Loan is 
determined (including, without limitation, any marg inal, emergency, supplemental, 
special or other reserves) applicable to any member  bank of the Federal Reserve 
System as defined in Regulation D (or against any s uccessor category of liabilities 
as defined in Regulation D), plus (ii) if the relev ant Foreign Currency Loan is in 
British pounds sterling, a percentage sufficient to  compensate the Banks for the cost 
of complying with any reserves, liquidity and/or sp ecial deposit requirements of the 
Bank of England directly or indirectly affecting th e maintenance or funding of such 
Foreign Currency Loan. 
 
          "IBOR" means, for any Interest Period, wi th respect to Foreign 
Currency Loans, the offered rate for deposits in th e applicable Foreign Currency, for 
a period comparable to the Interest Period and in a n amount comparable to the 
amount of such Foreign Currency Loan appearing on t he applicable Telerate Page 
as of 11:00 A.M.  (London, England time) on the day  that is two Business Days prior 
to the first day of the Interest Period.  If the fo regoing rate is unavailable from 
Telerate for any reason, then such rate shall be de termined by the Agent from any 
other interest rate reporting service of recognized  standing designated in writing by 
the Agent to Franklin Electric. 
 
          (e)  The Agent shall determine each inter est rate applicable to the 
Loans hereunder.  The Agent shall give prompt notic e to Franklin Electric and the 
Banks by telecopy of each rate of interest so deter mined, and its determination 
thereof shall be conclusive in the absence of manif est error. 
 
          (f)  After the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default, the 
principal amount of the Loans (and, to the extent p ermitted by applicable law, all 
accrued interest thereon) may, at the election of t he Required Banks, bear interest at 
the Default Rate; provided that the Required Banks shall deliver written notice to 
Franklin Electric of such election prior to or prom ptly after such election. 
 
          SECTION 2.06.  Fees. (a) Franklin Electri c shall pay to the Agent for the ratable 
account of each Bank a facility fee equal to the pr oduct of:  (i) the aggregate of the daily 
average amounts of such Bank's Commitment, times (i i) a per annum percentage equal to the 
Applicable Facility Fee Rate.  Such facility fee sh all accrue from and including the Closing 
Date to and including the Termination Date (or earl ier date on which the Commitments are 
terminated pursuant to Section 2.07 or 6.01).  Faci lity fees shall be payable quarterly 
in arrears on the first Facility Fee Payment Date f ollowing each Facility Fee 
Determination Date and on the Termination Date; pro vided that should the 
Commitments be terminated at any time prior to the Termination Date for any 
reason, the entire accrued and unpaid facility fee shall be paid on the date of such 
termination.  The "Applicable Facility Fee Rate" sh all be determined quarterly based 
upon the ratio of Debt to Consolidated Tangible Cap italization (calculated as of the 
last day of each Fiscal Quarter) as follows: 
 
          Ratio of Debt to                                   Applicable 
          Consolidated Tangible Capitalization               Facility Fee Rate 
          ------------------------------------               ----------------- 



          Greater than 35%                                         .15% 
 
          Greater than or equal to 20% 
          but less than or equal to 35%                            .125% 
 
          Less than 20%                                            .10% 
 
 
The Applicable Facility Fee Rate shall be determine d effective as of the date (herein, 
the "Facility Fee Determination Date") which is 60 days after the last day of the 
Fiscal Quarter as of the end of which the foregoing  ratio is being determined, based 
on the quarterly financial statements for such Fisc al Quarter, and the Applicable 
Facility Fee Rate so determined shall remain effect ive from such Facility Fee 
Determination Date until the date which is 60 days after the last day of the Fiscal 
Quarter in which such Facility Fee Determination Da te falls (which latter date shall 
be a new Facility Fee Determination Date); provided  that (i) for the period from and 
including the Closing Date to but excluding the Fac ility Fee Determination Date next 
following the Closing Date, the Applicable Facility  Fee Rate shall be .125%; (ii) in the 
case of any Applicable Facility Fee Rate determined  for the fourth and final Fiscal 
Quarter of a Fiscal Year, the Facility Fee Determin ation Date shall be the date which 
is 90 days after the last day of such final Fiscal Quarter and such Applicable Facility 
Fee Rate shall be determined based upon the annual audited financial statements 
for the Fiscal Year ended on the last day of such f inal Fiscal Quarter, and (iii) if on 
any Facility Fee Determination Date Franklin Electr ic shall have failed to deliver to 
the Banks the financial statements required to be d elivered pursuant to Section 
5.01(b) with respect to the Fiscal Quarter most rec ently ended prior to such Facility 
Fee Determination Date, then for the period beginni ng on such Facility Fee 
Determination Date and ending on the earlier of (A)  the date on which Franklin 
Electric shall deliver to the Banks the financial s tatements to be delivered pursuant to 
Section 5.01(b) with respect to such Fiscal Quarter  or any subsequent Fiscal 
Quarter, and (B) the date on which Franklin Electri c shall deliver to the Banks annual 
financial statements required to be delivered pursu ant to Section 5.01(a) with respect 
to the Fiscal Year which includes such Fiscal Quart er or any subsequent Fiscal Year, 
the Applicable Facility Fee Rate shall be determine d as if the ratio of  Debt to 
Consolidated Tangible Capitalization was more than 35% at all times during such 
period. 
 
 
 
          (b) Franklin Electric shall pay to the Ag ent, for the account and sole 
benefit of the Agent, such fees and other amounts a t such times as set forth in the 
Agent's Letter Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 2.07.  Optional Termination or Re duction of 
Commitments. Franklin Electric may, upon at least 3  Domestic Business Days' 
notice to the Agent, terminate at any time, or prop ortionately reduce from time to 
time by an aggregate amount of at least $500,000 or  any larger multiple of $500,000, 
the Commitments.  If the Commitments are terminated  in their entirety, all accrued 
fees (as provided under Section 2.06) shall be paya ble on the effective date of such 
termination. 
 
          SECTION 2.08.  Mandatory Termination of C ommitments. The Commitments 
shall terminate on the Termination Date and any Loa ns then outstanding (together 
with accrued interest thereon) shall be due and pay able on such date. 
 
          SECTION 2.09.  Optional Prepayments. (a) Franklin Electric may, upon notice to the 
Agent, prepay any Base Rate Borrowing in whole at a ny time, or from time to time in part in 
amounts aggregating at least $500,000 or in an amou nt equal to the then outstanding 
principal amount of all Base Rate Loans, by paying the principal amount to be 
prepaid together with accrued interest thereon to t he date of prepayment.  Each such 
optional prepayment shall be applied to prepay rata bly the Base Rate Loans of the 
several Banks included in such Base Rate Borrowing.  
 
          (b)  Except as provided in Section 8.02, no Borrower may prepay all or 
any portion of the principal amount of any Fixed Ra te Loan prior to the maturity 
thereof. 
 
          (c)     Upon receipt of a notice of prepa yment pursuant to this 
Section, the Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of 
such Bank's ratable share of such prepayment and su ch notice shall not thereafter 
be revocable by any Borrower. 
 
          SECTION 2.10.  Mandatory Prepayments. (a)  On each date on which the Commitments are 
reduced pursuant to Section 2.07 or Section 2.08, F ranklin Electric shall repay or 
prepay such principal amount of the outstanding Loa ns, if any (together with interest 
accrued thereon and any amounts due under Section 8 .05(a)), as may be necessary 
so that after such payment the aggregate unpaid pri ncipal amount of the Loans does 
not exceed the aggregate amount of the Commitments as then reduced.  Each such 
payment or prepayment shall be applied to repay or prepay ratably the Loans of the 
several Banks. 
 
          (b) If the Agent determines at any time ( either on its own initiative or at 



the instance of any Bank) that the aggregate princi pal amount of the Foreign 
Currency Loans outstanding (after converting each s uch Foreign Currency Loan to 
its Dollar Equivalent on the date of calculation) a t any time exceeds the aggregate 
Commitments less the outstanding aggregate amount o f all Dollar Loans, then upon 
5 Foreign Currency Business Days' written notice fr om the Agent, Franklin Electric 
shall prepay an aggregate principal amount of Loans  sufficient to bring the aggregate 
of the Dollar Equivalent of the Foreign Currency Lo ans and the Dollar Loans 
outstanding to an amount not exceeding the Commitme nt.  Nothing in the foregoing 
shall require the Agent to make any such calculatio n unless expressly requested to 
do so by the Required Banks.  All such prepayments shall be applied in the following 
order: (i) first to Base Rate Loan; (ii) then to Eu ro-Dollar Loans; and (iii) lastly, to 
Foreign Currency Loans. 
 
          SECTION 2.11.  General Provisions as to P ayments. (a) The Borrowers shall make each 
payment of principal of, and interest on, the Loans  and of facility fees hereunder, not 
later than 11:00 A.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on th e date when due, in Federal or 
other funds (subject to paragraph (c) of this Secti on with respect to Foreign Currency 
Loans) immediately available in Atlanta, Georgia, t o the Agent at its address referred 
to in Section 9.01.  The Agent will promptly distri bute to each Bank its ratable share 
of each such payment received by the Agent for the account of the Banks. 
 
          (b)       Whenever any payment of princip al of, or interest on, the 
Domestic Loans or of fees shall be due on a day whi ch is not a Domestic Business 
Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended  to the next succeeding 
Domestic Business Day.  Whenever any payment of pri ncipal of, or interest on, the 
Euro-Dollar Loans or the Foreign Currency Loans sha ll be due on a day which is not 
a Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Busi ness Day, as the case may be, 
the date for payment thereof shall be extended to t he next succeeding Euro-Dollar 
Business Day or Foreign Currency Business Day, as t he case may be, unless such 
Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Busine ss Day, as the case may be, 
falls in another calendar month, in which case the date for payment thereof shall be 
the next preceding Euro-Dollar Business Day or Fore ign Currency Business Day, as 
the case may be.  If the date for any payment of pr incipal is extended by operation of 
law or otherwise, interest thereon shall be payable  for such extended time. 

          (c)      All payments of principal and in terest with respect to Foreign 
Currency Loans shall be made in the Foreign Currenc y in which the related Foreign 
Currency Loan was made. 
 
          (d)     All payments of principal, intere st and fees and all other 
amounts to be made by the Borrowers pursuant to thi s Agreement with respect to 
any Loan or fee relating thereto shall be paid with out deduction for, and free from, 
any tax, imposts, levies, duties, deductions, or wi thholdings of any nature now or at 
anytime hereafter imposed by any governmental autho rity or by any taxing authority 
thereof or therein excluding in the case of each Ba nk (i) taxes imposed on or 
measured by its net income, and franchise taxes imp osed on it, by the jurisdiction 
under the laws of which such Bank is organized or a ny political subdivision thereof 
(including for the purpose of this clause (i) with respect to any Bank organized under 
the laws of one of the states of the United States,  United States federal income 
taxes) and (ii) taxes imposed on its income, and fr anchise taxes imposed on it, by 
the jurisdiction of such Bank's applicable Lending Office or any political subdivision 
thereof (all such non-excluded taxes, imposts, levi es, duties, deductions or 
withholdings of any nature being "Taxes").  In the event that any Borrower is required 
by applicable law to make any such withholding or d eduction of Taxes with respect to 
any Loan or fee or other amount, such Borrower shal l pay such deduction or 
withholding to the applicable taxing authority, sha ll promptly furnish to any Bank in 
respect of which such deduction or withholding is m ade all receipts and other 
documents evidencing such payment and shall pay to such Bank additional amounts 
as may be necessary in order that the amount receiv ed by such Bank after the 
required withholding or other payment shall equal t he amount such Bank would have 
received had no such withholding or other payment b een made.  If no withholding or 
deduction of Taxes are payable in respect of any Lo an or fee relating thereto, a 
Borrower shall furnish, at such Bank's reasonable r equest, evidence reasonably 
acceptable to such Bank, stating that such payments  are exempt from or not subject 
to withholding or deduction of Taxes.  If a Borrowe r fails to provide such evidence, 
such Borrower hereby agrees to compensate such Bank  for, and indemnify them 
with respect to, the tax consequences of such Borro wer's failure to provide evidence 
of tax payments or tax exemption. 
 
     In the event any Bank receives a refund of any  Taxes paid by a Borrower 
pursuant to this Section 2.11, it will pay to such Borrower the amount of such refund 
promptly upon receipt thereof; provided, however, i f at any time thereafter it is 
required to return such refund, such Borrower shall  promptly repay to it the amount 
of such refund. 
 
          (e)     Each Bank which shall be a foreig n person (a person other than 
a United States person for United States Federal in come tax purposes) hereby 
agrees that: 
 
               (i)     it shall no later than the C losing Date (or, in the case of 
     a Bank which shall become a party hereto pursu ant to Section 9.07 after the 
     Closing Date, the date upon which such Bank sh all become a party hereto) 



     deliver to Franklin Electric (with a copy to t he Agent) (A) if any Lending Office 
     is located in the United States, two (2) accur ate and complete signed originals 
     of Internal Revenue Service Form 4224 (or any successors thereto) ("Form 
     4224"), and/or (B) if any Lending Office is lo cated outside the United States, 
     two (2) accurate and complete signed originals  of Internal Revenue Service 
     Form 1001 (or any successor thereto) ("Form 10 01"), in each case indicating 
     that such Bank is on the date of delivery ther eof entitled to receive payments 
     of principal, interest and fees for the accoun t of such Lending Office or 
     Lending Offices under this Agreement free from  withholding of United States 
     Federal income tax, in the case of Form 1001, pursuant to a United States 
     tax treaty currently in effect and for which n otice of termination has not been 
     given (and, if any political subdivision of th e United States shall impose 
     similar reporting requirements with respect to  payments to such Bank under 
     this Agreement and such Bank shall receive not ice from Franklin Electric of 
     the same, such Bank shall deliver any applicab le forms to Franklin Electric 
     with a copy to the Agent promptly after receip t of such notice); 
 
              (ii)     if at any time such Bank sha ll change its Lending Office 
     or Lending Offices or select an additional Len ding Office as herein provided, it 
     shall, at the same time or reasonably promptly  thereafter, deliver to Franklin 
     Electric (with a copy to the Agent) in replace ment for, or in addition to, the 
     forms previously delivered by it hereunder (A)  if such changed or additional 
     Lending Office is located in the United States , two (2) accurate and complete 
     signed originals of Form 4224 or (B) otherwise , two (2) accurate and 
     complete signed originals of Form 1001, in eac h case indicating that such 
     Bank is on the date of delivery thereof entitl ed to receive payments of 
     principal, interest and fees for the account o f such changed or additional 
     Lending Office under this Agreement free from withholding of United States 
     Federal income tax; 
 
             (iii)     it shall, before or promptly  after the occurrence of any 
     event (including the passing of time but exclu ding any event mentioned in (ii) 
     above) requiring a change in the most recent F orm 4224 or Form 1001 
     previously delivered by such Bank and if the d elivery of the same be lawful, 
     deliver to Franklin Electric (with a copy to t he Agent) two (2) accurate and 
     complete original signed copies of Form 4224 o r Form 1001 in replacement 
     for the forms previously delivered by such Ban k; 
 
              (iv)     if such Bank claims exemptio n from withholding tax 
under a United States tax treaty by providing a For m 1001 and such Bank 
sells or grants a participation of all or part of i ts rights under this Agreement, 
such Bank shall notify Franklin Electric and the Ag ent of the percentage 
amount in which it is no longer the beneficial owne r under this Agreement.  To 
the extent of this percentage amount, Franklin Elec tric shall treat such Bank's 
Form 1001 as no longer in compliance with this Sect ion 2.11(e).  In the event 
a Bank claiming exemption from United States withho lding tax by filing Form 
4224 with Franklin Electric, sells or grants a part icipation in its rights under 
this Agreement, such Bank agrees to undertake sole responsibility for 
complying with the withholding tax requirements imp osed by Sections 1441 
and 1442 of the Code; 
 
               (v)     if the Internal Revenue Serv ice or any authority of the 
     United States of America or other jurisdiction  successfully asserts a claim that 
     the Agent or any Borrower did not properly wit hhold tax from amounts paid to 
     or for the account of any Bank (because the ap propriate form was not 
     delivered, was not properly executed, or becau se such Bank failed to notify 
     such Borrower or the Agent of a change in circ umstances which rendered the 
     exemption from withholding tax ineffective), s uch Bank shall indemnify the 
     Agent and/or such Borrower, as applicable, ful ly for all amounts paid, directly 
     or indirectly, by the Agent and/or such Borrow er, as applicable, as tax or 
     otherwise, including penalties and interest, a nd including any taxes imposed 
     by any jurisdiction on the amounts payable to the Agent and/or such 
     Borrower, as applicable under this paragraph ( e), together with all costs, 
     expenses and attorneys' fees (including the re asonable allocated costs for in- 
     house staff counsel); and 
 
              (vi)     it shall, promptly upon the Agent's or Franklin Electric's 
     reasonable request to that effect, deliver to Franklin Electric (with a copy to 
     the Agent) such other forms or similar documen tation as may be required 
     from time to time by any applicable law, treat y, rule or regulation in order to 
     establish such Bank's tax status for withholdi ng purposes. 
 
          (f)     The Borrowers will not be require d to pay any additional 
amounts in respect of United States Federal income tax pursuant to Section 2.11(d) 
to any Bank for the account of any Lending Office o f such Bank: 
 
               (i)      if the obligation to pay su ch additional amounts would 
     not have arisen but for a failure by such Bank  to comply with its obligations 
     under Section 2.11(e) in respect of such Lendi ng Office; 
 
              (ii)     if such Bank shall have deli vered to the Borrower a 
     Form 4224 in respect of such Lending Office pu rsuant to Section 2.11(e) and 



     such Bank shall not at any time be entitled to  exemption from deduction or 
     withholding of United States Federal income ta x in respect of payments by 
     the Borrower hereunder for the account of such  Lending Office for any reason 
     other than a change in United States law or re gulations or in the official 
     interpretation of such law or regulations by a ny Governmental Authority 
     charged with the interpretation or administrat ion thereof (whether or not 
     having the force of law) after the date of del ivery of such Form 4224; or 
 
             (iii)     if such Bank shall have deli vered to Franklin Electric a 
     Form 1001 in respect of such Lending Office pu rsuant to Section 2.11(e) and 
     such Bank shall not at any time be entitled to  exemption from deduction or 
     withholding of United States Federal income ta x in respect of payments by 
     any Borrower hereunder for account of such Len ding Office for any reason 
     other than a change in United States law or re gulations or any applicable tax 
     treaty or regulations or in the official inter pretation of any such law, treaty or 
     regulations by any Governmental Authority char ged with the interpretation or 
     administration thereof (whether or not having the force of law) after the date 
     of delivery of such Form 1001. 
 
          (g)     If, at any time, Franklin Electri c shall request any Bank to 
deliver any forms or other documentation pursuant t o Section 2.11(e)(vi), then 
Franklin Electric shall, on demand of such Bank, re imburse such Bank for any 
reasonable costs or expenses incurred by such Bank in the preparation or delivery of 
such forms or other documentation. 
 
          (h)     If any Borrower shall be required  to pay additional amounts to 
any Bank pursuant to Section 2.11(d), then such Ban k shall use its best efforts 
(consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions)  to change the jurisdiction of its 
Lending Office so as to eliminate any such addition al payment by the Borrower 
which may thereafter accrue if such change in the j udgment of such Bank shall not 
otherwise be disadvantageous to such Bank. 
 
          (i)      Without prejudice to the surviva l of any other agreement of the 
Borrowers hereunder, the agreements and obligations  of the Borrowers contained in 
Section 2.11(d) shall be applicable with respect to  any Transferee, and any 
calculations required by such provisions (i) shall be made based upon the 
circumstances of such Transferee, and (ii) constitu te a continuing agreement and 
shall survive the termination of this Agreement and  the payment in full or 
cancellation of the Notes. 
 
          SECTION 2.12.  Computation of Interest an d Fees. Interest on Domestic Loans based on  
the Base Rate shall be computed on the basis of a y ear of 360 days and paid for the actual 
number of days elapsed (including the first day but  excluding the last day).  Interest 
on Euro-Dollar Loans and on Foreign Currency Loans shall be computed on the 
basis of a year of 360 days (except for any Foreign  Currency Loans outstanding in 
British pounds sterling, Canadian dollars or Irish punts (if any of such currencies is 
selected as a Foreign Currency pursuant to clause ( iv) of the definition of "Foreign 
Currency"), which shall be computed on a basis of 3 65 or 366 days, as the case may 
be) and paid for the actual number of days elapsed,  calculated as to each Interest 
Period from and including the first day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. 
Facility fees and any other fees payable  hereunder  shall be computed on the basis 
of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual numbe r of days elapsed (including the 
first day but excluding the last day). 
 
           SECTION 2.13.  Additional Borrowers. (a)  Franklin Electric may from time to time 
cause any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary to become eligibl e to borrower under Section 2.01 by 
delivering to the Agent an Election to Participate with respect to such Wholly-Owned 
Subsidiary, duly executed on behalf of such Wholly- Owned Subsidiary and Franklin Electric. 
Promptly upon receiving any such Election to Partic ipate, the Agent shall give notice 
to the Banks of its receipt thereof, whereupon such  Wholly-Owned Subsidiary shall 
become an Additional Borrower for all purposes of t his Agreement. 
 
          (b) The eligibility of any such Additiona l Borrower to borrow under 
Section 2.01 shall terminate when the Agent receive s an Election to Terminate with 
respect to such Additional Borrower, duly executed on behalf of Franklin Electric. 
Promptly upon receiving any such Election to Termin ate, the Agent shall give notice 
to the Banks of its receipt thereof, and thereafter  such Additional Borrower shall no 
longer be eligible to borrow under Section 2.01.  T he delivery of an Election to 
Terminate shall not affect any obligation of such A dditional Borrower theretofore 
incurred. 
 
                                  ARTICLE III 

                           CONDITIONS TO BORROWINGS  
 
 
      SECTION 3.01.  Conditions to First Borrowing.  The obligation of each Bank to make a Loan  
on the occasion of the first Borrowing is subject t o the satisfaction of the conditions set 
forth in Section 3.02 and the following additional conditions: 
 
          (a)  receipt by the Agent; (i) from each of the parties hereto of either 
     (A) a duly executed counterpart of this Agreem ent signed by such party or 



     (B) a facsimile transmission stating that such  party has duly executed a 
     counterpart of this Agreement and sent such co unterpart to the Agent, and (ii) 
     from each of the parties thereto of either (A)  a duly executed counterpart of 
     the Guaranty Agreement signed by such party or  (B) a facsimile transmission 
     stating that such party has duly executed a co unterpart of the Guaranty 
     Agreement and sent such counterpart to the Age nt; 
 
          (b)  receipt by the Agent of a duly execu ted Dollar Note and a duly 
     executed Foreign Currency Note of Franklin Ele ctric for the account of each 
     Bank complying with the provisions of Section 2.03; 
 
          (c)  receipt by the Agent of an opinion ( together with any opinions of 
     local counsel relied on therein) of Schiff, Ha rdin & Waite, counsel for Franklin 
     Electric, dated as of the Closing Date, substa ntially in the form of Exhibit C 
     hereto and covering such additional matters re lating to the transactions 
     contemplated hereby as the Agent or any Bank m ay reasonably request; 
 
          (d)  receipt by the Agent of an opinion o f Womble Carlyle Sandridge & 
     Rice, PLLC, special counsel for the Agent, dat ed as of the Closing Date, 
     substantially in the form of Exhibit D hereto and covering such additional 
     matters relating to the transactions contempla ted hereby as the Agent may 
     reasonably request; 
 
          (e)  receipt by the Agent of a certificat e (the "Closing Certificate"), 
     dated the date of the first Borrowing, substan tially in the form of Exhibit H 
     hereto, signed by a principal financial office r of the Franklin Electric, to the 
     effect that (i) no Default has occurred and is  continuing on the date of the first 
     Borrowing and (ii) the representations and war ranties of Franklin Electric 
     contained in Article IV are true on and as of the date of the first Borrowing 
     hereunder; and 
 
          (f)  receipt by the Agent of all document s which the Agent or any Bank 
     may reasonably request relating to the existen ce of Franklin Electric, the 
     corporate authority for and the validity of th is Agreement and the Notes, and 
     any other matters relevant hereto, all in form  and substance reasonably 
     satisfactory to the Agent, including without l imitation a certificate of 
     incumbency of Franklin Electric (the "Officer' s Certificate"), signed by the 
     Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of Frankli n Electric, substantially in the 
     form of Exhibit I hereto, certifying as to the  names, true signatures and 
     incumbency of the officer or officers of Frank lin Electric authorized to execute 
     and deliver the Loan Documents, and certified copies of the following items: 
     (i) Franklin Electric's Certificate of Incorpo ration, (ii) Franklin Electric's 
     Bylaws, (iii) a certificate of the Secretary o f State of the state of incorporation 
     for Franklin Electric as to the good standing of Franklin Electric in such state, 
     and (iv) the action taken by the Board of Dire ctors of Franklin Electric 
     authorizing Franklin Electric's execution, del ivery and performance of this 
     Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Docume nts to which Franklin 
     Electric is a party; and 
 
          (g) receipt by the Agent of all documents  which the Agent or 
     any Bank may reasonably request relating to th e existence of ODI, the 
     corporate authority for and the validity of th e Guaranty Agreement, and 
     any other matters relevant thereto, all in for m and substance 
     reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, includin g without limitation a 
     certificate of incumbency of ODI, signed by th e Secretary or an 
     Assistant Secretary of ODI, substantially in t he form of the Officer's 
     Certificate (appropriately modified to refer t o ODI instead of Franklin 
     Electric), certifying as to the names, true si gnatures and incumbency 
     of the officer or officers of ODI authorized t o execute and deliver the 
     Guaranty Agreement, and certified copies of th e following items:  (i) 
     ODI's Certificate of Incorporation, (ii) ODI's  Bylaws, (iii) a Certificate of 
     the Secretary of State of the state of incorpo ration for ODI as to the 
     good standing of ODI in such state, and (iv) t he action taken by the 
     Board of Directors of ODI authorizing ODI's ex ecution, delivery and 
     performance of the Guaranty Agreement. 
 
          SECTION 3.02.  Conditions to All Borrowin gs. The obligation of each Bank to make a 
Loan on the occasion of each Borrowing is subject t o the satisfaction of the following 
conditions: 
 
          (a)  receipt by the Agent of Notice of Bo rrowing as required by Section 
      2.02; 
 
          (b)  the fact that, immediately before an d after such Borrowing, no 
      Default shall have occurred and be continuing ; 
 
          (c)  the fact that the representations an d warranties of the Borrowers 
     contained in Article IV of this Agreement shal l be true on and as of the date of 
     such Borrowing, except (i) to the extent any s uch representation or warranty 
     is stated to relate to an earlier date and (ii ) for changes in the Schedules 
     hereto reflecting transactions after the Closi ng Date permitted by this 
     Agreement; and 



 
          (d)  the fact that, immediately after suc h Borrowing (i) the aggregate 
     outstanding principal amount of the Loans of e ach Bank will not exceed the 
     amount of its Commitment and (ii) the aggregat e outstanding principal 
     amount of the Loans will not exceed the aggreg ate amount of the 
     Commitments of all of the Banks as of such dat e. 
 
Each Borrowing hereunder shall be deemed to be a re presentation and warranty by 
the Borrowers on the date of such Borrowing as to t he truth and accuracy of the facts 
specified in clauses (b), (c) and (d) of this Secti on; provided that such Borrowing 
shall not be deemed to be such a representation and  warranty to the effect set forth 
in Section 4.04(b) as to any event, act or conditio n having a Material Adverse Effect 
which has theretofore been disclosed in writing by Franklin Electric to the Banks if 
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the L oans immediately after such 
Borrowing will not exceed the aggregate outstanding  principal amount thereof 
immediately before such Borrowing. 
 
          SECTION 3.03.  First Borrowing By Each Ad ditional Borrower. First Borrowing By Each 
Additional Borrower."   The obligation of each Bank  to make a Loan on the occasion of the 
first Borrowing by each Additional Borrower is subj ect to the satisfaction of the following 
further conditions: 
 
          (a)  receipt by the Agent of an Election to Participate with respect to 
     such Additional Borrower appropriately complet ed and signed; 
 
          (b) receipt by the Agent for the account of each Bank of duly executed 
     Notes of such Additional Borrower, dated on or  before the date of such 
     Borrowing, complying with the provisions of Se ction 2.03; 
 
          (c) receipt by the Agent of one or more o pinions of counsel for such 
     Additional Borrower, reasonably acceptable to the Agent, which taken 
     together cover the matters set forth in Exhibi t E hereto; and 
 
          (d) receipt by the Agent of all documents  which it may reasonably 
     request relating to (i) the existence of such Additional Borrower, (ii) the 
     corporate authority for and validity of such A dditional Borrower's Election to 
     Participate and Notes; and (iii) the corporate  authorization by Franklin 
     Electric's Board of Directors of the guaranty set forth in Article XI of this 
     Agreement with respect to such Additional Borr ower, in each case in form 
     and substance reasonably satisfactory to the A gent. 
 
                                   ARTICLE IV 
 
                        REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANT IES 
 
 
          Franklin Electric represents and warrants  that: 
 
          SECTION 4.01.  Corporate Existence and Po wer. Franklin Electric is a corporation 
duly organized, validly existing and in good standi ng under the laws of the jurisdiction of 
its incorporation, is duly qualified to transact bu siness in every jurisdiction where, by the 
nature of its business, such qualification is neces sary, and has all corporate powers 
and all governmental licenses, authorizations, cons ents and approvals required to 
carry on its business as now conducted, except wher e the failure to have such 
licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals co uld not reasonably be expected 
to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.02.  Corporate and Governmental  Authorization; No 
Contravention. The execution, delivery and performa nce by Franklin Electric of this 
Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents ( i) are within Franklin Electric's 
corporate powers, (ii) have been duly authorized by  all necessary corporate action, 
(iii) require no action by or in respect of, or fil ing with, any governmental body, 
agency or official, (iv) do not contravene, or cons titute a default under, any provision 
of any applicable law or regulation or of the Certi ficate of Incorporation or Bylaws of 
Franklin Electric or of any agreement, judgment, in junction, order, decree or other 
instrument binding upon Franklin Electric or any of  its Subsidiaries, and (v) do not 
result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on  any asset of Franklin Electric or 
any of its Subsidiaries. 
 
          SECTION 4.03.  Binding Effect.This Agreem ent constitutes a valid and binding 
agreement of Franklin Electric enforceable in accor dance with its terms, and the Notes and the  
other Loan Documents, when executed and delivered i n accordance with this Agreement, will 
constitute valid and binding obligations of Frankli n Electric enforceable in accordance 
with their respective terms, provided that the enfo rceability hereof and thereof is 
subject in each case to general principles of equit y and to bankruptcy, insolvency 
and similar laws affecting the enforcement of credi tors' rights generally. 
 
          SECTION 4.04.  Financial Information. (a)  The consolidated balance sheet of Franklin  
Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of De cember 31, 1994, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, shareholders' eq uity and cash flows for the Fiscal Year 
then ended, reported on by Deloitte & Touche LLP, c opies of which have been delivered 
to each of the Banks, and the unaudited consolidate d financial statements of 



Franklin Electric for the interim period ended Sept ember 30, 1995, copies of which 
have been delivered to each of the Banks, fairly pr esent, in conformity with GAAP, 
the consolidated financial position of Franklin Ele ctric and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries as of such dates and their consolidate d results of operations and cash 
flows for such periods stated. 
 
          (b)  Since December 31, 1994, there has b een no event, act, condition 
or occurrence having a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.05.  Litigation. There is no ac tion, suit or proceeding pending, or to the  
knowledge of Franklin Electric threatened, against or affecting Franklin Electric or any of 
its Subsidiaries before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency or official 
which could reasonably be expected to have a Materi al Adverse Effect or which in any manner 
draws into question the validity or enforceability of, or could reasonably be expected 
to impair the ability of Franklin Electric to perfo rm its obligations under, this 
Agreement, the Notes or any of the other Loan Docum ents. 
 
          SECTION 4.06.  Compliance with ERISA. (a)  Franklin Electric and each member of the 
Controlled Group have fulfilled their obligations u nder the minimum funding standards of ERISA  
and the Code with respect to each Plan and are in c ompliance in all material 
respects with the presently applicable provisions o f ERISA and the Code, and have 
not incurred any liability (other than liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of 
business) to the PBGC or a Plan under Title IV of E RISA. 
 
          (b)     Either (i) neither Franklin Elect ric nor any member of the 
Controlled Group is or within the preceding 5 years  ever has been obligated to 
contribute to any Multiemployer Plan, or (ii) if Fr anklin Electric or any member of the 
Controlled Group is or within the preceding 5 years  has been obligated to contribute 
to any Multiemployer Plan, neither Franklin Electri c nor any member of the 
Controlled Group has incurred any withdrawal liabil ity in excess of $1,000,000 with 
respect to any Multiemployer Plan under Title IV of  ERISA. 

          SECTION 4.07.  Taxes. There have been fil ed on behalf of Franklin Electric and its 
Subsidiaries all Federal and state income and other  material tax returns which are required to  
be filed by them and all taxes due pursuant to such  returns or pursuant to any assessment 
received by or on behalf of Franklin Electric or an y Subsidiary have been paid, except those 
being contested in good faith by appropriate procee dings and as to which adequate 
reserves have been established in accordance with G AAP.  The charges, accruals 
and reserves on the books of Franklin Electric and its Subsidiaries in respect of 
taxes or other governmental charges are, in the opi nion of Franklin Electric, 
adequate.  United States income tax returns of Fran klin Electric and its Subsidiaries 
have been examined and closed through the Fiscal Ye ar ended December 31, 1993. 
 
          SECTION 4.08.  Subsidiaries.Each of Frank lin Electric's Subsidiaries is duly 
organized, validly existing and in good tanding und er the laws of its jurisdiction of 
organization, is duly qualified to transact busines s in every jurisdiction where, by the 
nature of its business, such qualification is neces sary, and has all powers and all 
governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and  approvals required to carry on its 
business as now conducted, except where the failure  to have such licenses, authorizations, 
consents and approvals could not reasonably be expe cted to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
Franklin Electric has no Subsidiaries except those Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 4.08 (as 
such Schedule may be updated by Franklin Electric ( without any consent or approval 
by the Agent or any Bank) from time to time to dele te therefrom Persons which 
cease to be Subsidiaries of Franklin Electric after  the Closing Date and to add 
thereto Persons which become Subsidiaries of Frankl in Electric after the Closing 
Date), which accurately sets forth each such Subsid iary's complete name and 
jurisdiction of organization. 
 
          SECTION 4.09.  Not an Investment Company.  Neither Franklin Electric nor any of its 
Subsidiaries is an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 
1940, as amended. 
 
          SECTION 4.10  Public Utility Holding Comp any Act. Neither Franklin Electric nor any 
of its Subsidiaries is a "holding company", or a "s ubsidiary company" of a "holding 
company", or an "affiliate" of a "holding company" or of a "subsidiary company" of a 
"holding company", as such terms are defined in the  Public Utility Holding Company 
Act of 1935, as amended. 
 
          SECTION 4.11.  Ownership of Property; Lie ns. Each of Franklin Electric and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries has title to its properti es sufficient for the conduct of its 
business, andnone of such property is subject to an y Lien except as permitted in Section 5.07.  
 
          SECTION 4.12.  No Default. Neither Frankl in Electric nor any of its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries is in default under or with respect to  any agreement, instrument or undertaking 
to which it is a party or by which it or any of its  property is bound which could reasonably 
be expected to have or cause a Material Adverse Eff ect. 
 
          SECTION 4.13.  Full Disclosure.All inform ation heretofore furnished by Franklin 
Electric to the Agent or any Bank for purposes of o r in connection with this Agreement or any 
transaction contemplated hereby is, and all such in formation hereafter furnished by Franklin 
Electric to the Agent or any Bank will be, true, ac curate and complete in every material 
respect or based on reasonable estimates on the dat e as of which such information is stated or  



certified.  Franklin Electric has disclosed to the Banks in writing any and all facts 
which could reasonably be expected to have or cause  a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.14.  Environmental  Matters. (a ) Neither Franklin Electric nor any 
Subsidiary is subject to any Environmental Liabilit y which could reasonably be expected to 
have or cause a Material Adverse Effect, and, excep t as disclosed on Schedule 4.14A-1 hereto, 
neither Franklin Electric nor any Subsidiary has be en designated as a potentially 
responsible party under CERCLA or under any state s tatute similar to CERCLA. 
Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.14A-2 hereto, non e of the Properties has been 
identified on any current or proposed (i) National Priorities List under 40 C.F.R. 
  300, (ii) CERCLIS list or (iii) any list arising from a state statute similar to CERCLA. 
 
          (b)     No Hazardous Materials have been or are being used, 
produced, manufactured, processed, treated, recycle d, generated, stored, disposed 
of, managed or otherwise handled at, or shipped or transported to or from the 
Properties or are otherwise present at, on, in or u nder the Properties, or, to the best 
of the knowledge of Franklin Electric, at or from a ny adjacent site or facility, except 
for Hazardous Materials, such as cleaning solvents,  pesticides and other materials 
used, produced, manufactured, processed, treated, r ecycled, generated, stored, 
disposed of, and managed or otherwise handled in mi nimal amounts in the ordinary 
course of business in compliance in all material re spects with all applicable 
Environmental Requirements. 
 
          (c)     Franklin Electric, and each of it s Subsidiaries and Affiliates, has 
procured all Environmental Authorizations necessary  for the conduct of its business, 
and is in compliance with all Environmental Require ments in connection with the 
operation of the Properties and Franklin Electric's , and each of its Subsidiary's and 
Affiliate's, respective businesses, except where an y failure to procure any such 
Environmental Authorizations or any failure to comp ly with any such Environmental 
Requirements could not, alone or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have 
a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.15.  Compliance with Laws. Fran klin Electric and each Subsidiary is in 
compliance with all applicable laws, including, wit hout limitation, all Environmental 
Requirements, except where any failure to comply wi th any such laws could not, alone or in the  
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Materia l Adverse Effect. 
 
          SECTION 4.16.  Capital Stock.All Capital Stock, debentures, bonds, notes and all 
other securities of Franklin Electric and its Subsi diaries presently issued and outstanding 
are validly and properly issued in accordance with all applicable laws, including, but not 
limited to, the "Blue Sky" laws of all applicable s tates and the federal securities laws.  The  
issued shares of Capital Stock of Franklin Electric 's Wholly Owned Subsidiaries are 
owned by Franklin Electric free and clear of any Li en or adverse claim.  At least a 
majority of the issued shares of stock of each of F ranklin Electric's other Subsidiaries 
(other than Wholly Owned Subsidiaries) having ordin ary voting power to elect a 
majority of the board of directors of such Subsidia ry is owned by Franklin Electric 
free and clear of any Lien or adverse claim. 
 
          SECTION 4.17.  Margin Stock.Neither Frank lin Electric nor any of its Subsidiaries is  
engaged principally, or as one of its important act ivities, in the business of purchasing or 
carrying any Margin Stock.  Margin Stock constitute s less than 25% of those assets of Franklin  
Electric and its Subsidiaries which are subject to any limitation on sale, pledge or other 
restriction hereunder. 
 
          SECTION 4.18.  Insolvency. After giving e ffect to the execution and delivery of the 
Loan Documents and the making of the Loans under th is Agreement, neither Franklin Electric nor  
ODI will be "insolvent," within the meaning of such  term as used in O.C.G.A.   18-2-22 or as 
defined in   101 of Title 11 of the United States C ode or Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent 
Transfer Act, or any other applicable state law per taining to fraudulent transfers, as 
each may be amended from time to time, or be unable  to pay its debts generally as 
such debts become due, or have an unreasonably smal l capital to engage in any 
business or transaction, whether current or contemp lated. 
 
                                   ARTICLE V 
 
                                  COVENANTS 
 
          Franklin Electric agrees that, so long as  any Bank has any 
Commitment hereunder or any amount payable under an y Note remains unpaid: 
 
          SECTION 5.01.  Information.Franklin Elect ric will deliver to each of the Banks: 
     (a)  as soon as available and in any event wit hin 90 days after the end 
of each Fiscal Year, a consolidated balance sheet o f Franklin Electric and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fis cal Year and the related 
consolidated statements of income, shareholders' eq uity and cash flows for 
such Fiscal Year, setting forth in each case in com parative form the figures 
for the previous fiscal year, all certified by Delo itte & Touche LLP or other 
independent public accountants of nationally recogn ized standing, with such 
certification to be free of exceptions and qualific ations not acceptable to the 
Required Banks; 
 
     (b)  as soon as available and in any event wit hin 60 days after the end 



of each of the first 3 Fiscal Quarters of each Fisc al Year, a consolidated 
balance sheet of Franklin Electric and its Consolid ated Subsidiaries as of the 
end of such Fiscal Quarter and the related statemen t of income and 
statement of cash flows for such Fiscal Quarter and  for the portion of the 
Fiscal Year ended at the end of such Fiscal Quarter , setting forth in each 
case in comparative form the figures for the corres ponding Fiscal Quarter and 
the corresponding portion of the previous Fiscal Ye ar, all certified (subject to 
normal year-end and audit adjustments) as to fairne ss of presentation, GAAP 
and consistency by the chief financial officer or t he chief accounting officer of 
Franklin Electric; 
 
     (c)  simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements 
referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, a certifi cate, substantially in the form 
of Exhibit J (a "Compliance Certificate"), of the c hief financial officer or the 
chief accounting officer  of Franklin Electric (i) setting forth in reasonable 
detail the calculations required to establish wheth er Franklin Electric was in 
compliance with the requirements of Sections 5.03, 5.04, 5.05, 5.06, 5.07 and 
5.08 on the date of such financial statements and ( ii) stating whether any 
Default exists on the date of such certificate and,  if any Default then exists, 
setting forth the details thereof and the action wh ich Franklin Electric is taking 
or proposes to take with respect thereto; 
 
     (d)  within 5 Domestic Business Days after any  Responsible Officer 
becomes aware of the occurrence of any Default, a c ertificate of the chief 
financial officer or the chief accounting officer o f Franklin Electric setting forth 
the details thereof and the action which Franklin E lectric is taking or proposes 
to take with respect thereto; 
 
     (e)  promptly upon the mailing thereof  to the  shareholders of  Franklin 
Electric generally, copies of all financial stateme nts, reports and proxy 
statements so mailed; 
 
     (f)  promptly upon the filing thereof, copies of all registration 
statements (other than the exhibits thereto and any  registration statements on 
Form S-8 or its equivalent) and annual or  quarterl y reports which Franklin 
Electric shall have filed with the Securities and E xchange Commission; 
 
     (g)  if and when Franklin Electric or, to the knowledge of a Responsible 
Officer, any member of the Controlled Group (i) giv es or is required to give 
notice to the PBGC of any "reportable event" (as de fined in Section 4043 of 
ERISA) with respect to any Plan which might constit ute grounds for a 
termination of such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, o r knows that the plan 
administrator of any Plan has given or is required to give notice of any such 
reportable event, a copy of the notice of such repo rtable event given or 
required to be given to the PBGC; (ii) receives not ice of complete or partial 
withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA, a cop y of such notice; or 
(iii) receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to 
terminate or appoint a trustee to administer any Pl an, a copy of such notice; 
 
     (h)  promptly after a Responsible Officer know s of the commencement 
thereof, notice of any litigation, dispute or proce eding involving a claim 
against Franklin Electric and/or any Subsidiary for  $3,000,000 or more in 
excess of amounts covered in full by applicable  in surance; and 
 
     (i)  from time to time such additional informa tion regarding the financial 
position or business of Franklin Electric and its S ubsidiaries as the Agent, at 
the request of any Bank, may reasonably request. 
 
          SECTION 5.02.  Inspection of Property, Bo oks and Records. Franklin Electric will 
(i) keep, and will cause each Subsidiary to keep, p roper books of record and account 
in which full, true and correct entries in conformi ty with GAAP (where applicable) 
shall be made of all dealings and transactions in r elation to its business and 
activities; and (ii) permit, and will cause each Su bsidiary to permit, representatives of 
any Bank at such Bank's expense prior to the occurr ence of an Event of Default and 
at the Borrower's expense after the occurrence of a n Event of Default  to visit and 
inspect any of their respective properties, to exam ine and make abstracts from any 
of their respective books and records and to discus s their respective affairs, finances 
and accounts with their respective officers and ind ependent public accountants; 
provided that in any such discussions with the inde pendent public accountants of 
Franklin Electric, Franklin Electric shall be affor ded the opportunity to have one or 
more of its officers present at such discussions.  Franklin Electric agrees to 
cooperate and assist in such visits and inspections , in each case upon reasonable 
prior notice and at such times during normal busine ss hours and as often as may 
reasonably be desired. 

          SECTION 5.03.  Debt Restriction. Neither Franklin Electric nor any Subsidiary will 
create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Debt, except: 
 
          (a)     Current Debt of Franklin Electric  and its Subsidiaries, provided 
that commencing on October 1, 1995 and at all times  thereafter there shall have 
been a period of at least 30 consecutive days withi n the 12 month period 
immediately preceding the date of determination dur ing which the aggregate 



principal amount of Current Debt of Franklin Electr ic and its Subsidiaries outstanding 
as of the close of business on each day during such  30 day period did not exceed an 
amount equal to the amount of Funded Debt which wou ld have been permitted as 
additional Funded Debt under paragraph (b) of this Section 5.03 as of the close of 
business on each such day during such 30 day period  (with the amount of such 
Funded Debt being determined for purposes of this S ection 5.03(a) only as if the 
term "Consolidated Tangible Test Capitalization" ap pearing in Section 5.03(b) were 
instead "Consolidated Tangible Capitalization"); 
 
          (b)     Funded Debt of  Franklin Electric  or any Subsidiary (including 
Debt represented by the Notes), provided that (i) t he aggregate principal amount of 
all Funded Debt of Franklin Electric and its Subsid iaries at no time exceeds 50% of 
Consolidated Tangible Test Capitalization and (ii) the aggregate amount of (A) Debt 
of U.S. Subsidiaries which is Guaranteed by Frankli n Electric and (B) Debt of 
Franklin Electric secured by Liens at no time excee ds 15% of Consolidated Tangible 
Net Worth; and 
 
          (c)     Debt of Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary owing to Franklin 
Electric or to any Subsidiary. 
 
          SECTION 5.04.  Current Obligation Coverag e. At the end of each Fiscal Quarter, 
commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending December 31, 1995, the ratio of Income Available for  
Fixed Charges for the period of  4 consecutive Fisc al Quarters then ended to Current 
Obligations for the period of 4 consecutive Fiscal Quarters then ended, shall not 
have been less than 2.5 to 1.0. 
 
          SECTION 5.05.  Current Ratio.  Franklin E lectric will not permit the 
ratio (expressed as a percentage) of Consolidated C urrent Assets to Consolidated 
Current Liabilities to fall below 140% at any time.  
 
          SECTION 5.06.  Loans or Advances. Neither  Franklin Electric nor any of its 
Subsidiaries shall make loans or advances to any Pe rson except: (i) loans or advances to 
employees made in the ordinary course of  business and consistently with practices existing on  
the Closing Date; (ii) deposits required by governm ent agencies or public utilities; (iii) 
loans or advances to ODI or any Subsidiary Guaranto r; (iv) loans or advances to any 
Subsidiary (other than ODI or any Subsidiary Guaran tor) to the extent (A) the 
aggregate outstanding amount of all loans and advan ces to such Subsidiary does 
not exceed $10,000,000 and (B) the aggregate outsta nding amount of all loans and 
advances to all Subsidiaries (other than ODI or any  Subsidiary Guarantor) does not 
exceed $30,000,000; (v) loans or advances to senior  management of Franklin 
Electric pursuant to Franklin Electric's stock purc hase plan in an aggregate 
outstanding amount not to exceed $5,000,000; (vi) l oans or advances to the existing 
employee stock ownership plan of Franklin Electric and any new employee stock 
ownership plan of Franklin Electric which is approv ed by Franklin Electric's 
shareholders; and (vii) loans or advances permitted  by Section 5.07; provided that 
after giving effect to the making of any loans, adv ances or deposits permitted by 
clause (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi) or (vii) o f this Section, no Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing. 
 
          SECTION 5.07.  Investments.Neither Frankl in Electric nor any of its Subsidiaries 
shall make Investments in any Person except as perm itted by Section 5.10, and except 
Investments (i) in direct obligations of or guarant eed by the United States Government or any 
state of the United States or any agency of either thereof maturing within 1 year, (ii) 
in certificates of deposit issued by, and time depo sits with, a commercial bank with a 
capital of $100,000,000 or more or whose credit is reasonably satisfactory to the 
Agent, (iii) in commercial paper rated A or better by Standard & Poor's Ratings 
Group, a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc., or the equi valent thereof by any nationally 
recognized rating agency,  (iv) in the form of loan s and advances permitted by 
Section 5.06, (v) in  tender bonds the payment of t he principal of and interest on 
which is fully supported by a letter of credit issu ed by a United States bank whose 
long-term certificates of deposit are rated at leas t A or better by Standard & Poor's 
Ratings Group, a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc., or the equivalent thereof by any 
nationally recognized rating agency, (vi) in any Su bsidiary or any corporation or other 
Person which immediately after such Investment is m ade will be a Subsidiary, (vii) 
consisting of stock, obligations or securities rece ived in settlement of debts created 
in the ordinary course of business owing to Frankli n Electric or any Subsidiary, to the 
extent the aggregate amount of all such Investments  described in this clause  (vii) 
made after the Closing Date does not exceed $1,000, 000, (viii) consisting of demand 
deposit accounts, (ix) consisting of repurchase agr eements with respect to 
Investments described in clauses (ii) and (iii) abo ve, (x) consisting of money market 
funds which invest exclusively in Investments descr ibed in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and 
(ix) above, and (xi) not otherwise permitted by the  foregoing clauses (i) through (x) in 
an aggregate amount not to exceed an amount equal t o 25% of Consolidated 
Tangible Net Worth. 
 
          SECTION 5.08.  Negative Pledge. Neither F ranklin Electric nor any Consolidated 
Subsidiary will create, assume or suffer to exist a ny Lien on any asset now owned or hereafter  
acquired by it, except: 
 
          (a)  Liens existing on the date of this A greement securing 
     Indebtedness outstanding on the date of this A greement in an aggregate 
     principal amount not exceeding $0; 



 
          (b)  any Lien existing on any asset of an y corporation or other Person 
     at the time such corporation or other Person b ecomes a Consolidated 
      Subsidiary and not created in contemplation o f such event; 
 
          (c)  any Lien on any asset securing Indeb tedness incurred or assumed 
     for the purpose of financing all or any part o f the cost of acquiring or 
     constructing such asset, provided that such Li en attaches to such asset 
     concurrently with or within 18 months after th e acquisition or completion of 
     construction thereof; 
 
          (d)  any Lien on any asset of any corpora tion or other Person existing 
     at the time such corporation or other Person i s merged or consolidated with 
     or into Franklin Electric or a Consolidated Su bsidiary and not created in 
     contemplation of such event; 
 
          (e)  any Lien existing on any asset prior  to the acquisition thereof by 
     Franklin Electric or a Consolidated Subsidiary  and not created in 
     contemplation of such acquisition; 
 
          (f)  Liens securing Indebtedness owing by  any Subsidiary to Franklin 
     Electric or another Subsidiary; 
 
          (g)  any Lien arising out of the refinanc ing, extension, renewal or 
     refunding of any Indebtedness secured by any L ien permitted by any of the 
     foregoing clauses of this Section, provided th at (i) such Indebtedness is not 
     secured by any additional assets, and (ii) the  amount of such Indebtedness 
     secured by any such Lien is not increased; 
 
          (h)  Liens incidental to the conduct of i ts business or the ownership of 
     its assets which (i) do not secure Indebtednes s and (ii) do not in the 
     aggregate materially detract from the value of  its assets or materially impair 
     the use thereof in the operation of its busine ss; 
 
          (i)  any Lien on Margin Stock; and 
 
          (j)  Liens not otherwise permitted by the  foregoing clauses of this 
     Section securing Indebtedness (other than inde btedness represented by the 
     Notes) in an aggregate principal amount at any  time outstanding not to 
     exceed 15% of Consolidated Tangible Net Worth.  
 
          SECTION 5.09.  Maintenance of Existence. Franklin Electric shall, and shall cause 
each Material Subsidiary to, maintain its corporate  existence (except as otherwise permitted 
by Section 5.10) and carry on its business in subst antially the same manner and in 
substantially the same fields as such business is n ow carried on and maintained. 
 
          SECTION 5.10.  Consolidations, Mergers an d Sales of Assets. Franklin Electric 
will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, con solidate or merge with or into, or sell, 
lease or otherwise transfer all or any substantial part of its assets to, any other 
Person, provided that (a) Franklin Electric may mer ge with another Person if (i) such 
Person was organized under the laws of the United S tates of America or one of its 
states, (ii) Franklin Electric is the corporation s urviving such merger and (iii) 
immediately after giving effect to such merger, no Default shall have occurred and 
be continuing, (b) Subsidiaries of Franklin Electri c may merge with one another or 
with Franklin Electric, and (c) the foregoing limit ation on the sale, lease or other 
transfer of assets shall not prohibit (1) any sale of accounts receivable of Franklin 
Electric or any Subsidiary, (2) any sale and leaseb ack of any Property owned by 
Franklin Electric or any of its Subsidiaries, (3) a ny sale, lease or other transfer of 
assets made by Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary in the ordinary course of its 
business, or (4) any sale, lease or other transfer of assets outside of the ordinary 
course of business so long as the aggregate amount of assets sold, leased or 
otherwise transferred outside of the ordinary cours e of business in the then most 
recent twelve (12) month period which were not othe rwise permitted by this Section 
5.10 to be sold, leased or otherwise transferred to gether with the amount of any 
assets then proposed to be sold, leased or otherwis e transferred outside of the 
ordinary course of business which are not otherwise  permitted by this Section 5.10 to 
be sold, leased or otherwise transferred (A) does n ot constitute more than fifteen 
percent (15%) of Consolidated Total Assets determin ed as of the end of the most 
recently ended Fiscal Year and (B) has not contribu ted more than fifteen percent 
(15%) of Consolidated Operating Profits for the mos t recently ended Fiscal Year. 
 
          SECTION 5.11.  Use of Proceeds. No portio n of the proceeds of the Loans will be used  
by Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary (i) in a man ner which would violate or cause any Bank 
to be in violation of Regulation G, T, U or X of th e Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System, (ii) for any purpose in violation o f any applicable law or regulation, 
or (iii) to finance the acquisition of a controllin g interest in any Person if the board of 
directors (or the functional equivalent thereof) of  such Person has not recommended 
or approved such acquisition. 
 
          SECTION 5.12.  Compliance with Laws; Paym ent of Taxes. Franklin Electric will, 
and will cause each of its Subsidiaries and (as to ERISA and regulations and similar 
requirements of the PBGC only) each member of the C ontrolled Group to, comply in 



all material respects  with applicable laws (includ ing but not limited to ERISA), 
regulations and similar requirements of governmenta l authorities (including but not 
limited to PBGC), except where the necessity of suc h compliance is being contested 
in good faith through appropriate proceedings dilig ently pursued.  Franklin Electric 
will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, p ay promptly when due all taxes, 
assessments, governmental charges, claims for labor , supplies, rent and other 
obligations which, if unpaid, might become a lien a gainst the property of Franklin 
Electric or any Subsidiary not permitted by Section  5.08, except liabilities being 
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued and against 
which, if requested by the Agent, Franklin Electric  shall have set up reserves in 
accordance with GAAP. 
 
          SECTION 5.13.  Insurance. Franklin Electr ic will maintain, and will cause each of 
its Subsidiaries to maintain (either in the name of  Franklin Electric or in such Subsidiary's 
own name), with financially sound and reputable ins urance companies, insurance on all its 
Property in at least such amounts and against at le ast such risks as are usually insured 
against in the same general area by companies of es tablished repute engaged in the same or 
similar business; provided that Franklin Electric m ay satisfy the requirements of this Section  
through adequate self-insurance programs. 
 
          SECTION 5.14.  Change in Fiscal Year. Fra nklin Electric will not change its Fiscal 
Year without the consent of the Required Banks. 
 
          SECTION 5.15.  Maintenance of Property. F ranklin Electric shall, and shall cause 
each Subsidiary to, maintain its properties and ass ets in all material respects in good 
condition, repair and working order, ordinary wear and tear excepted. 
 
          SECTION 5.16.  Environmental Matters. (a)  Franklin Electric shall furnish to the 
Banks and the Agent prompt written notice of all ma terial Environmental Liabilities, pending 
or, to the best knowledge of any Responsible Office r, threatened material Environmental 
Proceedings, material Environmental Notices, Enviro nmental Judgments and 
Orders, and material Environmental Releases at, on,  in, under or in any way 
affecting the Properties or any adjacent property. 

          (b) Franklin Electric and its Subsidiarie s will not, and will not permit 
any Third Party to, use, produce, manufacture, proc ess, treat, recycle, generate, 
store, dispose of, manage at, or otherwise handle o r ship or transport to or from the 
Properties any Hazardous Materials except for Hazar dous Materials such as 
cleaning solvents, pesticides and other similar mat erials used, produced, 
manufactured, processed, treated, recycled, generat ed, stored, disposed, managed 
or otherwise handled in minimal amounts in the ordi nary course of business in 
compliance in all material respects with all applic able Environmental Requirements. 
 
          (c) Franklin Electric agrees that upon th e occurrence of a material 
Environmental Release at or on any of the Propertie s it will act immediately to 
investigate the extent of, and to take appropriate remedial action to eliminate, such 
Environmental Release, whether or not ordered or ot herwise directed to do so by any 
Environmental Authority. 
 
 
 
 
                                  ARTICLE VI 
 
                                   DEFAULTS 
 
 
     SECTION 6.01.  Events of Default. If one or mo re of the following events ("Events of 
Default") shall have occurred and be continuing: 
 
          (a) any Borrower shall fail to pay when d ue any principal of any Loan 
     or shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan within 10 Domestic Business 
     Days after such interest shall become due, or shall fail to pay any fee or other 
     amount payable hereunder within 10 Domestic Bu siness Days after such fee 
     or other amount becomes due; or 
 
          (b) Franklin Electric shall fail to obser ve or perform any covenant 
     contained in Sections 5.02(ii), 5.03 to 5.11, inclusive, or Section 5.14; or 
 
          (c) Franklin Electric shall fail to obser ve or perform any covenant or 
     agreement contained or incorporated by referen ce in this Agreement (other 
     than those covered by clause (a) or (b) above)  for thirty days after the earlier 
     of (i) the first day on which any Responsible Officer  has knowledge of such 
     failure or (ii) written notice thereof has bee n given to Franklin Electric by the 
     Agent at the request of any Bank; or 
 
          (d)  any representation, warranty, certif ication or statement made or 
     deemed made by  any Borrower in this Agreement  or by ODI in the Guaranty 
     Agreement or by any Subsidiary Guarantor in an y Subsidiary Guaranty to 
     which such Subsidiary Guarantor is a party or in any certificate, financial 
     statement (other than any projections made in such financial statement) or 
     other document delivered pursuant to this Agre ement or the Guaranty 



     Agreement or any Subsidiary Guaranty shall pro ve to have been incorrect or 
     misleading in any material respect when made ( or deemed made); or 
 
          (e) Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary s hall fail to make any payment 
     in respect of Indebtedness outstanding in an a ggregate amount exceeding 
     $3,000,000 (other than the Notes) when due or within any applicable grace 
     period; or 
 
          (f)  any event or condition shall occur w hich results in the acceleration 
     of the maturity of Indebtedness outstanding in  an aggregate amount 
     exceeding $3,000,000 of Franklin Electric or a ny Subsidiary or the mandatory 
     prepayment or purchase of such Indebtedness by  Franklin Electric (or its 
     designee) or such Subsidiary (or its designee)  prior to the scheduled maturity 
     thereof, or enables the holders of such Indebt edness or any Person acting on 
     such holders' behalf to accelerate the maturit y thereof or require the 
     mandatory prepayment or purchase thereof prior  to the scheduled maturity 
     thereof, without regard to whether such holder s or other Person shall have 
     exercised or waived their right to do so; or 
 
          (g) Franklin Electric, any other Borrower  or any Subsidiary shall 
     commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, 
     reorganization or other relief with respect to  itself or its debts under any 
     bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law no w or hereafter in effect or 
     seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver , liquidator, custodian or other 
     similar official of it or any substantial part  of its property, or shall consent to 
     any such relief or to the appointment of or ta king possession by any such 
     official in an involuntary case or other proce eding commenced against it, or 
     shall make a general assignment for the benefi t of creditors, or shall fail 
     generally, or shall admit in writing its inabi lity, to pay its debts as they become 
     due, or shall take any corporate action to aut horize any of the foregoing; or 
 
          (h)  an involuntary case or other proceed ing shall be commenced 
     against Franklin Electric, any other Borrower or any Subsidiary seeking 
     liquidation, reorganization or other relief wi th respect to it or its debts under 
     any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar la w now or hereafter in effect or 
     seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver , liquidator, custodian or other 
     similar official of it or any substantial part  of its property, and such involuntary 
     case or other proceeding shall remain undismis sed and unstayed for a period 
     of 60 days; or an order for relief shall be en tered against Franklin Electric, any 
     other Borrower or any Subsidiary under the fed eral bankruptcy laws as now or 
     hereafter in effect; or 
 
          (i) Franklin Electric or any member of th e Controlled Group shall fail to 
     pay when due any material amount which it shal l have become liable to pay 
     to the PBGC or to a Plan under Title IV of ERI SA; or notice of intent to 
     terminate a Plan or Plans shall be filed under  Title IV of ERISA by Franklin 
     Electric, any member of the Controlled Group, any plan administrator or any 
     combination of the foregoing which results in liability of Franklin Electric or 
     any member of the Controlled Group of greater than $2,000,000; or the 
     PBGC shall institute proceedings under Title I V of ERISA to terminate or to 
     cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any such Plan or Plans or a 
     proceeding shall be instituted by a fiduciary of any such Plan or Plans to 
     enforce Section 515 or 4219(c)(5) of ERISA and  such proceeding shall not 
     have been dismissed within 60 days thereafter;  or a condition shall exist by 
     reason of which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating 
     that any such Plan or Plans must be terminated ; or Franklin Electric or any 
     other member of the Controlled Group shall inc ur any withdrawal liability in 
     excess of $2,000,000 with respect to a Multiem ployer Plan; or 
 
          (j)  one or more judgments or orders for the payment of money in an 
     aggregate amount in excess of $2,000,000 shall  be rendered against Franklin 
     Electric or any Subsidiary and such judgment o r order shall continue 
     unsatisfied, unbonded and unstayed for a perio d of 60 days; or 
 
          (k)  (i) any Person or two or more Person s acting in concert shall have 
     acquired beneficial ownership (within the mean ing of Rule 13d-3 of the 
     Securities and Exchange Commission under the S ecurities Exchange Act of 
     1934) of 35% or more of the outstanding shares  of the voting stock of 
     Franklin Electric; or (ii) except as may occur  solely as a result of natural 
     disasters or other accidental causes, as of an y date a majority of the Board of 
     Directors of Franklin Electric consists of ind ividuals who were not either (A) 
     directors of Franklin Electric as of the corre sponding date of the previous 
     year, (B) selected or nominated to become dire ctors by the Board of Directors 
     of Franklin Electric of which a majority consi sted of individuals described in 
     clause (A), or (C) selected or nominated to be come directors by the Board of 
     Directors of Franklin Electric of which a majo rity consisted of individuals 
     described in clause (A) and individuals descri bed in clause (B); or 
 
          (l) any provision of Article XI shall cea se to be in full force and effect 
     with respect to Franklin Electric, or Franklin  Electric or any Person acting on 
     behalf of Franklin Electric shall so assert in  writing; or 
 



          (m) any material provision of the Guarant y Agreement (including 
     without limitation Section 1 of the Guaranty A greement) shall cease to be 
     in full force and effect with respect to ODI, or ODI or any Person acting on 
     behalf of ODI shall so assert in writing; or 
 
          (n) any material provision of any Subsidi ary Guaranty shall cease to be 
     in full force and effect with respect to the S ubsidiary Guarantor party to 
     such Subsidiary Guaranty, or such Subsidiary G uarantor or any Person acting 
     on behalf of such Subsidiary Guarantor shall s o assert in writing; 
 
then, and in every such event, the Agent shall (i) if requested by the Required Banks, 
by notice to Franklin Electric terminate the Commit ments and they shall thereupon 
terminate, and (ii) if requested by the Required Ba nks, by notice to Franklin Electric 
declare the Notes (together with accrued interest t hereon) and all other amounts 
payable hereunder and under the other Loan Document s to be, and the Notes 
(together will all accrued interest thereon) and al l other amounts payable hereunder 
and under the other Loan Documents shall thereupon become, immediately due and 
payable without presentment, demand, protest or oth er notice of any kind, all of 
which are hereby waived by Franklin Electric; provi ded that if any Event of Default 
specified in clause (g) or (h) above occurs with re spect to Franklin Electric, without 
any notice to Franklin Electric or any other act by  the Agent or the Banks, the 
Commitments shall thereupon automatically terminate  and the Notes (together with 
accrued interest thereon) and all other amounts pay able hereunder and under the 
other Loan Documents shall automatically become imm ediately due and payable 
without presentment, demand, protest or other notic e of any kind, all of which are 
hereby waived by Franklin Electric.  Notwithstandin g the foregoing, the Agent shall 
have available to it all other remedies at law or e quity, and shall exercise any one or 
all of them at the request of the Required Banks. 
 
          SECTION 6.02.  Notice of Default. The Age nt shall give notice to Franklin Electric 
of any Default under Section 6.01(c) promptly upon being requested to do so by any Bank and 
shall thereupon notify all the Banks thereof. 
 
                                 ARTICLE VII 
 
                                  THE AGENT 
 
 
     SECTION 7.01.  Appointment, Powers and Immunit ies. Each Bank hereby irrevocably 
appoints and authorizes the Agent to act as its age nt hereunder and under the other 
Loan Documents with such powers as are specifically  delegated to the Agent by the 
terms hereof and thereof, together with such other powers as are reasonably 
incidental thereto.  The Agent:  (a) shall have no duties or responsibilities except as 
expressly set forth in this Agreement and the other  Loan Documents, and shall not 
by reason of this Agreement or any other Loan Docum ent be a trustee for any Bank; 
(b) shall not be responsible to the Banks for any r ecitals, statements, representations 
or warranties contained in this Agreement or any ot her Loan Document, or in any 
certificate or other document referred to or provid ed for in, or received by any Bank 
under, this Agreement or any other Loan Document, o r for the validity, effectiveness, 
genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other Loan 
Document or any other document referred to or provi ded for herein or therein or for 
any failure by Franklin Electric or any other Borro wer to perform any of its obligations 
hereunder or thereunder; (c) shall not be required to initiate or conduct any litigation 
or collection proceedings hereunder or under any ot her Loan Document except to 
the extent requested by the Required Banks, and the n only on terms and conditions 
satisfactory to the Agent, and (d) shall not be res ponsible for any action taken or 
omitted to be taken by it hereunder or under any ot her Loan Document or any other 
document or instrument referred to or provided for herein or therein or in connection 
herewith or therewith, except for its own gross neg ligence or willful misconduct.  The 
Agent may employ agents and attorneys-in-fact and s hall not be responsible for the 
negligence or misconduct of any such agents or atto rneys-in-fact selected by it with 
reasonable care.  The provisions of this Article VI I are solely for the benefit of the 
Agent and the Banks, and the Borrowers shall not ha ve any rights as a third party 
beneficiary of any of the provisions hereof.  In pe rforming its functions and duties 
under this Agreement and under the other Loan Docum ents, the Agent shall act 
solely as agent of the Banks and does not assume an d shall not be deemed to have 
assumed any obligation towards or relationship of a gency or trust with or for the 
Borrowers.  The duties of the Agent shall be minist erial and administrative in nature, 
and the Agent shall not have by reason of this Agre ement or any other Loan 
Document a fiduciary relationship in respect of any  Bank. 

          SECTION 7.02.  Reliance by Agent. The Age nt shall be entitled to rely upon any 
certification, notice or other communication (inclu ding any thereof by telephone, telefax, 
telegram or cable) believed by it to be genuine and  correct and to have been signed or sent by  
or on behalf of the proper Person or Persons, and u pon advice and statements of legal 
counsel, independent accountants or other experts s elected by the Agent.  As to any 
matters not expressly provided for by this Agreemen t or any other Loan Document, 
the Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, 
hereunder and thereunder in accordance with instruc tions signed by the Required 
Banks, and such instructions of the Required Banks in any action taken or failure to 
act pursuant thereto shall be binding on all of the  Banks. 
 



          SECTION 7.03.  Defaults. The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of the 
occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default (oth er than the non-payment of principal of or 
interest on the Loans) unless the Agent has receive d notice from a Bank or Franklin Electric 
specifying such Default or Event of Default and sta ting that such notice is a "Notice of 
Default".  In the event that the Agent receives suc h a notice of the occurrence of a Default 
or an Event of Default, the Agent shall give prompt  notice thereof to the Banks. The Agent 
shall give each Bank prompt notice of each non-paym ent of principal of or interest on 
the Loans, whether or not it has received any notic e of the occurrence of such non- 
payment.  The Agent shall (subject to Section 9.05)  take such action with respect to 
such Default or Event of Default as shall be direct ed by the Required Banks, 
provided that, unless and until the Agent shall hav e received such directions, the 
Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such  action, or refrain from taking 
such action, with respect to such Default or Event of Default as it shall deem 
advisable in the best interests of the Banks. 
 
          SECTION 7.04.  Rights of Agent as a Bank.  With respect to the Loans made by it, 
Wachovia in its capacity as a Bank hereunder shall have the same rights and powers hereunder 
as any other Bank and may exercise the same as thou gh it were not acting as the 
Agent, and the term "Bank" or "Banks" shall, unless  the context otherwise indicates, 
include Wachovia in its individual capacity.  The A gent may (without having to 
account therefor to any Bank) accept deposits from,  lend money to and generally 
engage in any kind of banking, trust or other busin ess with any Borrower (and any of 
its Affiliates) as if it were not acting as the Age nt, and the Agent may accept fees and 
other consideration from any Borrower (in addition to any agency fees and 
arrangement fees heretofore agreed to between Frank lin Electric and the Agent) for 
services in connection with this Agreement or any o ther Loan Document or otherwise 
without having to account for the same to the Banks . 
 
          SECTION 7.05.  Indemnification. Each Bank  severally agrees to indemnify the Agent, 
to the extent the Agent shall not have been reimbur sed by the Borrowers, ratably in accordance  
with its Commitment, for any and all liabilities, o bligations, losses, damages, 
penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expens es (including, without limitation, 
counsel fees and disbursements) or disbursements of  any kind and nature 
whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Agent in 
any way relating to or arising out of this Agreemen t or any other Loan Document or 
any other documents contemplated by or referred to herein or therein or the 
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby (exclud ing, unless an Event of Default 
has occurred and is continuing, the normal administ rative costs and expenses 
incident to the performance of its agency duties he reunder) or the enforcement of 
any of the terms hereof or thereof or any such othe r documents; provided, however, 
that no Bank shall be liable for any of the foregoi ng to the extent they arise from the 
gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Agent .  If any indemnity furnished to the 
Agent for any purpose shall, in the opinion of the Agent, be insufficient or become 
impaired, the Agent may call for additional indemni ty and cease, or not commence, 
to do the acts indemnified against until such addit ional indemnity is furnished. 
 
          SECTION 7.06.  CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. THE  AGENT SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE 
OR LIABLE TO ANY BANK, ANY BORROWER OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY EXEMPLARY OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES WHICH MAY BE ALLEGED AS A RESULT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN 
DOCUMENTS, OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY. 
 
          SECTION 7.07.  Payee of Note Treated as O wner. The Agent may deem and treat the 
payee of any Note as the owner thereof for all purp oses hereof unless and until a written 
notice of the assignment or transfer thereof shall have been filed with the Agent and 
the provisions of Section 9.07(c) have been satisfi ed.  Any requests, authority or 
consent of any Person who at the time of making suc h request or giving such 
authority or consent is the holder of any Note shal l be conclusive and binding on any 
subsequent holder, transferee or assignee of that N ote or of any Note or Notes 
issued in exchange therefor or replacement thereof.  
 
          SECTION 7.08.  Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Banks. Each Bank agrees 
that it has, independently and without reliance on the Agent or any other Bank, and 
based on such documents and information as it has d eemed appropriate, made its 
own credit analysis of the Borrowers and decision t o enter into this Agreement and 
that it will, independently and without reliance up on the Agent or any other Bank, and 
based on such documents and information as it shall  deem appropriate at the time, 
continue to make its own analysis and decisions in taking or not taking action under 
this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents.  The Agent shall not be 
required to keep itself (or any Bank) informed as t o the performance or observance 
by the Borrowers of this Agreement or any of the ot her Loan Documents or any other 
document referred to or provided for herein or ther ein or to inspect the properties or 
books of the Borrowers or any other Person.  Except  for notices, reports and other 
documents and information expressly required to be furnished to the Banks by the 
Agent hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, the Agent shall not have any 
duty or responsibility to provide any Bank with any  credit or other information 
concerning the affairs, financial condition or busi ness of the Borrowers or any other 
Person (or any of their Affiliates) which may come into the possession of the Agent. 
 
          SECTION 7.09.  Failure to Act.Except for action expressly required of the Agent 
hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, the Ag ent shall in all cases be fully justified 
in failing or refusing to act hereunder and thereun der unless it shall receive further 
assurances to its satisfaction by the Banks of thei r indemnification obligations under Section  



7.05 against any and all liability and expense whic h may be incurred by the Agent by 
reason of taking, continuing to take, or failing to  take any such action. 
 
          SECTION 7.10.  Resignation or Removal of Agent. Subject to the appointment and 
acceptance of a successor Agent as provided below, the Agent may resign at any time by giving 
notice thereof to the Banks and Franklin Electric a nd the Agent may be removed at 
any time with or without cause by the Required Bank s.  Upon any such resignation or 
removal, the Required Banks shall have the right to  appoint a successor Agent 
(subject to the approval of Franklin Electric if su ch successor Agent is not a Bank).  If 
no successor Agent shall have been so appointed by the Required Banks and shall 
have accepted such appointment within 30 days after  the retiring Agent's notice of 
resignation or the Required Banks' removal of the r etiring Agent, then the retiring 
Agent may, on behalf of the Banks, appoint a succes sor Agent (subject to the 
approval of Franklin Electric if such successor Age nt is not a Bank).  Any successor 
Agent shall be a bank which has a combined capital and surplus of at least 
$500,000,000.  Upon the acceptance of any appointme nt as Agent hereunder by a 
successor Agent, such successor Agent shall thereup on succeed to and become 
vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Agent, and the 
retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder.  After 
any retiring Agent's resignation or removal hereund er as Agent, the provisions of this 
Article VII shall continue in effect for its benefi t in respect of any actions taken or 
omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as th e Agent hereunder. 
 
                                  ARTICLE VIII 
 
                    CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES; COMPEN SATION 
 
 
     SECTION 8.01.  Basis for Determining Interest Rate Inadequate or 
Unfair. If on or prior to the first day of any Inte rest Period: 
 
          (a)  the Agent determines that deposits i n Dollars (in the applicable 
     amounts) are not being offered in the relevant  market for such Interest 
     Period, or 
 
          (b)  the Required Banks advise the Agent that the London Interbank 
     Offered Rate or IBOR, as the case may be, as d etermined by the Agent will 
     not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Banks of funding the relevant 
     type of Fixed Rate Loans for such Interest Per iod, 
 
the Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to Fr anklin Electric and the Banks, 
whereupon until the Agent notifies Franklin Electri c that the circumstances giving rise 
to such suspension no longer exist, the obligations  of the Banks to make the type of 
Fixed Rate Loans specified in such notice shall be suspended.  Unless the relevant 
Borrower notifies the Agent at least 2 Domestic Bus iness Days before the date of 
any Borrowing of such type of Fixed Rate Loans for which a Notice of Borrowing has 
previously been given that it elects not to borrow on such date, such Borrowing shall 
instead be made as a Base Rate Borrowing. 
 
          SECTION 8.02.  Illegality. If, after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable  
law, rule or regulation, or any change in any exist ing or future law, rule or regulation, or 
any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any governmental authority, 
central bank or comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof 
(any such authority, bank or agency being referred to as an "Authority" and any such event 
being referred to as a "Change of Law"), or complia nce by any Bank (or its Lending Office) 
with any request or directive (whether or not havin g the force of law) of any Authority shall 
make it unlawful or impossible for any Bank (or its  Lending Office) to make, maintain 
or fund its Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency L oans and such Bank shall so 
notify the Agent, the Agent shall forthwith give no tice thereof to the other Banks and 
Franklin Electric, whereupon until such Bank notifi es Franklin Electric and the Agent 
that the circumstances giving rise to such suspensi on no longer exist, the obligation 
of such Bank to make Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign C urrency Loans, as the case 
may be, shall be suspended.  Before giving any noti ce to the Agent pursuant to this 
Section, such Bank shall designate a different Lend ing Office if such designation will 
avoid the need for giving such notice and will not,  in the judgment of such Bank, be 
otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank.  If such Ba nk shall determine that it may 
not lawfully continue to maintain and fund any of i ts outstanding Euro-Dollar Loans or 
Foreign Currency Loans, as the case may be,  to mat urity and shall so specify in 
such notice, the relevant Borrower shall immediatel y prepay in full the then 
outstanding principal amount of each Euro-Dollar Lo an or Foreign Currency Loan, as 
the case may be,  of such Bank, together with accru ed interest thereon and any 
amount due such Bank pursuant to Section 8.05(a).  Concurrently with prepaying 
each such Euro-Dollar Loan or Foreign Currency Loan , as the case may be, such 
Borrower shall borrow a Base Rate Loan in an equal principal amount from such 
Bank (on which interest and principal shall be paya ble contemporaneously with the 
related Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans , as the case may be, of the 
other Banks), and such Bank shall make such a Base Rate Loan. 
 
          SECTION 8.03.  Increased Cost and Reduced  Return. Increased Cost and Reduced Return"  
 .  (a) If after the date hereof, a Change of Law o r compliance by any Bank (or its Lending 
Office) with any request or directive made or issue d after the date hereof (whether or not 
having the force of law) of any Authority: 



 
          (i)  shall subject any Bank (or its Lendi ng Office) to any tax, duty or 
     other charge with respect to its Fixed Rate Lo ans, its Notes or its obligation to 
     make Fixed Rate Loans, or shall change the bas is of taxation of payments to 
     any Bank (or its Lending Office) of the princi pal of or interest on its Fixed Rate 
     Loans or any other amounts due under this Agre ement in respect of its Fixed 
     Rate Loans or its obligation to make Fixed Rat e Loans (except for (A) taxes 
     imposed on or measured by the income of such B ank and franchise taxes 
     imposed on such Bank by the jurisdiction under  the laws of which such Bank 
     is organized or any political subdivision ther eof (including for the purpose of 
     this clause (A) with respect to any Bank organ ized under the laws of one of 
     the states of the United States, United States  federal income taxes) and (B) 
     taxes imposed on the income of such Bank and f ranchise taxes imposed on 
     such Bank by the jurisdiction of such Bank's a pplicable Lending Office or any 
     political subdivision thereof); or 
 
         (ii)  shall impose, modify or deem applica ble any reserve, special 
     deposit or similar requirement (including, wit hout limitation, any such 
     requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
     System, but excluding (A) with respect to any Foreign Currency Loan any 
     such requirement included in an applicable Adj usted IBOR Rate and (B) with 
     respect to any Euro-Dollar Loan any such requi rement included in an 
     applicable Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage) aga inst assets of, deposits with 
     or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Bank (or its Lending Office); 
     or 

          (iii) shall impose on any Bank (or its Le nding Office) or on the London 
     interbank market any other condition affecting  its Fixed Rate Loans, its Notes 
     or its obligation to make Fixed Rate Loans; 
 
and the result of any of the foregoing is to increa se the cost to such Bank (or its 
Lending Office) of making or maintaining any Fixed Rate Loan, or to reduce the 
amount of any sum received or receivable by such Ba nk (or its Lending Office) under 
this Agreement or under its Notes with respect ther eto, by an amount deemed by 
such Bank to be material, then, within 15 days afte r demand by such Bank (with a 
copy to the Agent), the relevant Borrower shall pay  to such Bank such additional 
amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for such increased cost or 
reduction. 
 
          (b)  If any Bank shall have determined th at the adoption after the date 
hereof of any applicable law, rule or regulation re garding capital adequacy, or any 
change after the date hereof in any existing or fut ure law, rule or regulation, or any 
change after the date hereof in the interpretation or administration thereof, or 
compliance by any Bank (or its Lending Office) with  any request or directive made 
after the date hereof regarding capital adequacy (w hether or not having the force of 
law) of any Authority, has or would have the effect  of reducing the rate of return on 
such Bank's capital as a consequence of its obligat ions hereunder to a level below 
that which such Bank could have achieved but for su ch adoption, change or 
compliance (taking into consideration such Bank's p olicies with respect to capital 
adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be ma terial, then from time to 
time, within 15 days after demand by such Bank, Fra nklin Electric shall pay to such 
Bank such additional amount or amounts as will comp ensate such Bank for such 
reduction. 
 
          (c) Each Bank will promptly notify Frankl in Electric and the Agent of 
any event of which it has knowledge, occurring afte r the date hereof, which will 
entitle such Bank to compensation pursuant to this Section and will designate a 
different Lending Office if such designation will a void the need for, or reduce the 
amount of, such compensation and will not, in the j udgment of such Bank, be 
otherwise disadvantageous to such Bank.  Notice by any Bank hereunder will be 
deemed to have been delivered promptly if given wit hin 90 days after such Bank 
shall have determined it is entitled to compensatio n as a result of the occurrence of 
any such event.  Franklin Electric shall not be lia ble for compensation pursuant to 
this Section 8.03 for which prompt notice has not b een given.  A certificate of any 
Bank claiming compensation under this Section and s etting forth the additional 
amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder shall be conclusive in the absence of 
manifest error.  In determining such amount, such B ank may use any reasonable 
averaging and attribution methods. 
 
          (d)     The provisions of this Section 8. 03 shall be applicable with 
respect to any Transferee, and any calculations req uired by such provisions shall be 
made based upon the circumstances of such Transfere e. 
 
          SECTION 8.04.  Base Rate Loans or Other F ixed Rate Loans 
Substituted for Affected Fixed Rate Loans. (a) If ( i) the obligation of any Bank to make or 
maintain any type of Fixed Rate Loans has been susp ended pursuant to Section 8.02 or (ii) any 
Bank has demanded compensation under Section 8.03, and Franklin Electric shall, by at least 5 
Euro-Dollar Business Days' or Foreign Currency Busi ness Days', as applicable,  prior notice to  
such Bank through the Agent, have elected that the provisions of this Section shall apply to 
such Bank, then, unless and until such Bank notifie s Franklin Electric that the 
circumstances giving rise to such suspension or dem and for compensation no longer 
apply: 



 
          (A)  all Loans which would otherwise be m ade by such Bank as 
     Foreign Currency Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans, a s the case may be, shall be 
     made instead either (A) as Base Rate Loans, (B ) if such suspension or 
     demand for compensation relates to Euro-Dollar  Loans, but not Foreign 
     Currency Loans, as Foreign Currency Loans, or (C) if such demand for 
     compensation relates to Foreign Currency Loans , but not Euro-Dollar Loans, 
     as Euro-Dollar Loans, as Franklin Electric may  elect in the notice to such 
     Bank through the Agent referred to hereinabove  (in all cases interest and 
     principal on such Loans shall be payable conte mporaneously with the related 
     Fixed Rate Loans of the other Banks), and 
 
          (B)  after each of its Foreign Currency L oans or Euro-Dollar Loans, as 
     the case may be, has been repaid, all payments  of principal which would 
     otherwise be applied to repay such Fixed Rate Loans shall be applied to 
     repay its Base Rate Loans instead. 
 
In the event that Franklin Electric shall elect tha t the provisions of this Section shall 
apply to any Bank, Franklin Electric shall remain l iable for, and shall pay to such 
Bank as provided herein, all amounts due such Bank under Section 8.03 in respect 
of the period preceding the date of conversion of s uch Bank's Loans resulting from 
Franklin Electric's election. 
 
          (b) If any Bank (the "Requesting Bank") g ives any notice to Franklin 
Electric pursuant to Section 8.02 suspending such B ank's obligation to make Euro- 
Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans or demands c ompensation or any other 
amount under Section 8.03, then upon written notice  to the Agent and the 
Requesting Bank given no later than 60 days after s uch suspension or demand, 
Franklin Electric shall have the right to (i) seek a bank or banks (the "Replacement 
Bank"), satisfactory to Franklin Electric and the A gent (whose approval will not be 
unreasonably withheld), to purchase all of the Requ esting Bank's rights and assume 
its obligations under this Agreement, the Notes and  the other Loan Documents 
pursuant to Section 9.07 or (ii) terminate the Requ esting Bank's Commitment upon 
payment to the Requesting Bank of its share of the outstanding principal amount of 
all Loans, all accrued interest thereon and any oth er amounts payable to the 
Requesting Bank hereunder; provided that prior to a ny purchase by a Replacement 
Bank under clause (i) above or any termination of a ny Commitment under clause (ii) 
above, the remaining Banks shall have the opportuni ty (which opportunity shall allow 
such remaining Banks at least 15 Domestic Business Days in which to make a 
decision) ratably to purchase (in the form of an As signment and Acceptance in 
accordance with their respective percentage of the aggregate amount of the 
Commitments) the Requesting Bank's rights and assum e its obligations under this 
Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents p ursuant to Section 9.07.  The 
Requesting Bank shall execute or cause to be execut ed all instruments and 
documents reasonably requested by Franklin Electric  or the Agent in order to effect 
any purchase and assumption or termination under th is Section 8.04(b). 
 
          SECTION 8.05.  Compensation.Upon the requ est of any Bank, delivered to Franklin 
Electric and the Agent, Franklin Electric shall pay  to such Bank such amount or amounts as 
shall compensate such Bank for any loss, cost or ex pense incurred by such Bank as a result of:  
 
     (a)     any payment or prepayment of a Fixed R ate Loan on a date other than 
the last day of an Interest Period for such Fixed R ate Loan; 
 
     (b)     any failure by the Borrower to prepay a Fixed Rate Loan  on the date 
for such prepayment specified in the relevant notic e of prepayment hereunder; 
 
     (c)     any failure by the Borrower to borrow a Fixed Rate Loan on the date 
for the Fixed Rate Borrowing of which such Fixed Ra te Loan is a part specified in the 
applicable Notice of Borrowing delivered pursuant t o Section 2.02 (other than any 
failure arising as a result of a notice given by th e Agent pursuant to Section 8.01); or 
 
     (d)     any failure by a Borrower to pay a For eign Currency Loan in the 
applicable Foreign Currency; 
 
such compensation to include, without limitation, a s applicable: (A) an amount equal 
to the excess, if any, of (x) the amount of interes t which would have accrued on the 
amount so paid or prepaid or not prepaid or borrowe d for the period from the date of 
such payment, prepayment or failure to prepay or bo rrow to the last day of the then 
current Interest Period for such Fixed Rate Loan (o r, in the case of a failure to 
prepay or borrow, the Interest Period for such Fixe d Rate Loan which would have 
commenced on the date of such failure to prepay or borrow) at the applicable rate of 
interest for such Fixed Rate Loan provided for here in over (y) the amount of interest 
(as reasonably determined by such Bank) such Bank w ould have paid on (i) deposits 
in Dollars of comparable amounts having terms compa rable to such period placed 
with it by leading banks in the London interbank ma rket (if such Fixed Rate Loan is a 
Euro-Dollar Loan), or (ii) any deposit in a Foreign  Currency of comparable amounts 
having terms comparable to such period placed with it by leading banks in the 
applicable interbank market for such  Foreign Curre ncy (if such Fixed Rate Loan is a 
Foreign Currency Loan) or (B) any such loss, cost o r expense incurred by such Bank 
in liquidating or closing out any foreign currency contract undertaken by such Bank in 
funding or maintaining such Fixed Rate Loan (if suc h Fixed Rate Loan is a Foreign 



Currency Loan). 
 
          SECTION 8.06.  Failure to Pay in Foreign Currency. If any Borrower is unable for any  
reason to effect payment in a Foreign Currency as r equired by this Agreement or if any 
Borrower shall default in the Foreign Currency, eac h Bank may, through the Agent, 
require such payment to be made in Dollars in the D ollar Equivalent amount of such 
payment.  In any case in which any Borrower shall m ake such payment in Dollars, 
such Borrower agrees to hold the Banks harmless fro m any loss incurred by the 
Banks arising from any change in the value of Dolla rs in relation to such Foreign 
Currency between the date such payment became due a nd the date of payment 
thereof. 
 
          SECTION 8.07.  Judgment Currency. If for the purpose of obtaining judgment in any 
court or enforcing any such judgment it is necessar y to convert any amount due in any Foreign 
Currency into any other currency, the rate of excha nge used shall be the Agent's spot rate of 
exchange for the purchase of the Foreign Currency w ith such other currency at the 
close of business on the Foreign Currency Business Day preceding the date on 
which judgment is given or any order for payment is  made.  The obligation of the 
relevant Borrower in respect of any amount due from  it hereunder shall, 
notwithstanding any judgment or order for a liquida ted sum or sums in respect of 
amounts due hereunder or under any judgment or orde r in any other currency or 
otherwise be discharged only to the extent that on the Foreign Currency Business 
Day following receipt by the Agent of any payment i n a currency other than the 
relevant Foreign Currency the Agent is able (in acc ordance with normal banking 
procedures) to purchase the relevant Foreign Curren cy with such other currency.  If 
the amount of the relevant Foreign Currency that th e Agent is able to purchase with 
such other currency is less than the amount due in the relevant Foreign Currency, 
notwithstanding any judgment or order, such Borrowe r shall indemnify the Banks for 
the shortfall. 
 
                                   ARTICLE IX 
 
                                  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 
     SECTION 9.01.  Notices All notices, requests a nd other communications to any party 
hereunder shall be in writing (including facsimile transmission or similar writing) and shall 
be given to such party at its address or telecopy n umber set forth on the signature pages 
hereof or such other address or telecopy number as such party may hereafter specify for the 
purpose by notice to each other party.  Each such n otice, request or other 
communication shall be effective (i) if given by te lecopier, when such telecopy is 
transmitted to the telecopy number specified in thi s Section and the telecopy 
machine used by the sender provides a written confi rmation that such telecopy has 
been so transmitted or receipt of such telecopy tra nsmission is otherwise confirmed, 
(ii) if given by mail, 72 hours after such communic ation is deposited in the mails with 
first class postage prepaid, addressed as aforesaid , and (iii) if given by any other 
means, when delivered at the address specified in t his Section; provided that notices 
to the Agent under Article II or Article VIII shall  not be effective until received. 
 
          SECTION 9.02.  No Waivers. No failure or delay by the Agent or any Bank in 
exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any Note or other Loan Document 
shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any sin gle or partial exercise thereof preclude 
any other or further exercise thereof or the exerci se of any other right, power or privilege. 
The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cu mulative and not exclusive of any rights or  
remedies provided by law. 
 
          SECTION 9.03.  Expenses; Documentary Taxe s; Indemnification. (a) Franklin 
Electric shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket  expenses of the Agent, including 
fees and disbursements of special counsel for the A gent (but subject to the 
provisions of the Agent's Letter Agreement), in con nection with the preparation of 
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, any wa iver or consent hereunder or 
thereunder or any amendment hereof or thereof or an y Default or alleged Default 
hereunder or thereunder that has occurred and, to t he knowledge of the Agent, is 
continuing and (ii) if a Default occurs and, to the  knowledge of the Agent or such 
Bank (as the case may be), is continuing all reason able out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by the Agent or any Bank, including fees a nd disbursements of counsel, in 
connection with collection and other enforcement pr oceedings resulting therefrom, 
including out-of-pocket expenses incurred in enforc ing this Agreement and the other 
Loan Documents. 

          (b) Franklin Electric shall indemnify the  Agent and each Bank against 
any transfer taxes, documentary taxes, assessments or charges made by any 
Authority by reason of the execution and delivery o f this Agreement or the other 
Loan Documents. 
 
          (c) Franklin Electric shall indemnify the  Agent, the Banks and each 
Affiliate thereof and their respective directors, o fficers, employees and agents from, 
and hold each of them harmless against, any and all  losses, liabilities, claims or 
damages to which any of them may become subject, in sofar as such losses, 
liabilities, claims or damages arise out of or resu lt from any actual or proposed use 
by any Borrower of the proceeds of any extension of  credit by any Bank hereunder or 
breach by any Borrower of this Agreement or any oth er Loan Document or from 



investigation, litigation (including, without limit ation, any actions taken by the Agent 
or any of the Banks to enforce this Agreement or an y of the other Loan Documents) 
or other proceeding (including, without limitation,  any threatened investigation or 
proceeding) relating to the foregoing, and Franklin  Electric shall reimburse the Agent 
and each Bank, and each Affiliate thereof and their  respective directors, officers, 
employees and agents, upon demand for any expenses (including, without limitation, 
reasonable legal fees) incurred in connection with any such investigation or 
proceeding; but excluding any such losses, liabilit ies, claims, damages or expenses 
incurred by reason of the gross negligence or willf ul misconduct of the Person to be 
indemnified. 
 
          SECTION 9.04.  Setoffs; Sharing of Set-Of fs. (a) Each Borrower hereby grants to each  
Bank, as security for the full and punctual payment  and performance of the obligations of the 
Borrower under this Agreement, a continuing lien on  and security interest in all 
deposits and other sums credited by or due from suc h Bank to such Borrower or 
subject to withdrawal by such Borrower; and regardl ess of the adequacy of any 
collateral or other means of obtaining repayment of  such obligations, each Bank may 
at any time upon or after the occurrence of any Eve nt of Default (so long as such 
Bank lacks actual knowledge that such Event of Defa ult is no longer continuing), and 
without notice to any Borrower, set off the whole o r any portion or portions of any or 
all such deposits and other sums against such oblig ations, whether or not any other 
Person or Persons could also withdraw money therefr om. 
 
          (b)  Each Bank agrees that if it shall, b y exercising any right of set-off 
or counterclaim or otherwise, receive payment of a proportion of the aggregate 
amount of principal and interest owing with respect  to the Notes held by it which is 
greater than the proportion received by any other B ank in respect of the aggregate 
amount of all principal and interest owing with res pect to the Notes held by such 
other Bank, the Bank receiving such proportionately  greater payment shall purchase 
such participations in the  Notes held by the other  Banks owing to such other Banks, 
and/or such other adjustments shall be made, as may  be required so that all such 
payments of principal and interest with respect to the Notes held by the Banks owing 
to such other Banks shall be shared by the Banks pr o rata; provided that (i) nothing 
in this Section shall impair the right of any Bank to exercise any right of set-off or 
counterclaim it may have and to apply the amount su bject to such exercise to the 
payment of indebtedness of any Borrower other than its indebtedness under the 
Notes, and (ii) if all or any portion of such payme nt received by the purchasing Bank 
is thereafter recovered from such purchasing Bank, such purchase from each other 
Bank shall be rescinded and such other Bank shall r epay to the purchasing Bank the 
purchase price of such participation to the extent of such recovery together with an 
amount equal to such other Bank's ratable share (ac cording to the proportion of (x) 
the amount of such other Bank's required repayment to (y) the total amount so 
recovered from the purchasing Bank) of any interest  or other amount paid or payable 
by the purchasing Bank in respect of the total amou nt so recovered.  Each Borrower 
agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively do  so under applicable law, that any 
holder of a participation in a Note, whether or not  acquired pursuant to the foregoing 
arrangements, may exercise rights of set-off or cou nterclaim and other rights with 
respect to such participation as fully as if such h older of a participation were a direct 
creditor of such Borrower in the amount of such par ticipation. 
 
          SECTION 9.05.  Amendments and Waivers. (a ) Any provision of this Agreement, the 
Notes or any other Loan Documents may be amended or  waived if, but only if, such amendment 
or waiver is in writing and is signed by the Borrow ers and the Required Banks (and, if 
the rights or duties of the Agent are affected ther eby, by the Agent); provided that no 
such amendment or waiver shall, unless signed by al l the Banks, (i) change the 
Commitment of any Bank or subject any Bank to any a dditional obligation, (ii) 
change the principal of or rate of interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder, (iii) 
change the date fixed for any payment of principal of or interest on any Loan or any 
fees hereunder, (iv) change the amount of principal , interest or fees due on any date 
fixed for the payment thereof, (v) change the perce ntage of the Commitments or of 
the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Notes,  or the percentage of Banks, 
which shall be required for the Banks or any of the m to take any action under this 
Section or any other provision of this Agreement, ( vi) change the manner of 
application of any payments made under this Agreeme nt or the Notes, (vii) release 
or substitute all or any substantial part of the co llateral (if any) held as security for the 
Loans, or (viii) release any guaranty given to supp ort payment of the Loans; provided 
further, however, that if one or more Banks (each a  "Declining Bank") refuse to sign 
any amendment or waiver which is otherwise signed b y the Required Banks and 
which, but for this proviso, would (under the immed iately preceding proviso) require 
the signature of all of the Banks in order to becom e effective, then Franklin Electric 
shall have the right to (A) seek a bank or banks (t he "New Bank"), satisfactory to 
Franklin Electric and the Agent (whose approval wil l not be unreasonably withheld), 
to purchase all of the Declining Bank's rights and assume its obligations under this 
Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents p ursuant to Section 9.07 or 
(B) terminate the Declining Bank's Commitment upon payment to the Declining Bank 
of its share of the outstanding principal amount of  all Loans, all accrued interest 
thereon and any other amounts payable to the Declin ing Bank hereunder; provided 
that prior to any purchase by a New Bank under clau se (A) above or any termination 
of any Commitment under clause (B) above, the remai ning Banks shall have the 
opportunity (which opportunity shall allow such rem aining Banks at least 15 
Domestic Business Days in which to make a decision)  ratably to purchase (in the 
form of an Assignment and Acceptance in accordance with their respective 



percentage of  the aggregate amount of the Commitme nts) the Declining Bank's 
rights and assume its obligations under this Agreem ent, the Notes and the other 
Loan Documents pursuant to Section 9.07.  The Decli ning Bank shall execute or 
cause to be executed all instruments and documents reasonably requested by 
Franklin Electric or the Agent in order to effect a ny purchase and assumption or 
termination under this Section 9.05(a).  Once all D eclining Banks which have refused 
to sign an amendment or waiver otherwise requiring the signature of all the Banks 
have either (x) had their Commitments terminated an d all amounts owing to them 
hereunder paid or (y) assigned all of their rights and obligations under this 
Agreement to one or more existing Banks or New Bank s (all in accordance with the 
second proviso of this Section 9.05(a)), such amend ment or waiver signed by the 
Required Banks shall become effective. 
 
          (b)     The Borrowers will not solicit, r equest or negotiate for or with 
respect to any proposed waiver or amendment of any of the provisions of this 
Agreement unless each Bank shall be informed thereo f by Franklin Electric and shall 
be afforded an opportunity of considering the same and shall be supplied by Franklin 
Electric with sufficient information to enable it t o make an informed decision with 
respect thereto.  Executed or true and correct copi es of any waiver or consent 
effected pursuant to the provisions of this Agreeme nt shall be delivered by Franklin 
Electric to each Bank forthwith following the date on which the same shall have been 
executed and delivered by the requisite percentage of Banks.  The Borrowers will 
not, directly or indirectly, pay or cause to be pai d any remuneration, whether by way 
of supplemental or additional interest, fee or othe rwise, to any Bank (in its capacity 
as such) as consideration for or as an inducement t o the entering into by such Bank 
of any waiver or amendment of any of the terms and provisions of this Agreement 
unless such remuneration is concurrently paid, on t he same terms, ratably to all such 
Banks. 
 
          SECTION 9.06.  Margin Stock Collateral. E ach of the Banks represents to the Agent 
and each of the other Banks that it in good faith i s not, directly or indirectly (by negative 
pledge or otherwise), relying upon any Margin Stock  as collateral in the extension or 
maintenance of the credit provided for in this Agre ement. 
 
          SECTION 9.07.  Successors and Assigns. (a ) The provisions of this Agreement shall be  
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the partie s hereto and their respective successors 
and assigns; provided that no Borrower may assign o r otherwise transfer any of its 
rights under this Agreement. 
 
          (b)  Any Bank may at any time sell to one  or more Persons (each a 
"Participant") participating interests in any Loan owing to such Bank, any Note held 
by such Bank, any Commitment hereunder or any other  interest of such Bank 
hereunder.  In the event of any such sale by a Bank  of a participating interest to a 
Participant, such Bank's obligations under this Agr eement shall remain unchanged, 
such Bank shall remain solely responsible for the p erformance thereof, such Bank 
shall remain the holder of any such Note for all pu rposes under this Agreement, and 
the Borrowers and the Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Bank 
in connection with such Bank's rights and obligatio ns under this Agreement.  In no 
event shall a Bank that sells a participation be ob ligated to the Participant to take or 
refrain from taking any action hereunder except tha t such Bank may agree that it will 
not (except as provided below), without the consent  of the Participant, agree to 
(i) postpone any date fixed for the payment of prin cipal of or interest on the related 
Loan or Loans, (ii) reduce the amount of any princi pal, interest or fees due on any 
date fixed for the payment thereof with respect to the related Loan or Loans, (iii) any 
reduction in the rate at which either interest is p ayable thereon or (if the Participant is 
entitled to any part thereof) commitment fee is pay able hereunder from the rate at 
which the Participant is entitled to receive intere st or commitment fee (as the case 
may be) in respect of such participation, (iv) the release or substitution of all or any 
substantial part of the collateral (if any) held as  security for the Loans, or (v) the 
release of any guaranty given to support payment of  the Loans.  Each Bank selling a 
participating interest in any Loan, Note, Commitmen t or other interest under this 
Agreement shall, within 10 Domestic Business Days o f such sale, provide Franklin 
Electric and the Agent with written notification st ating that such sale has occurred 
and identifying the Participant and the interest pu rchased by such Participant.  The 
Borrowers agree that each Participant shall be enti tled to the benefits of Article VIII 
with respect to its participation in Loans outstand ing from time to time. 
 
          (c)  Any Bank may at any time assign to o ne or more banks or 
financial institutions (each an "Assignee") all, or  a proportionate part of all, of its 
rights and obligations under this Agreement, the No tes and the other Loan 
Documents, and such Assignee shall assume all such rights and obligations, 
pursuant to an Assignment and Acceptance in the for m attached hereto as Exhibit K, 
executed by such Assignee, such transferor Bank and  the Agent (and, in the case of 
an Assignee that is not then a Bank or an Affiliate  of a Bank, by Franklin Electric); 
provided that (i) no interest may be sold by a Bank  pursuant to this paragraph (c) 
unless the Assignee shall agree to assume ratably e quivalent portions of the 
transferor Bank's Commitment, (ii) the amount of th e Commitment of the assigning 
Bank subject to such assignment (determined as of t he effective date of the 
assignment) shall be equal to $5,000,000 (or any la rger multiple of $1,000,000), 
(iii) no interest may be sold by a Bank pursuant to  this paragraph (c) to any Assignee 
that is not then a Bank or an Affiliate of a Bank w ithout the consent of Franklin 
Electric,  and (iv) a Bank may not have more than 2  Assignees that are not then 



Banks.  Upon (A) execution of the Assignment and Ac ceptance by such transferor 
Bank, such Assignee, the Agent and (if applicable) Franklin Electric, (B) delivery of 
an executed copy of the Assignment and Acceptance t o Franklin Electric and the 
Agent, (C) payment by such Assignee to such transfe ror Bank of an amount equal to 
the purchase price agreed between such transferor B ank and such Assignee, and 
(D) payment by the Assignor or the Assignee of a pr ocessing and recordation fee of 
$2,500 to the Agent, such Assignee shall for all pu rposes be a Bank party to this 
Agreement and shall have all the rights and obligat ions of a Bank under this 
Agreement to the same extent as if it were an origi nal party hereto with a 
Commitment as set forth in such instrument of assum ption, and the transferor Bank 
shall be released from its obligations hereunder to  a corresponding extent, and no 
further consent or action by the Borrowers, the Ban ks or the Agent shall be required. 
Upon the consummation of any transfer to an Assigne e pursuant to this paragraph 
(c), the transferor Bank, the Agent and Franklin El ectric shall make appropriate 
arrangements so that, if required, a new Note is is sued to each of such Assignee 
and such transferor Bank. 
 
          (d)  Subject to the provisions of Section  9.08, the Borrowers authorize 
each Bank to disclose to any Participant or Assigne e (each a "Transferee") and any 
prospective Transferee any and all financial and ot her information in such Bank's 
possession concerning the Borrowers which has been delivered to such Bank by any 
Borrower pursuant to this Agreement or which has be en delivered to such Bank by 
any Borrower in connection with such Bank's credit evaluation prior to entering into 
this Agreement. 

          (e)  No Transferee shall be entitled to r eceive any greater payment 
under Section 8.03 than the transferor Bank would h ave been entitled to receive with 
respect to the rights transferred, unless such tran sfer is made with Franklin Electric's 
prior written consent or by reason of the provision s of Section 8.02 or 8.03 requiring 
such Bank to designate a different Lending Office u nder certain circumstances or at 
a time when the circumstances giving rise to such g reater payment did not exist. 
 
          (f)  Anything in this Section 9.07 to the  contrary notwithstanding, any 
Bank may assign and pledge all or any portion of th e Loans and/or obligations owing 
to it to any Federal Reserve Bank or the United Sta tes Treasury as collateral security 
pursuant to Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System 
and Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reser ve Bank, provided that any 
payment in respect of such assigned Loans and/or ob ligations made by any 
Borrower to the assigning and/or pledging Bank in a ccordance with the terms of this 
Agreement shall satisfy such Borrower's obligations  hereunder in respect of such 
assigned Loans and/or obligations to the extent of such payment.  No such 
assignment shall release the assigning and/or pledg ing Bank from its obligations 
hereunder. 
 
          SECTION 9.08.  Confidentiality.Each Bank agrees to exercise its best efforts to keep  
any information delivered or made available by any Borrower to it which is clearly indicated 
to be confidential information, confidential from a nyone other than persons employed or 
retained by such Bank who are or are expected to be come engaged in evaluating, approving, 
structuring or administering the Loans; provided, h owever, that nothing herein shall 
prevent any Bank from disclosing such information ( i) to any other Bank, (ii) upon the 
order of any court or administrative agency, (iii) upon the request or demand of any 
regulatory agency or authority having jurisdiction over such Bank, (iv) which has 
been publicly disclosed, (v) to the extent reasonab ly required in connection with any 
litigation to which the Agent, any Bank or their re spective Affiliates may be a party, 
(vi) to the extent reasonably required in connectio n with the exercise of any remedy 
hereunder, (vii) to such Bank's legal counsel and i ndependent auditors and (viii) to 
any actual or proposed Participant, Assignee or oth er Transferee of all or part of its 
rights hereunder which has agreed in writing to be bound by the provisions of this 
Section 9.08. 
 
          SECTION 9.09.  Representation by Banks. E ach Bank hereby represents that it is a 
commercial lender or financial institution which ma kes loans in the ordinary course of its 
business and that it will make its Loans hereunder for its own account in the ordinary 
course of such business; provided, however, that, s ubject to Section 9.07, the 
disposition of the Note or Notes held by that Bank shall at all times be within its 
exclusive control. 
 
          SECTION 9.10.  Obligations Several. The o bligations of each Bank hereunder are 
several, and no Bank shall be responsible for the o bligations or commitment of any other Bank 
hereunder.  Nothing contained in this Agreement and  no action taken by the Banks pursuant 
hereto shall be deemed to constitute the Banks to b e a partnership, an association, a 
joint venture or any other kind of entity.  The amo unts payable at any time hereunder 
to each Bank shall be a separate and independent de bt, and each Bank shall be 
entitled to protect and enforce its rights arising out of this Agreement or any other 
Loan Document and it shall not be necessary for any  other Bank to be joined as an 
additional party in any proceeding for such purpose . 
 
          SECTION 9.11.  Survival of Certain Obliga tions. Sections 8.03(a), 8.03(b), 8.05 and 
9.03, and the obligations of the Borrowers thereund er, shall survive, and shall continue to be  
enforceable notwithstanding, the termination of thi s Agreement and the 
Commitments and the payment in full of the principa l of and interest on all Loans. 
 



          SECTION 9.12.  Georgia Law.This Agreement  and each Note shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the law of the Stat e of Georgia. 
 
          SECTION 9.13.  Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement, the Notes or any of the other Loan Documents should be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legalit y and enforceability of the remaining 
provisions contained herein and therein shall not i n any way be affected or impaired thereby 
and shall be enforced to the greatest extent permit ted by law. 
 
          SECTION 9.14.  Interest. In no event shal l the amount of interest due or payable 
hereunder or under the Notes exceed the maximum rat e of interest allowed by applicable law, 
and in the event any such payment is inadvertently made to any Bank by any Borrower or 
inadvertently received by any Bank, then such exces s sum shall be credited as a payment of 
principal, unless such Borrower shall notify such B ank in writing that it elects to have 
such excess sum returned forthwith.  It is the expr ess intent hereof that no Borrower 
pay and the Banks not receive, directly or indirect ly in any manner whatsoever, 
interest in excess of that which may legally be pai d by such Borrower under 
applicable law. 
 
          SECTION 9.15.  Interpretation.No provisio n of this Agreement or any of the other 
Loan Documents shall be construed against or interp reted to the disadvantage of any party 
hereto by any court or other governmental or judici al authority by reason of such party having  
or being deemed to have structured or dictated such  provision. 
 
          SECTION 9.16. Consent to Jurisdiction. Th e Borrowers (a) submit to non-exclusive 
personal jurisdiction in the State of Georgia, the courts thereof and the United States 
District Courts sitting therein, for the enforcemen t of this Agreement, the Notes and the 
other Loan Documents, (b) waive any and all persona l rights under the law of any jurisdiction 
to object on any basis (including, without limitati on, inconvenience of forum) to 
jurisdiction or venue within the State of Georgia f or the purpose of litigation to 
enforce this Agreement, the Notes or the other Loan  Documents, and (c) agree that 
service of process may be made upon it in the manne r prescribed in Section 9.01 for 
the giving of notice to the Borrowers.  Nothing her ein contained, however, shall 
prevent the Agent from bringing any action or exerc ising any rights against any 
security and against any Borrower personally, and a gainst any assets of any 
Borrower, within any other state or  jurisdiction. 
 
          SECTION 9.17.  Counterparts This Agreemen t may be signed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original, w ith the same effect as if the signatures 
thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. 
 
                                  ARTICLE X 
 
                      REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIE S 
                        OF ADDITIONAL BORROWERS 
 
          Each Wholly Owned Subsidiary that becomes  an Additional Borrower 
pursuant to Section 2.13 shall, by signing and deli vering its Election to Participate, 
represent and warrant as of the date thereof that: 
 
          SECTION 10.01.  Corporate Existence and P ower Corporate Existence and Power" .  It 
is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existin g and in good standing under the laws of 
its jurisdiction of incorporation and is, and at th e time of each Borrowing by it hereunder 
will be, a Wholly Owned Subsidiary. 
 
          SECTION 10.02.  Corporate and Governmenta l Authorization; No 
Contravention. The execution and delivery by it of its Election to Participate and its 
Notes, and the performance by it of its obligations  under this Agreement and its 
Notes, are within its corporate powers, have been d uly authorized by all necessary 
corporate action, require no action by or in respec t of, or filing with, any 
governmental body, agency or official and do not co ntravene, or constitute a default 
under, any provision of applicable law or regulatio n or of its certificate of 
incorporation of bylaws, or of any agreement, judgm ent, injunction, order, decree or 
other instrument binding upon Franklin Electric or such Additional Borrower or result 
in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any as set of Franklin Electric or any of its 
Subsidiaries. 
 
          SECTION 10.03.  Binding Effect. This Agre ement constitutes a valid and binding 
agreement of such Additional Borrower and its Notes , when executed and delivered in accordance  
with this Agreement, will constitute valid and bind ing obligations of such Additional 
Borrower, in each case enforceable in accordance wi th its terms, subject in each 
case to bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws aff ecting the enforcement of 
creditors' rights generally and to general principl es of equity. 
 
                                   ARTICLE XI 
 
                        GUARANTEE BY FRANKLIN ELECT RIC 
 
 
     SECTION 11.01.  The Guarantee. Franklin Electr ic unconditionally and irrevocably 
guarantees the full and punctual payment of all pre sent and future indebtedness and other 
obligations of each Subsidiary Borrower evidenced b y or arising out of any Loan 



Document, including the full and punctual payment o f principal of and interest on the 
Notes of each Subsidiary Borrower and the full and punctual payment of all other 
sums now or hereafter owed by any Subsidiary Borrow er under any Loan Document 
as and when the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity or by 
declaration or otherwise, according to the terms he reof and thereof (including any 
interest which accrues on any of the foregoing obli gations after the commencement 
of any case, proceeding or other action relating to  the bankruptcy, insolvency or 
reorganization of any Subsidiary Borrower, whether or not allowed or allowable as a 
claim in any such proceeding).  If any Subsidiary B orrower fails punctually to pay the 
indebtedness and other obligations guaranteed by Fr anklin Electric hereby, Franklin 
Electric unconditionally agrees to cause such payme nt to be made punctually as and 
when the same shall become due and payable, whether  at maturity or by declaration 
or otherwise, and as if such payment were made by s uch Subsidiary Borrower. 
 
          SECTION 11.02.  Guarantee Unconditional. The obligations of Franklin Electric under 
this Article XI shall be unconditional and absolute  and, without limiting the generality of 
the foregoing, shall not be released, discharged or  otherwise affected by: 
 
          (a)     any extension, renewal, settlemen t, compromise, waiver or 
     release in respect of any obligation of any Su bsidiary Borrower under any 
     Loan Document by operation of law or otherwise ; 
 
          (b)     any modification, amendment or wa iver of or supplement to any 
     Loan Document; 
 
          (c)     any release, impairment, non-perf ection or invalidity of any 
     direct or indirect security, or of any guarant ee or other liability of any third 
     party, for any obligation of any Subsidiary Bo rrower under any Loan 
     Document; 
 
          (d)     any change in the corporate exist ence, structure or ownership 
     of any Subsidiary Borrower, or any insolvency,  bankruptcy, reorganization or 
     other similar proceeding affecting any Subsidi ary Borrower or its assets, or 
     any resulting release or discharge of any obli gation of any Subsidiary 
     Borrower contained in any Loan Document; 
 
          (e)     the existence of any claim, set-o ff or other rights which Franklin 
     Electric (or any Subsidiary Borrower) may have  at any time against any Bank, 
     the Agent or any other Person, whether or not arising in connection with this 
     Agreement, provided that nothing herein shall prevent the assertion of any 
     such claim by separate suit or compulsory coun terclaim; 
 
          (f)     any invalidity or unenforceabilit y relating to or against any 
     Subsidiary Borrower for any reason of any Loan  Document, or any provision 
     of applicable law or regulation purporting to prohibit the payment by any 
     Subsidiary Borrower of the principal of or int erest on any Note or any other 
     amount payable by it under any Loan Document; or 
 
          (g)     any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind by any 
     Subsidiary Borrower, any Bank, the Agent or an y other Person or any other 
     circumstance whatsoever that might, but for th e provisions of this Section 
     11.02, constitute a legal or equitable dischar ge of Franklin Electric's 
     obligations under this Article XI. 
 
          SECTION 11.03.  Discharge Only Upon Payme nt in Full; 
Reinstatement in Certain Circumstances. Franklin El ectric's obligations under this Article XI 
constitute a continuing guaranty and shall remain i n full force and effect until the 
Commitments of each Bank shall have terminated and all amounts payable by each Subsidiary 
Borrower under the Loan Documents shall have been p aid in full.  If at any time any payment of  
the principal of or interest on any Note or any oth er amount payable by any Subsidiary 
Borrower under any Loan Document is rescinded or mu st be otherwise restored or returned upon 
the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of suc h Subsidiary Borrower or otherwise, 
Franklin Electric's obligations under this Article XI with respect to such payment shall 
be reinstated at such time as though such payment h ad become due but had not 
been made at such time. 

          SECTION 11.04.  Waiver. Franklin Electric  irrevocably waives acceptance hereof, 
presentment, demand, protest and any notice not pro vided for herein, as well as any 
requirement that at any time any action be taken by  any Person against any Subsidiary Borrower  
or any other Person or against any security. 
 
          SECTION 11.05.  Subrogation.Upon making a ny payment with respect to the obligations 
of any Subsidiary Borrower hereunder, Franklin Elec tric shall be subrogated to the rights of 
the payee against such Subsidiary Borrower with res pect to such payment; provided that 
Franklin Electric shall not enforce any payment by way of subrogation against such 
Subsidiary Borrower so long as any Bank has any Com mitment to such Subsidiary 
Borrower hereunder or any interest or fees payable by such Subsidiary Borrower 
hereunder remain unpaid. 
 
          SECTION 11.06.  Stay of Acceleration. If acceleration of the time for payment of any  
amount payable by any Subsidiary Borrower under any  Loan Document is stayed upon the 
insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of such Su bsidiary Borrower, all such amounts 



otherwise subject to acceleration under the terms o f this Agreement shall 
nonetheless by payable by Franklin Electric hereund er forthwith on demand by the 
Agent made at the request of the Required Banks. 
 
 
 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto ha ve caused this 
Agreement to be duly executed, under seal, by their  respective authorized officers as 
of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
                         FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC . (SEAL) 
 
                         By:     WILLIAM H. LAWSON 
                             ---------------------- ----- 
                         Title: Chairman & CEO 
                         400 East Spring Street 
                         Bluffton, Indiana 46714 
                         Attention:  Chief Financia l Officer 
                             (with a copy to the Tr easurer) 
                         Telecopy number:  (219) 82 7-5530 
                         Telephone number: (219) 82 4-8000 
 
 
 
COMMITMENTS              WACHOVIA BANK OF GEORGIA, N.A., as Agent and as a 
                         Bank (SEAL) 
$25,000,000 
                         By: J. PETE PEYTON 
                             ---------------------- ----- 
                         Title: Senior Vice Preside nt 
 
                         Lending Office 
                         191 Peachtree Street, N.E.  
                         Atlanta, Georgia  30303-17 57 
                         Attention:  Walter R. Gill ikin 
                         Telecopy number: (404) 332 -6898 
                         Telephone number: (404) 33 2-5747 
 
 
 
 
 
$10,000,000              BANK OF AMERICA ILLINOIS ( SEAL) 
 
                         By:     PAUL A. O'MARA 
                            ----------------------- ---- 
                         Title: Senior Vice Preside nt 
 
                         Lending Office 
                         231 South LaSalle Street 
                         Chicago, Illinois 60697 
                         Attention:  Paul A. O'Mara  
                         Telecopy number:  (312) 82 8-6647 
                         Telephone number: (312) 82 8-1630 
 
 
 
$5,000,000               ABN AMRO BANK N.V. (SEAL) 
 
                         By:     ROBERT J. GRAFF 
                            ----------------------- ---- 
                         Title: Group Vice Presiden t 
 
                         135 South LaSalle Street 
                         Suite 425 
                         Chicago, Illinois 60674 
                         Attention: Adrienne H. Bak er 
                         Telecopy number: (312) 606 -8425 
                         Telephone number: (312) 90 4-2546 
 
TOTAL COMMITMENTS: 
$40,000,000 
 
 
                                   SCHEDULE 4.08 
 
                                Existing Subsidiari es 
 
Name of Subsidiary                                       Jurisdiction of Incorporation 
- ------------------                                       ------------------------------ 



Franklin Electric Subsidiaries, Inc. [inactive]                  Indiana 
 
FE Petro, Inc.                                                   Indiana 
 
Franklin Electric International, Inc.                            Delaware 
 
Franklin Electric of Canada, Limited [inactive]                  Canada 
 
Franklin Electric Europa, GmbH                                   Germany 
 
Franklin Electric (South Africa) Pty. Limited                    South Africa 
 
Franklin Electric Foreign Sales Corporation                      U.S. Virgin Islands 
 
Franklin Electric (International) Pty. Ltd.                      Australia 
 
Motores Franklin S.A. de C.V.                                    Mexico 
 
Franklin Electric B.V.                                           Netherlands 
 
Franklin Electric AG                                             Switzerland 
 
Oil Dynamics, Inc.                                               Oklahoma 
 
Franklin Electric spol S.R.O.                                    Czech Republic 
 
Franklin Electric S.R.L.                                         Italy 
 
 
 
                                  SCHEDULE 4.14A-1 
 
                      Potentially Responsible Party  Designations 
 
     1.     Wayne Reclamation & Recycling       Col umbia City, Indiana 
 
     2.     I. Jones Recycling                  Cov ington Road, Ft. Wayne, Indiana 
 
     3.     PCB Treatment Inc.                  Kan sas City, Missouri 
 
     4.     Diaz Refinery                       Dia z, Arkansas 
 
 
 
                                    SCHEDULE 
                                    4.14A-2 
 
                    Properties Identified on Enviro nmental Lists 
                                      None 
 
 
                                                      EXHIBIT A 
 
                                   DOLLAR NOTE 
 
$25,000,000                                           Atlanta, Georgia 
                                                      January 5, 1996 
 
          For value received, FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC., an Indiana corporation (the 
"Borrower"), promises to pay to the order of WACHOV IA BANK OF GEORGIA, N.A. 
(the "Bank"), for the account of its Lending Office , the principal sum of 
Twenty Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($25,000,000 ), or such lesser amount as shall equal the  
unpaid principal amount of each Dollar Loan made by  the Bank to the Borrower pursuant to the 
Credit Agreement referred to below, on the dates an d in the amounts provided in the Credit 
Agreement.  The Borrower promises to pay interest o n the unpaid principal amount 
of this Dollar Note on the dates and at the rate or  rates provided for in the Credit 
Agreement.  Interest on any overdue principal of an d, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on the principal amount hereof sha ll bear interest at the Default 
Rate, as provided for in the Credit Agreement.  All  such payments of principal and 
interest shall be made in lawful money of the Unite d States in Federal or other 
immediately available funds at the office of Wachov ia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 191 
Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia  30303, or  such other address as may be 
specified from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
 
          All Dollar Loans made by the Bank, the re spective maturities thereof, 
the interest rates from time to time applicable the reto and all repayments of the 
principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and , prior to any transfer hereof, 
endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached heret o, or on a continuation of such 
schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provid ed that the failure of the Bank to 
make, or any error of the Bank in making, any such recordation or endorsement shall 
not affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunde r or under the Credit Agreement. 
 



          This Note is one of the Dollar Notes refe rred to in the Credit 
Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 among Frankli n Electric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof  and 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent (as the sa me may be amended or 
modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") .  Terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein with the same meanings.  Reference is made to the 
Credit Agreement for provisions for the prepayment and the repayment hereof and 
the acceleration of the maturity hereof. 
 
          The Borrower hereby waives presentment, d emand, protest, notice of 
demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice  required by law relative 
hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be ex pressly provided for in the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
          The Borrower agrees, in the event that th is Dollar Note or any portion 
hereof is collected by law or through an attorney a t law, to pay all reasonable costs 
of collection, including, without limitation, reaso nable attorneys' fees. 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caus ed this Dollar Note to 
be duly executed under seal, by its duly authorized  officer as of the day and year first 
above written. 

                                      FRANKLIN ELEC TRIC CO., INC. (SEAL) 
 
 
                                      By:      WILL IAM H. LAWSON 
                                          --------- --------------------- 
                                      Title: Chairm an & CEO 
 
 
 
                                                      EXHIBIT A 
 
                                   DOLLAR NOTE 
 
$10,000,000                                           Atlanta, Georgia 
                                                      January 5, 1996 
 
          For value received, FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC., an Indiana corporation (the 
"Borrower"), promises to pay to the order of BANK O F AMERICA ILLINOIS 
(the "Bank"), for the account of its Lending Office , the principal sum of 
Ten Million and No/100 Dollars ($10,000,000), or su ch lesser amount as shall equal the unpaid 
principal amount of each Dollar Loan made by the Ba nk to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit 
Agreement referred to below, on the dates and in th e amounts provided in the Credit 
Agreement.  The Borrower promises to pay interest o n the unpaid principal amount 
of this Dollar Note on the dates and at the rate or  rates provided for in the Credit 
Agreement.  Interest on any overdue principal of an d, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on the principal amount hereof sha ll bear interest at the Default 
Rate, as provided for in the Credit Agreement.  All  such payments of principal and 
interest shall be made in lawful money of the Unite d States in Federal or other 
immediately available funds at the office of Wachov ia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 191 
Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia  30303, or  such other address as may be 
specified from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
 
          All Dollar Loans made by the Bank, the re spective maturities thereof, 
the interest rates from time to time applicable the reto and all repayments of the 
principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and , prior to any transfer hereof, 
endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached heret o, or on a continuation of such 
schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provid ed that the failure of the Bank to 
make, or any error of the Bank in making, any such recordation or endorsement shall 
not affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunde r or under the Credit Agreement. 
 
          This Note is one of the Dollar Notes refe rred to in the Credit 
Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 among Frankli n Electric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof  and 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent (as the sa me may be amended or 
modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") .  Terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein with the same meanings.  Reference is made to the 
Credit Agreement for provisions for the prepayment and the repayment hereof and 
the acceleration of the maturity hereof. 
 
          The Borrower hereby waives presentment, d emand, protest, notice of 
demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice  required by law relative 
hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be ex pressly provided for in the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
          The Borrower agrees, in the event that th is Dollar Note or any portion 
hereof is collected by law or through an attorney a t law, to pay all reasonable costs 
of collection, including, without limitation, reaso nable attorneys' fees. 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caus ed this Dollar Note to 
be duly executed under seal, by its duly authorized  officer as of the day and year first 



above written. 
 
                                      FRANKLIN ELEC TRIC CO., INC. (SEAL) 
 
 
                                      By:      WILL IAM H. LAWSON 
                                          --------- --------------------- 
                                      Title: Chairm an & CEO 
 
 
 
                                                      EXHIBIT A 
 
                                   DOLLAR NOTE 
 
$5,000,000                                            Atlanta, Georgia 
                                                      January 5, 1996 
 
          For value received, FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC., an Indiana corporation (the 
"Borrower"), promises to pay to the order of ABN AM RO BANK N.V. 
(the "Bank"), for the account of its Lending Office , the principal sum of 
Five Million and No/100 Dollars ($5,000,000), or su ch lesser amount as shall equal the unpaid 
principal amount of each Dollar Loan made by the Ba nk to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit 
Agreement referred to below, on the dates and in th e amounts provided in the Credit 
Agreement.  The Borrower promises to pay interest o n the unpaid principal amount 
of this Dollar Note on the dates and at the rate or  rates provided for in the Credit 
Agreement.  Interest on any overdue principal of an d, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on the principal amount hereof sha ll bear interest at the Default 
Rate, as provided for in the Credit Agreement.  All  such payments of principal and 
interest shall be made in lawful money of the Unite d States in Federal or other 
immediately available funds at the office of Wachov ia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 191 
Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia  30303, or  such other address as may be 
specified from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
 
          All Dollar Loans made by the Bank, the re spective maturities thereof, 
the interest rates from time to time applicable the reto and all repayments of the 
principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and , prior to any transfer hereof, 
endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached heret o, or on a continuation of such 
schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provid ed that the failure of the Bank to 
make, or any error of the Bank in making, any such recordation or endorsement shall 
not affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunde r or under the Credit Agreement. 
 
          This Note is one of the Dollar Notes refe rred to in the Credit 
Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 among Frankli n Electric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof  and 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent (as the sa me may be amended or 
modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") .  Terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein with the same meanings.  Reference is made to the 
Credit Agreement for provisions for the prepayment and the repayment hereof and 
the acceleration of the maturity hereof. 
 
          The Borrower hereby waives presentment, d emand, protest, notice of 
demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice  required by law relative 
hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be ex pressly provided for in the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
          The Borrower agrees, in the event that th is Dollar Note or any portion 
hereof is collected by law or through an attorney a t law, to pay all reasonable costs 
of collection, including, without limitation, reaso nable attorneys' fees. 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caus ed this Dollar Note to 
be duly executed under seal, by its duly authorized  officer as of the day and year first 
above written. 
 
                                      FRANKLIN ELEC TRIC CO., INC. (SEAL) 
 
 
                                      By:      WILL IAM H. LAWSON 
                                          --------- --------------------- 
                                      Title: Chairm an & CEO 
 
 
 
                              Dollar Note (cont'd) 
                    DOLLAR LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PR INCIPAL 
 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
           Type                   Amount     Amount  of 
           of        Interest      of        Princi pal      Maturity    Notation 
Date       Loan*     Rate          Loan      Repaid          Date        Made By 



 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ _____________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ______________________________ 
 
 
 
                                             EXHIBI T B 
 
                            FOREIGN CURRENCY NOTE 
 
                                                                  Atlanta, Georgia 
                                                                  January 5, 1996 
 
          For value received, FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC., an Indiana corporation (the 
"Borrower"), promises to pay to the order of WACHOV IA BANK OF GEORGIA, N.A. (the "Bank"), for 
the account of its Lending Office, the outstanding principal amount of each Foreign Currency 
Loan made by the Bank to the Borrower pursuant to t he Credit Agreement referred to below, on 
the dates and in the amounts provided in the Credit  Agreement.  The Borrower promises to pay 
interest on the unpaid principal amount of this For eign Currency Note on the dates 
and at the rate or rates provided for Foreign Curre ncy Loans in the Credit 
Agreement.  Interest on any overdue principal of an d, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on the principal amount hereof sha ll bear interest at the Default 
Rate, as provided for in the Credit Agreement.  All  such payments of principal and 
interest shall be made in lawful money of the appli cable Foreign Currency in 
immediately available funds at the office of Wachov ia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 191 
Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 30303, or such other address as may be 
specified from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
 
          All Foreign Currency Loans made by the Ba nk, the respective maturities 
thereof, the interest rates from time to time appli cable thereto, and all repayments of 
the principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank  and, prior to any transfer hereof, 
endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached heret o, or on a continuation of such 
schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provid ed that the failure of the Bank to 
make any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the 
Borrower hereunder or under the Credit Agreement. 

          This Note is one of the Foreign Currency Notes referred to in the Credit 
Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 among Frankli n Electric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof and 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent (as the sa me  may be amended and 
modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") .  Terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein with the same meanings.  Reference is made to the 
Credit Agreement for provisions for the optional an d mandatory prepayment and the 
repayment hereof and the acceleration of the maturi ty hereof. 
 
          The Borrower hereby waives presentment, d emand, protest, notice of 
demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice  required by law relative 
hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be ex pressly provided for in the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
          The Borrower agrees, in the event that th is Foreign Currency Note or any 
portion hereof is collected by law or through an at torney at law, to pay all reasonable 
costs of collection, including, without limitation,  reasonable attorneys' fees. 
 



 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caus ed this Foreign Currency 
Note to be duly executed under seal, by its duly au thorized officer as of the day and 
year first above written. 
 
                                        FRANKLIN EL ECTRIC CO., INC. (SEAL) 
 
 
                                        By:      WI LLIAM H. LAWSON 
                                            ------- ----------------------- 
                                        Title: Chai rman & CEO 
 
 
 
                                             EXHIBI T B 
 
                            FOREIGN CURRENCY NOTE 
 
                                                                  Atlanta, Georgia 
                                                                  January 5, 1996 
 
          For value received, FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC., an Indiana corporation (the 
"Borrower"), promises to pay to the order of BANK O F AMERICA ILLINOIS (the "Bank"), for the 
account of its Lending Office, the outstanding prin cipal amount of each Foreign Currency Loan 
made by the Bank to the Borrower pursuant to the Cr edit Agreement referred to below, on the 
dates and in the amounts provided in the Credit Agr eement.  The Borrower promises to pay 
interest on the unpaid principal amount of this For eign Currency Note on the dates 
and at the rate or rates provided for Foreign Curre ncy Loans in the Credit 
Agreement.  Interest on any overdue principal of an d, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on the principal amount hereof sha ll bear interest at the Default 
Rate, as provided for in the Credit Agreement.  All  such payments of principal and 
interest shall be made in lawful money of the appli cable Foreign Currency in 
immediately available funds at the office of Wachov ia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 191 
Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 30303, or such other address as may be 
specified from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
 
          All Foreign Currency Loans made by the Ba nk, the respective maturities 
thereof, the interest rates from time to time appli cable thereto, and all repayments of 
the principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank  and, prior to any transfer hereof, 
endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached heret o, or on a continuation of such 
schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provid ed that the failure of the Bank to 
make any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the 
Borrower hereunder or under the Credit Agreement. 
 
          This Note is one of the Foreign Currency Notes referred to in the Credit 
Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 among Frankli n Electric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof and 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent (as the sa me  may be amended and 
modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") .  Terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein with the same meanings.  Reference is made to the 
Credit Agreement for provisions for the optional an d mandatory prepayment and the 
repayment hereof and the acceleration of the maturi ty hereof. 
 
          The Borrower hereby waives presentment, d emand, protest, notice of 
demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice  required by law relative 
hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be ex pressly provided for in the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
          The Borrower agrees, in the event that th is Foreign Currency Note or any 
portion hereof is collected by law or through an at torney at law, to pay all reasonable 
costs of collection, including, without limitation,  reasonable attorneys' fees. 
 
 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caus ed this Foreign Currency 
Note to be duly executed under seal, by its duly au thorized officer as of the day and 
year first above written. 
 
                                        FRANKLIN EL ECTRIC CO., INC. (SEAL) 
 
 
                                        By:      WI LLIAM H. LAWSON 
                                            ------- ----------------------- 
                                        Title: Chai rman & CEO 
 
 
 
                                             EXHIBI T B 
 
                            FOREIGN CURRENCY NOTE 
 



                                                                  Atlanta, Georgia 
                                                                  January 5, 1996 
 
          For value received, FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC., an Indiana corporation (the 
"Borrower"), promises to pay to the order of ABN AM RO BANK N.V. (the "Bank"), for the account 
of its Lending Office, the outstanding principal am ount of each Foreign Currency Loan made by 
the Bank to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agr eement referred to below, on the dates and 
in the amounts provided in the Credit Agreement.  T he Borrower promises to pay 
interest on the unpaid principal amount of this For eign Currency Note on the dates 
and at the rate or rates provided for Foreign Curre ncy Loans in the Credit 
Agreement.  Interest on any overdue principal of an d, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on the principal amount hereof sha ll bear interest at the Default 
Rate, as provided for in the Credit Agreement.  All  such payments of principal and 
interest shall be made in lawful money of the appli cable Foreign Currency in 
immediately available funds at the office of Wachov ia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 191 
Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 30303, or such other address as may be 
specified from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement. 
 
          All Foreign Currency Loans made by the Ba nk, the respective maturities 
thereof, the interest rates from time to time appli cable thereto, and all repayments of 
the principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank  and, prior to any transfer hereof, 
endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached heret o, or on a continuation of such 
schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provid ed that the failure of the Bank to 
make any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the 
Borrower hereunder or under the Credit Agreement. 
 
          This Note is one of the Foreign Currency Notes referred to in the Credit 
Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 among Frankli n Electric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof and 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent (as the sa me  may be amended and 
modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement") .  Terms defined in the Credit 
Agreement are used herein with the same meanings.  Reference is made to the 
Credit Agreement for provisions for the optional an d mandatory prepayment and the 
repayment hereof and the acceleration of the maturi ty hereof. 
 
          The Borrower hereby waives presentment, d emand, protest, notice of 
demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice  required by law relative 
hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be ex pressly provided for in the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
          The Borrower agrees, in the event that th is Foreign Currency Note or any 
portion hereof is collected by law or through an at torney at law, to pay all reasonable 
costs of collection, including, without limitation,  reasonable attorneys' fees. 
 
 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caus ed this Foreign Currency 
Note to be duly executed under seal, by its duly au thorized officer as of the day and 
year first above written. 
 
                                        FRANKLIN EL ECTRIC CO., INC. (SEAL) 
 
 
                                        By:      WI LLIAM H. LAWSON 
                                            ------- ----------------------- 
                                        Title: Chai rman & CEO 
 
 
                         Foreign Currency Note (con t'd) 
                FOREIGN CURRENCY LOANS AND PAYMENTS  OF PRINCIPAL 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________ 
 
           Type                     Amount of           Amount of 
           of          Interest     Loan and            Principal      Maturity    Notation 
Date       Foreign      Rate        Foreign Currenc y    Repaid         Date        Made By 
           Currency 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 



___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
 
 
 
                                                           EXHIBIT C 
                                                           --------- 

 
                                  January 5, 1996 
 
 
 
To the Banks and the Agent 
Referred to Below 
c/o Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A. 
as Agent 
191 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303-1757 
 
                           RE:  $40,000,000 CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
Dear Sirs: 
 
          We have acted as special counsel for Fran klin Electric Co., Inc., an Indiana 
corporation ("Borrower"), in connection with the Cr edit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement"), 
dated as of January 5, 1996, among the Borrower, th e banks listed on the signature page 
thereof and Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agen t. 
 
          This opinion is delivered pursuant to Sec tion 3.01(c) of the Credit Agreement. 
Except as otherwise defined herein, all capitalized  terms shall have the meaning set forth in 
the Credit Agreement to the extent defined therein.  
 
          We have examined originals or copies, cer tified or otherwise identified to our 
satisfaction, of such documents, corporate records,  certificates of public officials and other  
instruments and have conducted such investigations of law as we have deemed necessary or 
advisable for purposes of this opinion.  We have re lied with your permission and without 
independent verification as to factual matters on c ertificates of officers of the Borrower and  
of governmental authorities and on representations and warranties of the Borrower in the 
Credit Agreement.  We have made no independent inve stigation of the matters set forth therein 
and without limiting the generality of the foregoin g have not performed any searches in any 
public offices with respect to any orders, judgment s, decrees, litigation, arbitration or 
similar proceedings concerning the Borrower. 
 
          In rendering the opinion set forth below,  we have assumed with your permission (i) 
the genuineness of all signatures (other than the s ignatures on behalf of the Borrower), (ii) 
the legal capacity of natural persons, (iii) the au thenticity of all documents submitted to us  
as originals and (iv) the conformity to original do cuments of all documents submitted to us as  
certified, photostatic, conformed or telecopied cop ies and the authenticity of the originals 
of such copies.  We have also assumed with your per mission that (i) the execution, delivery 
and performance of the Credit Agreement by each Ban k and by the Agent have been duly 
authorized by each Bank and by the Agent and that t he Credit Agreement has been duly executed 
by each Bank and the Agent and (ii) the Credit Agre ement constitutes a valid and binding 
agreement of each Bank and the Agent enforceable ag ainst each such party in accordance with 
its terms. 
 
          Based upon the foregoing and subject to t he qualifications and exceptions set forth 
herein, we are of the opinion that: 
 
          1.     The Borrower is a corporation vali dly existing under the laws of the State of  
Indiana and has the corporate power to execute, del iver and perform its obligations under the 
Credit Agreement and the Notes. 
 
          2.     The execution, delivery and perfor mance by the Borrower of the Credit 
Agreement and the Notes (i) have been duly authoriz ed by all necessary corporate action, (ii) 
require no action by or in respect of, or filing wi th, any governmental body, agency or 
official, (iii) do not result in any breach of, or constitute a default under, any contract to  
which the Borrower is a party identified to us by t he Borrower as being material ("Material 
Contracts"), (iv) do not violate any provision of t he Articles of Incorporation or by-laws of 
the Borrower, (v) to our knowledge, do not conflict  with or violate any court or 
administrative order or decree applicable to the Bo rrower, (vi) do not violate any provision 



of any statute or other rule or regulation of any g overnmental authority and (vii) to our 
knowledge, except as provided in the Credit Agreeme nt, do not result in the creation or 
imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Borrower . 
 
          3.     Each of the Credit Agreement and t he Notes constitute the valid and binding 
obligation of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms. 
 
     Our opinions above are subject to the followin g qualifications: 
 
          (a)    Our opinions relating to validity,  binding effect and enforceability are 
subject to (i) applicable laws relating to bankrupt cy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium,  
fraudulent conveyances, fraudulent transfers or oth er similar laws affecting the enforcement 
of creditors' rights generally and (ii) general pri nciples of equity, including, without 
limitation, concepts of materiality, reasonableness , good faith and fair dealing (regardless 
of whether such enforceability is considered in a p roceeding in equity or at law). 
 
          (b)    We express no opinion as to the en forceability of remedies to the extent such  
remedies purport to or would have the effect of com pensating the party entitled to the 
benefits thereof in amounts in excess of the actual  loss suffered by such party. 
 
          (c)    The requirements in the Credit Agr eement specifying that provisions thereof 
may only be waived in writing may not be valid, bin ding or enforceable to the extent that an 
oral agreement or an implied agreement by trade pra ctice or course of conduct has been created  
modifying any provision of such document. 
 
          (d)    We express no opinion as the valid ity, binding effect or enforceability of 
any provision in the Credit Agreement or the Notes (i) to the extent it requires the Borrower 
to pay amounts which may be deemed to be the paymen t of interest on interest, (ii) providing 
for the choice of any law to govern the Credit Agre ement or the Notes or the law under which 
the Credit Agreement or the Notes should be constru ed or interpreted or (iii) providing for 
the consent to any jurisdiction of any court, the w aiver of objection of venue of any court or  
the waiver of or consent to service of process in a ny manner. 
 
          (e)    We express no opinion as to whethe r the execution, delivery and performance 
by the Borrower of the Credit Agreement or the Note s result in a breach of or constitute a 
default under (i) any cross-default provisions unde r any Material Contract arising out of a 
default under any agreement of the Borrower which i s not a Material Contract and (ii) any 
Material Contract if such breach or default arises due to the failure to comply with financial  
covenants that require mathematical computations to  determine. 
 
          (f)    We express no opinion as to the va lidity, binding effect or enforceability of  
any provision requiring indemnification of a party against liability for its own wrongful or 
negligent acts. 
 
          (g)    Pre-default waivers of equitable r ights and defenses may not be valid, 
binding or enforceable under state or Federal law. 
 
          (h)    Our opinions are further limited i n that certain waivers, rights and remedial  
provisions in the Credit Agreement may be limited o r rendered unenforceable by the effect of 
certain laws and judicial decisions, but in our opi nion such laws and judicial decisions do 
not make the remedies provided for therein (when ta ken as a whole) inadequate for the 
practical realization of the benefits intended to b e afforded thereby. 
 
          (i)    The opinions expressed herein are limited to the Federal law of the United 
States, the law of the State of Illinois and the Bu siness Corporation Law of the State of 
Indiana.  For purposes of our opinions with respect  to the Business Corporation Law of the 
State of Indiana, we have reviewed and, with your p ermission, relied on such corporate statue 
as published in Prentice Hall, CORPORATIONS, as upd ated through November 1, 1995.  To the 
extent any other law is applicable, we express no o pinion. 
 
          (j)    Whenever any opinion is expressed herein with respect to any matter as 
qualified by the phrase "to our knowledge," such ph rase indicates that (i) no knowledge has 
come to the attention of the particular Schiff Hard in & Waite attorneys who have represented 
the Borrower in connection with the Credit Agreemen t, which has given such attorneys actual 
knowledge concerning such matter different from tha t expressed in such opinion, (ii) we have 
not undertaken any independent factual investigatio n with respect to such matter, and (iii) no  
inference that any such attorney has actual knowled ge concerning such matter should be drawn 
from the fact of our representation of the Borrower  or from our expression of such opinion. 
 
          This opinion is rendered only to you in c onnection with the transactions 
contemplated by the Credit Agreement and is solely for your benefit and the benefit of any 
Transferee permitted by the Credit Agreement.  This  opinion may not be relied upon by any 
other Person without our prior written consent or u sed for any other purpose.  This opinion is  
limited to the matters expressly set forth herein a nd no opinion is implied or may be inferred  
beyond the matters expressly set forth herein.  Thi s opinion is limited in all respects to the  
facts and laws existing on the date hereof and we d o not undertake to advise you of any 
changes in such facts or laws which may occur or ar e called to our attention after the date 
hereof. 
 
                                               Very  truly yours, 
 
                                               SCHI FF HARDIN & WAITE 



 
 
 
                                               By:  CARTER C. CULVER 
                                                  - ------------------ 
                                                    Carter C. Culver 
 
 
 
                                                 EX HIBIT D 
 
 
                          OPINION OF  SPECIAL COUNS EL 
                                  FOR THE AGENT 
 
 
 
                     [Date as provided in Section 3 .01 of the Credit Agreement] 
 
To the Banks and the Agent 
  Referred to Below 
c/o Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 
  as Agent 
191 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, Georgia  30303-1757 
 
Dear Sirs: 
 
          We have participated in the preparation o f the Credit Agreement (the 
"Credit Agreement") dated as of January 5, 1996 amo ng Franklin Electric Co., Inc., 
an Indiana corporation ("Franklin Electric"), the o ther Borrowers referred to therein, 
the banks listed on the signature pages thereof (th e "Banks") and Wachovia Bank of 
Georgia, N.A., as Agent (the "Agent"), and have act ed as special counsel for the 
Agent for the purpose of rendering this opinion pur suant to Section 3.01(d) of the 
Credit Agreement.  Terms defined in the Credit Agre ement are used herein as 
therein defined. 
 
          This opinion letter is limited by, and is  in accordance with, the January 1, 
1992 edition of the Interpretive Standards applicab le to Legal Opinions to Third 
Parties in Corporate Transactions adopted by the Le gal Opinion Committee of the 
Corporate and Banking Law Section of the State Bar of Georgia which Interpretive 
Standards are incorporated herein by this reference . 
 
          We have examined originals or copies, cer tified or otherwise identified to 
our satisfaction, of such documents, corporate reco rds, certificates of public officials 
and other instruments and have conducted such other  investigations of fact and law 
as we have deemed necessary or advisable for purpos es of this opinion. 
 
          Upon the basis of the foregoing, and assu ming the due authorization, 
execution and delivery of the Credit Agreement and each of the Notes by or on 
behalf of Franklin Electric, we are of the opinion that the Credit Agreement 
constitutes a valid and binding agreement of Frankl in Electric and each Note of 
Franklin Electric constitutes valid and binding obl igations of Franklin Electric, in each 
case enforceable in accordance with its terms excep t as: (i)  the enforceability 
thereof may be affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent 
conveyance, voidable preference, moratorium or simi lar laws applicable to creditors' 
rights or the collection of debtors' obligations ge nerally; (ii) rights of acceleration and 
the availability of equitable remedies may be limit ed by equitable principles of 
general applicability; and (iii) the enforceability  of certain of the remedial, waiver and 
other provisions of the Credit Agreement and the No tes may be further limited by the 
laws of the State of Georgia; provided, however, su ch additional laws do not, in our 
opinion, substantially interfere with the practical  realization of the benefits expressed 
in the Credit Agreement and the Notes, except for t he economic consequences of 
any procedural delay which may result from such law s. 

          In giving the foregoing opinion, we expre ss no opinion as to the effect (if 
any) of any law of any jurisdiction except the Stat e of Georgia.  We express no 
opinion as to the effect of the compliance or nonco mpliance of the Agent or any of 
the Banks with any state or federal laws or regulat ions applicable to the Agent or any 
of the Banks by reason of the legal or regulatory s tatus or the nature of the business 
of the Agent or any of the Banks. 
 
          This opinion is delivered to you in conne ction with the transaction 
referenced above and may only be relied upon by you  and any Assignee, Participant 
or other Transferee under the Credit Agreement with out our prior written consent. 
 
                              Very truly yours, 
 
                              WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRI DGE & RICE 
                              A Professional Limite d Liability Company 
                              By:     JAMES E. LILL Y 
                                 ------------------ ---------- 



 
 
 
                                                                EXHIBIT E 
 
                  OPINION OF COUNSEL FOR ADDITIONAL  BORROWER 
 
 
 
                       [Dated as provided in Sectio n 3.03 
                            of the Credit Agreement ] 
 
 
To the Banks and the Agent 
 Referred to Below 
c/o Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 
 as Agent 
191 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303-1757 
 
Dear Sirs: 
 
          I am counsel to [name of additional Borro wer], a corporation organized 
under the laws of [jurisdiction of incorporation] ( the "Additional Borrower") , and give 
this opinion pursuant to Section 3.03(b) of the Cre dit Agreement dated as of January 
5, 1996 (the "Credit Agreement") among Franklin Ele ctric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof and 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent.  Terms de fined in the Credit Agreement 
are used herein as therein defined. 
 
          I have examined originals or copies, cert ified or otherwise identified to my 
satisfaction, of such documents, corporate records,  certificates of public officials and 
other instruments and have conducted such other inv estigations of fact and law as I 
have deemed necessary or advisable for purposes of this opinion. 
 
          Upon the basis of the foregoing, I am of the opinion that: 
 
          1.     The Additional Borrower is a corpo ration duly incorporated, validly 
existing and in good standing under the laws of [ju risdiction of  incorporation]. 
 
          2.     The execution and delivery by the Additional Borrower of its Election to 
Participate and its Notes and the performance by th e Additional Borrower of its 
obligations under the Credit Agreement and its Note s are within the Additional 
Borrower's corporate powers, have been duly authori zed by all necessary corporate 
action, require no action by or in respect of, or f iling with, any governmental body, 
agency or official and do not contravene, or consti tute a default under, any provision 
of applicable law or regulation or of the certifica te of incorporation or bylaws of the 
Additional Borrower or of any  judgment, injunction , order, decree, material 
agreement or other instrument binding upon Franklin  Electric or the Additional 
Borrower or result in the creation or imposition of  any Lien on any asset of the 
Additional Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries. 
 
          3.     The Election to Participate of the  Additional Borrower and the Credit 
Agreement constitute valid and binding agreements o f the Additional Borrower and 
its Notes constitute valid and binding obligations of the Additional Borrower, in each 
case enforceable in accordance with its terms, exce pt as may be limited by (i) 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar laws affect ing the rights and remedies of 
creditors generally and (ii) general principles of equity. 
 
                                        Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
 
                                                            EXHIBIT F 
 
                         FORM OF ELECTION TO PARTIC IPATE 
 
 
 
 
                               _________ ___, 19__ 
 
WACHOVIA BANK OF GEORGIA, N.A., 
     as Agent for the Banks under the 
     Credit Agreement dated as of 
     January 5, 1996 among 
     Franklin Electric Co., Inc., the other 
     Borrowers referred to therein, and 
     the Banks listed on the signature 
     pages thereof 
 



Dear Sirs: 
 
          Reference is made to the Credit Agreement  described above.  Terms not 
defined herein which are defined in the Credit Agre ement have for the purposes 
hereof the meaning provided therein. 
 
          The undersigned, [name of Wholly Owned Su bsidiary], a corporation 
organized under the laws of [jurisdiction of incorp oration], elects to be an Additional 
Borrower for purposes of the Credit Agreement, effe ctive upon your receipt hereof 
until an Election to Terminate shall have been deli vered to you with respect to the 
undersigned in accordance with the Credit Agreement . 
 
          The undersigned confirms that the represe ntations and warranties set 
forth in Article X of the Credit Agreement are true  and correct as to the undersigned 
as of the date hereof.  The undersigned agrees to p erform all the obligations of an 
Additional Borrower under, and to be bound in all r espects by the terms of, the Credit 
Agreement, as if the undersigned were a signatory p arty thereto. 
 
          The address to which all notices to the u ndersigned under the Credit 
Agreement should be directed is: 
 
 
 
 
          This instrument shall be construed in acc ordance with and governed by 
the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 
                                   Very truly yours , 
 
                                   [NAME OF WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY] 
 
 
 
 
                                   By: ____________ _____________ 
                                   Title: 
 
               The undersigned confirms that [name of Wholly Owned Subsidiary] is 
an additional Borrower for purposes of the Credit A greement described above. 
 
 
                                   FRANKLIN ELECTRI C CO., INC. 
 
 
                                   By: ____________ ______________ 
                                   Title: 
 
          Receipt of the above Election to Particip ate is acknowledged on and as of 
the date set forth  above. 
 
                                   WACHOVIA BANK OF  GEORGIA, N.A., 
                                   as Agent 
 
 
                                   By: ____________ ________________ 
                                   Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
                                             EXHIBI T G 
 
                            FORM OF ELECTION TO TER MINATE 
 
 
                                _________ ____, 19_ _ 
 
 
     WACHOVIA BANK OF GEORGIA, N.A., 
     Agent for the Banks under the Credit Agreement  
     dated as of January 5, 1996 among Franklin 
     Electric Co., Inc., the other Borrowers referr ed to 
     therein, and the Banks listed on the signature  
     pages thereof 
 
Dear Sirs: 
 
          Reference is made to the Credit Agreement  described above.  Terms not 
defined herein which are defined in the Credit Agre ement have for the purposes 
hereof the meaning provided therein. 
 



          Franklin Electric elects to terminate the  status of [name of Subsidiary 
Borrower], a corporation organized under the laws o f [jurisdiction of incorporation] 
(the "Designated Subsidiary"), as a Borrower for pu rposes of the Credit Agreement, 
effective upon your receipt hereof. 
 
          Franklin Electric represents and warrants  that all principal of and interest 
on all Notes of the Designated Subsidiary and all o ther amounts payable by the 
Designated Subsidiary pursuant to the Credit Agreem ent have been paid in full on or 
prior to the date hereof. 
 
          Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Elect ion to Terminate shall not affect 
any obligation of the Designated Subsidiary under t he Credit Agreement or under 
any of its Notes heretofore incurred. 
 
          This instrument shall be construed in acc ordance with and governed by 
the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 
                                   Very truly yours , 
 
                                   FRANKLIN ELECTRI C CO., INC. 

                                   By: ____________ _____________ 
                                   Title: 
 
     Receipt of the above Election to Terminate is hereby acknowledged on and 
as of the date set forth above. 
 
                                   WACHOVIA BANK OF  GEORGIA, N.A., 
                                   as Agent 
 
 
                                   By: ____________ _________________ 
                                   Title: 
 
 
                                                       EXHIBIT H 
 
                               CLOSING CERTIFICATE 
                                       OF 
                             ______________________ ___ 
 
 
 
          Reference is made to the Credit Agreement  (the "Credit Agreement") 
dated as of January  5, 1996, among Franklin Electr ic Co., Inc., the other Borrowers 
referred to therein, Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A. , as Agent and as a Bank, and 
certain other Banks listed on the signature pages t hereof.   Capitalized terms used 
herein have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Cr edit Agreement. 
 
          Pursuant to Section 3.01(e) of the Credit  Agreement, 
___________________, the duly authorized __________ __________ of Franklin 
Electric, hereby certifies to the Agent and the Ban ks that: (i) no Default has occurred 
and is continuing on the date hereof; and (ii) the representations and warranties of 
Franklin Electric contained in Article IV of the Cr edit Agreement are true on and as of 
the date hereof. 
 
          Certified as of the ___ day of January, 1 996. 
 
 
                                   FRANKLIN ELECTRI C CO., INC. 
 
 
                                   ________________ _____________________ 
                                   Name: 
                                   Title: 
 
 
                                                 EX HIBIT I 
 
                                [NAME OF BORROWER] 
 
                              SECRETARY'S CERTIFICA TE 
 
          The undersigned, _____________, _______ S ecretary of 
_______________________, a ____________ corporation  (the "Borrower"), hereby 
certifies that he has been duly elected, qualified and is acting in such capacity and 
that, as such, he is familiar with the facts herein  certified and is duly authorized to 
certify the same, and hereby further certifies, in connection with the Credit 
Agreement dated as of January 5, 1996 among Frankli n Electric Co., Inc., the other 
Borrowers referred to therein, Wachovia Bank of Geo rgia, N.A., as Agent and as a 
Bank, and certain other Banks listed on the signatu re pages thereof that: 
 



          1.     Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a complete and correct copy of the 
Certificate of Incorporation of the Borrower as in full force and effect on the date 
hereof as certified by the Secretary of State of th e State of __________, the 
Borrower's state of incorporation. 
 
          2.     Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a complete and correct copy of the 
Bylaws of the Borrower as in full force and effect on the date hereof. 
 
          3.     Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a complete and correct copy of the 
resolutions duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the Borrower on ___________ 
__, 19__ approving, and authorizing the execution a nd delivery of, the Credit 
Agreement, the Notes (as such term is defined in th e Credit Agreement) of the 
Borrower and the other Loan Documents (as such term  is defined in the Credit 
Agreement) to which the Borrower is a party.  Such resolutions have not been 
repealed or amended and are in full force and effec t, and no other resolutions or 
consents have been adopted by the Board of Director s of the Borrower in connection 
therewith. 
 
          4.     ____________, who as _____________ ___________ of the Borrower 
signed the Credit Agreement, the Notes of the Borro wer and the other Loan 
Documents to which the Borrower is a party, was dul y elected, qualified and acting 
as such at the time he signed the Credit Agreement,  the Notes of the Borrower  and 
other Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a par ty, and his signature appearing 
on the Credit Agreement, the Notes of the Borrower and the other Loan Documents 
to which the Borrower is a party is his genuine sig nature. 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has h ereunto set his hand as 
of the ____ day of January, 1996. 
 
 
 
                                        ___________ _____________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
 
                                                                 EXHIBIT J 
                           FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTI FICATE* 
 
 
                                                                    [Date] 
To:  The Banks and the Agent Referred to Below 
     c/o Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., 
     as Agent 
     191 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
     Atlanta, Georgia 30303-1757 
 
     Reference is made to that certain Credit Agree ment dated as of December ___, 
1995 (together with any amendments thereto, the "Cr edit Agreement") among Franklin 
Electric Co., Inc., an Indiana corporation (the "Co mpany"), Wachovia Bank of Georgia, 
N.A., as Agent and the Banks listed therein.  Capit alized terms used herein and the pages 
attached hereto which are not otherwise defined her ein shall have the meaning assigned to 
such terms in the Credit Agreement. 
 
     In accordance with Section 5.01(c) of the Cred it Agreement, the Company hereby 
certifies that, as of the date hereof, the Company has re-examined the terms and 
provisions of the Credit Agreement, including, with out limitation, the terms of Sections 
5.03, 5.04, 5.05, 5.06, 5.07 and 5.08, and no Defau lt has occurred and is continuing under 
the Credit Agreement.** 
 
     Attached hereto and incorporated herein by thi s reference thereto are calculations 
setting forth information necessary to establish th at the Company was in compliance with 
the requirements of Sections 5.03, 5.04, 5.05, 5.06 , 5.07 and 5.08 of the Credit 
Agreement during the period covered by the financia l statements accompanying this 
Compliance Certificate (the "Financial Statements") .  The last day of the period covered 
by the Financial Statements is referred to herein a s the "Calculation Date".  The 
Company acknowledges that this Compliance Certifica te has been prepared as an 
expedient method of determining compliance with cer tain of the provisions of the Credit 
Agreement.  Nothing contained in this Compliance Ce rtificate shall be deemed to modify 
or construe the terms and provisions of the Credit Agreement. 
 
     The information above, the Financial Statement s and calculations, to the best of 
the Company's knowledge and belief, do not contain any untrue statement of material 
fact or omit to state a material fact which, either  individually or in the aggregate, would 
make such information or the attached Financial Sta tements or calculations misleading. 
 
                              FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC.*** 
 
                              By:__________________ __________ 
                              Title:_______________ ____________ 
______________________________ 
*     To be delivered to Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., and each Bank. 



**     If a Default  has occurred and is continuing , specify the nature and period of 
existence of any Default and state what action the Company proposes to take with 
respect thereto. 
***     To be signed by the chief accounting office r or chief financial officer. 
 
 
 
                          FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., IN C. 
                                      [Date]* 
 
I.   Section 5.03 Debt Restriction. 
 
     A.  Section 5.03(a) 
 
         1. Specify 30 day period during preceding 
            12 month period during which Current 
            Debt had been cleaned down in 
            accordance with Section 5.03(a): 
            [Date] through [Date] 
 
         2. Specify highest balance of Current Debt  of the 
            Company and its Subsidiaries during the  period 
            specified in line 1 above:                                   $_______________ 
 
         3. Specify highest balance of Funded Debt of the 
            Company and its Subsidiaries during the  period 
            specified in Line 1:                                         $_______________ 
 
         4. Total of Line 2 plus line 3:                                 $_______________ 
 
         5. .50 X Consolidated Tangible Capitalizat ion 
            (calculated as set forth on Schedule 1 
            attached hereto):                                            $________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
         6. If the amount shown in line 5 equals or  exceeds the 
            amount shown in line 4, check the Yes s pace. 
            If the amount shown on line 5 is less t han the 
            amount shown in line 4, attach a schedu le specifying 
            the daily balance of Funded Debt and Cu rrent Debt 
            during the 30 day period specified in l ine 1.  If the 
            aggregate balance of Funded Debt and Cu rrent Debt 
            on each day during the period is less t han or equal to 
            the amount shown in line 5, check the Y es space, if 
            not, check the No space. 
 
            Yes (Compliance) ___     No (Non-compli ance)___ 
     B.     Section 5.03(b)(i) 
 
         1. Consolidated Tangible Test Capitalizati on 
            is equal to Consolidated Tangible Capit alization 
            (calculated as set forth on Schedule 1 as of the 
            Calculation Date) minus Current Debt 
            (as of Calculation Date). 
                                   X.50                                  $______ 

         2. Funded Debt (as of Calculation Date)                         $______ 
 
         3. If the amount listed in line 1 is great er than or 
            equal to the amount listed in line 2, c heck 
            Yes, if not , check No. 
 
            Yes (Compliance) ____     No (Non-compl iance) ____ 
 
     C.     Section 5.03(b)(ii) 
 
         1. State the amount of Debt of U.S. 
            Subsidiaries Guaranteed by the Company 
            (as of Calculation Date):                                    $______ 
 
         2. State the amount of Debt of the Company  
            secured by Liens (as of Calculation Dat e):                   $______ 
 
         3. Add line 1 plus line 2:                                      $______ 
 
         4. Consolidated Tangible Net Worth (calcul ated 
            as set forth on line (d) of Schedule 1 as of 
            the Calculation Date) 
                                   X.15                                  $______ 



 
         5. If the amount shown in line 4 
            equals or exceeds the amount 
            shown in line 3, check Yes, 
            if not, check No. 
 
            Yes (Compliance) _______     No (Non-co mpliance) ______ 
 
 
 
 
 
II.  Section 5.04 Current Obligation Coverage. 
 
     A. Income Available for Fixed Charges 
        from attached Schedule 2)                                        $______ 
 
     B. Current Obligations 
        from attached Schedule 3)                                        $______ 
 
     C. Ratio of A to B                                     ____ to 1.0 
 
     D. If the ratio listed in C is greater than or  equal 
        to 2.5 to 1.0, check Yes, if not, check No.  
 
        Yes (Compliance) ______     No (Non-complia nce) _____- 
 
 
III. Section 5.05 Current Ratio. 
 
     A. Consolidated Current Assets                                     $______ 
 
     B. Consolidated Current Liabilities                         $______ 
 
     C. A divided by B [expressed                                       ______% 
           as a percentage] 
 
     D. If the amount listed in line C is equal to or 
        greater than 140%, check Yes, if not, check  No. 
 
        Yes (Compliance) ____     No (Non-complianc e) ____ 
 
IV.  Section 5.06 Loans or Advances. 
 
     A.  1. State whether outstanding loans to seni or 
            management pursuant to the Company's 
            stock purchase plan are less than or eq ual to 
            $5,000,000 in the aggregate. 
 
            Yes (Compliance) ___     No (Non-compli ance) ___ 
 
         2.  If you check the No space, state the 
             outstanding amount of such loans. 
             $______ 
 
     B.  1.  State whether the outstanding amount o f 
             loans or advances to each Subsidiary ( other 
             than ODI) is less than or equal to $10 ,000,000. 
 
             Yes (Compliance) ___     No (Non-compl iance) ___ 
 
         2.  If you check the No space, identify ea ch Subsidiary 
             (other than ODI) to which loans and ad vances 
             outstanding exceed $10,000,000 and the  outstanding 
             amount of loans or advances to each su ch Subsidiary. 
 
     C.  1.  State whether the outstanding amount o f 
             loans and advances to all Subsidiaries  
             (other ODI) is less than or equal to $ 30,000,000. 
 
             Yes (Compliance) ___     No (Non-compl iance) ___ 
 
         2.  If you check the No space, identify 
             all Subsidiaries (other than ODI) to 
             which a loan or advance is outstanding  
             and the amount of each such loan or ad vance. 
 
V.   Section 5.07 Investments. 
 
     Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiarie s has made Investments except for 
     (a) Investments permitted by clauses (i) throu gh (ix) of Section 5.07, and (b) 
     Investments not permitted by clauses (i) throu gh (ix) of Section 5.07 to the extent 



     such Investments do not exceed 25% of Consolid ated Tangible Net Worth. 
 
     A.  State the amount of Investments made in re liance 
         on clause (x) of Section 5.07:                                    $________ 
 
     B.  Consolidated Tangible Net Worth (calculate d 
         as set forth on line (d) of Schedule 1 as of 
         the Calculation Date) 
                                         X.25                       $________ 
 
     C.  If the amount shown in line B is equal to or greater than 
         the amount shown in line A, check Yes, if not, check No. 
 
         Yes (Compliance) ___          No (Non-comp liance) ___ 
 
 
 
 
 
VI.  Section 5.08 Negative Pledge. 
 
     None of the Company's or any Consolidated Subs idiary's property is subject 
     to any Lien  except for (a) Liens permitted by  paragraph (a) through (i) of 
     Section 5.08 of the Credit Agreement and (b) L iens not permitted by the 
     aforementioned paragraphs of Section 5.08 secu ring Indebtedness in an 
     aggregate principal amount at any time outstan ding not to exceed 15% of 
     Consolidated Tangible Net Worth: 
 
     A.  Description of Lien and Property subject t o same:      Amount of Debt Secured: 
 
         1.  ______________________________________ __           $____________________ 
 
         2.  ______________________________________ __           $____________________ 
 
         3.  ______________________________________ __           $____________________ 
 
         4.  ______________________________________ __           $____________________ 
 
         5.  ______________________________________ __           $____________________ 
 
         6.  ______________________________________ __           $____________________ 
 
             ______________________________________ __           $____________________ 
 
         Total of items 1- ___                                  $____________________ 
 
     B.  Consolidated Tangible Net Worth (calculate d 
         as set forth on line (d) of Schedule 1 as of 
         the Calculation Date)     X.15                                $____________________ 
 
 
 
     C.  If the amount listed in B is equal to or g reater than 
         the amount listed in A, check Yes, if not,  check No. 
 
 
         Yes (Compliance) ___          No (Non-comp liance) ___ 
 
 
 
                                                                     Schedule 1 
                            Franklin Electric Co., Inc. 
 
 
                    Consolidated Tangible Capitaliz ation 
 
 
     (a)  Consolidated Net Worth:                                    $______ 
 
     (b)  LIFO Reserve          $ 
                                      X.75                                $______ 
 
     (c)  Specify amount of intangibles 
          and similar assets, but only to the 
          extent such assets exceed $5,630,000                       ($______) 
 
     (d)  (a) plus (b) minus (c) equals 
          Consolidated Tangible Net Worth                            $______ 
 
     (e)  Current Debt $______ 
          Funded Debt $______ 
          Total Debt                                                 $______ 



 
     (f)  Consolidated Tangible Capitalization 
          (total of (d) plus (e))                                    $______ 
 
     (g)  Consolidated Tangible 
          Capitalization          $ 
                              X.50                                   $______ 
 
 
 
                                                                           Schedule 2 
 
                          Franklin Electric Co., In c. 

                       Income Available for Fixed C harges 
                       ---------------------------- ------ 
 
(a) ____     quarter 199_ 
        Consolidated Net Income                          $____________ 
        Consolidated Interest Expense                    $____________ 
        Depreciation                                     $____________ 
        Tax Expense                                      $____________ 
        Minus Capital Expenditures                       ($____________) 
 
        Total for Quarter                                          $____________ 
 
 
(b) ____     quarter 199_ 
        Consolidated Net Income                          $____________ 
        Consolidated Interest Expense                    $____________ 
        Depreciation                                     $____________ 
        Tax Expense                                      $____________ 
        Minus Capital Expenditures                       ($____________) 
 
        Total for Quarter                                          $____________ 
 
(c) ____     quarter 199_ 
        Consolidated Net Income                          $____________ 
        Consolidated Interest Expense                    $____________ 
        Depreciation                                     $____________ 
        Tax Expense                                      $____________ 
        Minus Capital Expenditures                       $____________) 
 
        Total for Quarter                                          $____________ 
 
 
(d) ____     quarter 199_ 
        Consolidated Net Income                          $____________ 
        Consolidated Interest Expense                    $____________ 
        Depreciation                                     $____________ 
        Tax Expense                                      $____________ 
        Minus Capital Expenditures                       ($____________) 
 
        Total for Quarter                                          $____________ 
 
 
          Income Available for Fixed Charges                       $____________ 
          (sum of (a) plus (b) plus (c) plus (d)) 
 
 
                                   Schedule 3 
 
                          Franklin Electric Co., In c. 
 
                               Current Obligations 
                               ------------------- 
 
(a)  Consolidated Interest Expense for: 
 
     ____ quarter 199_-__                         $ _____________ 
 
     ____ quarter 199_-__                         $ _____________ 
 
     ____ quarter 199_-__                         $ _____________ 
 
     ____ quarter 199_-__                         $ _____________ 
 
Total Consolidated Interest Expense                         $_____________ 
 
(b)  Current Maturities as of the Calculation Date:          $_____________ 
 
 



 
Total Current Obligations (sum of (a) plus (b))                    $_____________ 
 
 
 
 
                                                       EXHIBIT K 
 
                            ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTAN CE 
                          Dated ________________ __ , ____ 
 
 
          Reference is made to the Credit Agreement  dated as of January 5, 1996 
(together with all amendments and modifications the reto, the "Credit Agreement") 
among Franklin Electric Co., Inc., an Indiana corpo ration ("Franklin Electric"), the 
other Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks (as defined in the Credit Agreement) 
and Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent (the " Agent").  Terms defined in the 
Credit Agreement are used herein with the same mean ing. 
 
          _________________________________________ ____________ (the "Assignor") and 
          _________________________________________ ____ (the "Assignee") agree as follows: 
 
 
1.             The Assignor hereby sells and assign s to the Assignee, without 
recourse to the Assignor, and the Assignee hereby p urchases and assumes from the 
Assignor, a ______% interest in and to all of the A ssignor's rights and obligations 
under the Credit Agreement as of the Effective Date  (as defined below) (including, 
without limitation, a ______% interest (which on th e Effective Date hereof is 
$_______________) in the Assignor's Commitment and a ______% interest (which 
on the Effective Date hereof is $_______________) i n the Dollar Loans and Foreign 
Currency Notes owing to the Assignor and a ______% interest in the Dollar Notes 
and Foreign Currency Notes held by the Assignor (wh ich on the Effective Date 
hereof is $__________________)). 
 
2.             The Assignor (i) makes no representa tion or warranty and assumes no 
responsibility with respect to any statements, warr anties or representations made in 
or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any oth er instrument or document 
furnished pursuant thereto or the execution, legali ty, validity, enforceability, 
genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Credit Agr eement, any other Loan 
Document or any other instrument or document furnis hed pursuant thereto, other 
than that it is the legal and beneficial owner of t he interest being assigned by it 
hereunder, that such interest is free and clear of any adverse claim and that as of 
the date hereof its Commitment (without giving effe ct to assignments thereof which 
have not yet become effective) is $________________ _ and the aggregate 
outstanding principal amount of Dollar Loans and th e Dollar Equivalent of the 
Foreign Currency Loans owing to it (without giving effect to assignments thereof 
which have not yet become effective) is $__________ _______; (ii) makes no 
representation or warranty and assumes no responsib ility with respect to the 
financial condition of the Borrowers or the perform ance or observance by the 
Borrowers of any of their respective obligations un der the Credit Agreement, any 
other Loan Document or any other instrument or docu ment furnished pursuant 
thereto; and (iii) attaches the Note[s] referred to  in paragraph 1 above and requests 
that the Agent exchange such Note[s] as follows: [a  new Dollar Note dated 
_______________, ____ in the principal amount of __ _______________ payable to 
the order of the Assignee] [new Dollar Notes as fol lows:  a Dollar Note dated 
_________________, ____ in the principal amount of $_______________ payable 
to the order of the Assignor and a Dollar Note date d ______________, ____ in the 
principal amount of $______________ payable to the order of the Assignee] and [a 
new Foreign Currency Note dated _______, ___ payabl e to the order of 
Assignee][new Foreign Currency Notes as follows: a Foreign Currency Note dated 
________, ____ payable to the order of Assignor and  a Foreign Currency Note dated 
______, _____ payable to the order of the Assignee. ] 
 
3.             The Assignee (i) confirms that it ha s received a copy of the Credit 
Agreement, together with copies of the financial st atements referred to in Section 
4.04(a) thereof (or any more recent financial state ments of Franklin Electric delivered 
pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or (b) thereof) and suc h other documents and 
information as it has deemed appropriate to make it s own credit analysis and 
decision to enter into this Assignment and Acceptan ce; (ii) agrees that it will, 
independently and without reliance upon the Agent, the Assignor or any other Bank 
and based on such documents and information as it s hall deem appropriate at the 
time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under 
the Credit Agreement; (iii) confirms that it is a b ank or financial institution; (iv) 
appoints and authorizes the Agent to take such acti on as agent on its behalf and to 
exercise such powers under the Credit Agreement as are delegated to the Agent by 
the terms thereof, together with such powers as are  reasonably incidental thereto; (v) 
agrees that it will perform in accordance with thei r terms all of the obligations which 
by the terms of the Credit Agreement are required t o be performed by it as a Bank; 
(vi) specifies as its Lending Office (and address f or notices) the office set forth 
beneath its name on the signature pages hereof, (vi i) represents and warrants that 
the execution, delivery and performance of this Ass ignment and Acceptance are 
within its corporate powers and have been duly auth orized by all necessary 



corporate action[, and (viii) attaches the forms pr escribed by the Internal Revenue 
Service of the United States certifying as to the A ssignee's status for purposes of 
determining exemption from United States withholdin g taxes with respect to all 
payments to be made to the Assignee under the Credi t Agreement and the Notes or 
such other documents as are necessary to indicate t hat all such payments are 
subject to such taxes at a rate reduced by an appli cable tax treaty].* 
 
4.             The Effective Date for this Assignme nt and Acceptance shall be 
_______________ (the "Effective Date").  Following the execution of this 
Assignment and Acceptance, it will be delivered to the Agent for execution and 
acceptance by the Agent [and to Franklin Electric f or execution by the Borrower]**. 
 
5.             Upon such execution and acceptance b y the Agent [and execution by 
Franklin Electric]**, from and after the Effective Date, (i) the Assignee shall be a 
party to the Credit Agreement and, to the extent ri ghts and obligations have been 
transferred to it by this Assignment and Acceptance , have the rights and obligations 
of a Bank thereunder and (ii) the Assignor shall, t o the extent its rights and 
obligations have been transferred to the Assignee b y this Assignment and 
Acceptance, relinquish its rights (other than under  Section 8.03 and Section 9.03 of 
the Credit Agreement) and be released from its obli gations under the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
6.             Upon such execution and acceptance b y the Agent [and execution by 
Franklin Electric]**, from and after the Effective Date, the Agent shall make all 
payments in respect of the interest assigned hereby  to the Assignee.  The Assignor 
and Assignee shall make all appropriate adjustments  in payments for periods prior to 
such acceptance by the Agent directly between thems elves. 
 
7.             This Assignment and Acceptance shall  be governed by, and construed 
in accordance with, the laws of the State of Georgi a. 
 
                              [NAME OF ASSIGNOR] 
 
                              By:__________________ __________________ 
                              Title: 
 
                              [NAME OF ASSIGNEE] 
 
                              By:__________________ __________________ 
                              Title: 
 
                              Lending Office: 
                              [Address] 
 
 
                              WACHOVIA BANK OF GEOR GIA, N.A., as Agent 
 
 
                              By:__________________ __________________ 
                              Title: 

                              FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC.* 
 
 
                              By:__________________ __________________ 
                              Title: 
 
 
                                                                EXHIBIT L 
 
 
                              NOTICE OF BORROWING 
                              ------------------- 
 
 
                              __________, 19__ 
 
 
Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., as Agent 
191 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
Atlanta, Georgia 30303-1757 
 
 
          Re:     Credit Agreement (as amended and modified from time to time, 
                  the "Credit Agreement") dated as of January 5, 1996 by and 
                  among Franklin Electric Co., Inc. , the other Borrowers referred 
                  to therein, the Banks from time t o time parties thereto, and 
                  Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N.A., a s Agent. 
 
Gentlemen: 
 
          Unless otherwise defined herein, capitali zed terms used herein shall have 



 

the meanings attributable thereto in the Credit Agr eement. 
 
          This Notice of Borrowing is delivered to you pursuant to Section 2.02 of 
the Credit Agreement. 
 
          The Borrower hereby requests a [Euro-Doll ar Borrowing][Base Rate 
Borrowing][Foreign Currency Borrowing] in the aggre gate principal amount of [the 
Dollar Equivalent of] $___________ to be made [in t he following Foreign Currency: 
__________________] on ________, 19__, and for inte rest to accrue thereon at the 
rate established by the Credit Agreement for [Euro- Dollar Loans][Foreign Currency 
Loans] [Base Rate Loans].  The duration of the Inte rest Period with respect thereto 
shall be [1 month] [2 months] [3 months] [6 months]  [30 days]. 
 
          The Borrower has caused this Notice of Bo rrowing to be executed and 
delivered by its duly authorized officer this ___ d ay of ____, 199_. 
 
                              FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO. , INC. 
 
 
                              By:__________________ ____ 
                              Title: 
 
 
*     I.e., a Base Rate or Euro-Dollar Loan. 
*     If the Assignee is organized under the laws o f a jurisdiction outside the United States.  
**    If the Assignee is not a Bank or an Affiliate  of a Bank prior to the Effective Date. 
*     If the Assignee is not a Bank or an Affiliate  of a Bank prior to the Effective Date 
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ARTICLE 5 
THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE FORM 10-K FOR THE PERIOD 
ENDED DECEMBER 30, 1995 AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

PERIOD TYPE 12 MOS 
FISCAL YEAR END DEC 30 1995 
PERIOD END DEC 30 1995 
CASH 32,077 
SECURITIES 0 
RECEIVABLES 22,526 
ALLOWANCES 1,351 
INVENTORY 45,839 
CURRENT ASSETS 109,321 
PP&E 121,696 
DEPRECIATION 80,026 
TOTAL ASSETS 153,357 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 42,171 
BONDS 0 
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0 
PREFERRED 0 
COMMON 626 
OTHER SE 0 
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 153,357 
SALES 276,440 
TOTAL REVENUES 0 
CGS 211,069 
TOTAL COSTS 252,161 
OTHER EXPENSES 0 
LOSS PROVISION 0 
INTEREST EXPENSE 2,128 
INCOME PRETAX 24,279 
INCOME TAX 8,777 
INCOME CONTINUING 15,502 
DISCONTINUED 0 
EXTRAORDINARY 0 
CHANGES 0 
NET INCOME 15,502 
EPS PRIMARY 2.35 
EPS DILUTED 2.34 


